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This Integrated Annual Report has been developed in 

consultation with the Executive Board and Council. Council 

acknowledges its overall responsibility for the accuracy and 

integrity of the Report’s contents. 

The Report is informed by the International Integrated Reporting Framework 

developed by the Value Reporting Foundation (VRF). This framework has 

been adopted across the globe to make more effective use of resources, 

improve decisions and enhance accountability, stewardship, transparency and 

trust. We use the framework to embed integrated thinking, decision-making 

and improve reporting. The report provides a concise and balanced overview 

of how our strategic objectives, governance, position, and performance, 

create value for our key stakeholders, considering the external environment 

and other factors which may (positively or negatively) impact the University’s 

ability to create value, and thereby deliver our vision and strategy. 

This Report has been assessed against the January 2021 revision of the 

International Integrated Reporting Framework. 
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Strategic priorities

At Newcastle University, we are proud to put our students at the heart of 

everything we do. This year we have made real progress in how we support, 

celebrate and co-create with our student community – through more 

compassionate communication, inclusive spaces and sector-leading wellbeing 

initiatives.

Kindness in communication and practice

We’ve taken decisive steps to embed the 

principles of compassionate communication

across our student-facing policies and processes 

– reviewing how we speak to students at difficult 

moments and reshaping messages to be timely, 

inclusive, clear and above all, kind. Our refreshed 

approach to student attendance and engagement 

now better balances setting expectations with 

identifying vulnerability, encouraging students to 

seek support rather than fear penalty. 

Student spaces

April marked the re-opening of a vibrant, student-

focused hub, the redesigned space in King’s Gate 

now offers a welcoming environment for support, 

collaboration and innovation. New features include 

expanded social and co-working zones, a start-up 

incubator, quiet wellbeing areas, and double the 

number of appointment rooms. Early feedback 

from students has been overwhelmingly positive, 

and further consultation will continue through 

the year to shape how the space evolves. This 

transformation is part of our broader commitment 

to delivering spaces across campus that feel 

inclusive, professional and designed to meet 

students’ needs.

Success beyond the classroom 

We won the national Whatuni Student Choice 

Award for Student Life – a student-voted accolade 

that celebrates our holistic approach to student 

experience and support. Judges praised the 

“high-quality student support and career advice,” 

reflecting our efforts to enhance every stage 

of the student lifecycle. Our own Newcastle 

University Awards took place in the Frederick 

Douglass Centre for the first time, honouring the 

extraordinary contributions of our students to our 

campus, our city, and beyond.

A whole University approach to wellbeing

We continue to build a whole-institution approach 

to mental health and wellbeing, rooted in shared 

responsibility and proactive intervention. We were 

proud to receive national accreditation for our 

harm reduction work around drugs and alcohol. 

Meanwhile, our commitment to suicide prevention 

is reflected in the introduction of mandatory training 

for all staff and our pioneering Impact Measurement 

Scale (IMS), a nationally recognised tool to ensure 

consistent support across our institution. The Mental 

Health Steering Group now includes student leaders, 

their contributions from leading focus groups to 

authoring our Student Voice Report, show the power 

of true co-creation in shaping mental health support 

that is credible, inclusive and evidence-based.

Active wellbeing and belonging through sport  

Sport continues to play a vital role in building 

community and wellbeing. Newcastle University has 

retained its top-10 BUCS national league ranking, 

with more students participating than ever before. 

We have expanded our intramural programmes, 

grown female-led “Learn to Lift” sessions, and 

increased spectator capacity at outdoor events 

to match rising demand. Our high-performance 

support now better enables student-athletes to 

pursue their academic and sporting ambitions in 

parallel. Our student sport volunteers also play a 

powerful civic role, engaging with over 2,200 local 

participants through partnerships with organisations 

like StreetGames, RISE and the Newcastle United 

Foundation. 

Student experience  

Whilst we recognise our performance in National 

Student Survey (NSS) is below sector benchmarks 

across key themes – teaching on my course, learning 

opportunities, assessment and feedback and 

student voice, we are committed to take immediate 

actions to address key issues. These actions include 

changes to key assessment and feedback policies 

and enhanced space for students to share feedback 

and receive response. 

90%
of students responded 

positively to our wellbeing 
communications – the 
highest score in the UK 

(National Student Survey 2025)

1st
in the Russell Group 

and 4th overall for 
student reviews 

(University Compare 
Ranking 2025)

8th
place in the BUCS League

(British Universities and 
Colleges Sport League 

2024-25)
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Strategic priorities

With universities facing unprecedented financial challenges, we undertake long-term 

planning for a sustainable financial future for the physical and digital infrastructure whilst 

considering how it supports all campus users.

Progress during the past year with 
an eye to the future

Physical infrastructure

Continuing to invest in the estate through long-term 

maintenance and repairs programmes ensures that 

we offer excellent facilities to colleagues, students 

and visitors. The completion of the refurbishment of 

Levels 1 and 2 of the King’s Gate building brings a major 

transformation to provide a one-stop shop for student 

support services, careers advice, student start-ups and 

includes a striking new event space.

The physical estate grew in footprint during the 

2024–25 academic year, with the re-introduction of 

the Stephenson Building following its refurbishment. 

The first academic year of occupation has gone well 

with cutting-edge collaborative teaching spaces and 

the student makerspace being a huge success. The 

building continues to win awards, this year earning the 

title Building Project of the Year.

2024–25 saw the beginning of an Estates Strategic 

review of the campus which will deliver a long-term 

Estates Plan to cover a period of 10-15 years.

Student numbers in accommodation remained stable 

throughout 2024–25. Over 2,400 students were 

housed in University-owned accommodation with an 

additional 2,700 accommodated through partnership 

nomination agreements. Average occupancy for 

University-owned accommodation remained at 98% per 

month, with demand for University-provided student 

accommodation remaining very high. 

Looking forward, the demolition of Castle Leazes 

residential blocks is now complete and the planning 

application for the new 2,000-bed student development 

has been approved. Our partnership with Unite Students 

secures a pipeline of University-owned student 

accommodation expected from 2028–29 onwards. 

Construction works on the redevelopment are expected 

to commence at the end of 2025.

Digital infrastructure

All ongoing and approved strategic programmes of work 

were progressed over the course of the year. Highlights 

include the successful completion of the procurement 

process for Comet, our next-generation advanced, high-

performance computing solution, and the delivery of 

key components of the Digital Engagement Programme, 

such as the launch of the new Student Fees Solution and 

the Student Portal. This Student Portal allows students to 

manage their day-to-day interactions with the University, 

including personal data, module choice, timetables, 

library accounts, documents, and absence requests in 

one place. 

We continued to review and mature our service 

model and following a recent review of in-person IT 

support across the University estate, a new IT Service 

Support Hub was opened at the Frederick Douglass 

Centre on the Newcastle Helix site in January 2025 to 

provide a more consistent level of IT support across 

campus. 

As part of our ongoing efforts to enhance service 

delivery, our Service First programme received 

national recognition winning the Excellence in 

Project Delivery in Service category, surpassing 

major national organisations. The Service First 

Programme reduced defects by 98% within 12 

months, transforming IT service delivery and restoring 

stakeholder confidence.

December 2024 saw the University’s first IT Kit 

Return, Repurpose, or Recycle Scheme to encourage 

people to hand in old or unused computers and 

other IT equipment. Promoting the University’s 

sustainability and cybersecurity goals, the scheme 

proved a huge success with nearly 1,000 items 

dropped off over the course of the week. 

We maintained and embedded improvements to 

end-user services and launched the new service 

catalogue to enhance self-service options and 

streamline work routing within NUIT. We also 

implemented a suite of service-level standards that 

are currently being baselined to inform and support 

future service enhancements.

The Cyber Programme continues to progress well, 

with some major strides made in improving our cyber 

compliance. Over 3,000 servers that posed a risk 

have either been remediated or decommissioned, 

while more than 2,000 vulnerable end-user devices 

have been addressed. These efforts have had a 

marked impact on our compliance scores and overall 

security landscape. Funding was also secured earlier 

this year to deliver a new 24x7 Security Operations 

Centre which is now in place.

The Accountability Framework, a defined set of 

requirements for the local management of devices, 

is now being rolled out across all schools following 

successful pilots in 2024. In addition, the upcoming 

implementation of a new IT Asset Register will enable 

better oversight and governance of our IT estate, 

supporting both security and operational efficiency. 

As part of the refurbishment of King’s Gate Levels 1 

and 2, we successfully upgraded core infrastructure, 

provisioning 150 new workstations, installing new 

network equipment across both levels as well as 

modern AV systems.

Net zero retrofit of the Princess Royal  

A pioneering £4.6m project has successfully 

retrofitted our research vessel, the Princess 

Royal, with an innovative zero-emission 

propulsion system. The vessel resides at our 

Marine Station in Blyth when not out on the 

open sea collecting data. The retrofit was led by renewable electrification specialist AceOn Group and 

supported by experts at Newcastle University. The project developed battery and hydrogen technology 

to power the vessel, used for research and servicing offshore wind turbines.

Award winning

Stephenson 
Building

Building Project of the Year

(Constructing Excellence 
Awards 2025)

c800 
applications 

packaged and 
deployed

94,000 
contacts 

with our 24x7 
service desk

90% 
Customer 

satisfaction 
score 

230+ 
network 

comms rooms 
maintained

930+ 
colleagues 

attended skills 
workshops

Delivering our strategy

Net internal area of the estate is

250,470m²
An increase of 7,558 m² on the previous year

Excellence in

Project Delivery
in Service category

(British Quality Foundations 
Excellence Awards 2025)
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Underlying operating 
performance
Unlike recent years, the 

statutory financial performance 

of the University has not been 

significantly impacted by pension 

accounting. For the purposes 

of assessing our underlying 

operating performance, we 

exclude these adjustments and 

other exceptional costs such as 

movement in the fair value of our 

endowment investments 

Income
Total income at £636.9m is up 1% 

year-on-year, with a reduction in 

tuition fees offset by increased 

research income, as well as 

increased investment returns on 

cash balances. 

Tuition fee income earned 

in the financial year totalled 

£319.2m, representing a slight 

decrease of 1% compared to 

the prior year, however a more 

significant shortfall against the 

approved budget. The reduction 

was primarily driven by a fall in 

recruitment of International PGT 

students.

Overall, student headcount was 

1% lower than prior year, with the 

fall in international recruitment 

masking a small increase in home 

student numbers. The proportion 

of international students taught 

in the UK was 25%, decreasing 

from 27% in 2023–24, with income 

generated from these student 

categories decreased by £2.2m or 

2% to £122.7m (2023–24: £124.9m).

Funding body grants represent 

14% of total income and are 

comparable in value to the prior 

year, comprising a consistent mix 

of research, teaching and capital 

grants.

Research income of £133.8m 

reflected a 6% increase from the 

prior year (2023–24: £126.1m) and 

continued the upward trend of 

recent years. In addition to income 

growth, applications for new grants 

in the 12 months to July 2025 have 

increased in value compared to 

the prior year, although the value 

of secured new awards has fallen 

over the same period, with several 

large multi-year awards having 

been granted in the previous 

period.

Other income including revenues 

earned through our student 

accommodation, catering and 

conferencing activity, consultancy, 

work with healthcare authorities 

and non-research grants 

remained largely consistent with 

prior periods at £77.2m (2023–24: 

£80.3m). 

We have continued to generate 

strong investment income returns 

of £9.5m (2023–24: £9.7m), driven 

by our strong cash reserves, 

continued availability of good 

interest rates for cash placements 

and application of our treasury 

management strategy. Donation 

and endowment income increased 

to £9.0m (2023–24: £7.6m).

Financial review
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In an increasingly challenging operating environment, that has seen material reductions to 

international student enrolments giving rise to shortfalls in planned income levels, we have 

been able to deliver a small underlying deficit for 2024–25 and maintain a strong cash 

balance. We have also taken action to reduce our recurrent cost base for future years. 

The 2024–25 year proved very challenging. Our 

international student recruitment in September 2024 

decreased by 21% for postgraduate students and 11% for 

undergraduate students compared to prior year intake. 

This was significantly adverse to our approved financial 

plans for the year. As a result, the University utilised 

a range of in-year cost saving measures to protect 

financial performance and preserve cash balances. The 

continued and increased risk to international student 

recruitment in future years has also required action 

to reduce our recurring future cost base, to ensure 

ongoing financial sustainability.

Total income

£637m
(2023–24: £635m)

Total income grew by 
1% despite a challenging 
student recruitment cycle. 

Capital investment

£44m
(2023–24: £45m)

Capital investment includes 
the continued investment into 
IT infrastructure, completion of 
the Stephenson Building and 
spend on our sustainability 
projects.  

Underlying staff costs

£372m 
(2023–24: £369m) 

Underlying staff costs 
remained fairly consistent, 
with impact of recruitment 
freeze offsetting pay award 
increase. 

FTE as at 31 July

5,917 
(July 24: 6,190) 

Necessary action taken 
to control costs through 
recruitment restrictions and 
voluntary severance schemes 
has seen FTE fall compared 
to prior periods. 

Tuition fee income

£319m
(2023–24: £322m) 

Tuition fee income was £3m 
lower than 2023–24, despite 
fee inflation, largely due to 
below expectation recruitment 
of international students in 
2024–25.   

Research income

£134m
(2023–24: £126m) 

Our research income 
improved by over £6m, an 
increase of 6%, converting 
strong award growth from 
prior years. 

Underlying deficit

£(2.8)m
(2023–24: £(9.5)m)

Despite lower than anticipated 

tuition fee income and 

continued cost inflation, the 

successful implementation of 

in-year cost-saving measures 

protected our financial 

performance for the year.

Statutory deficit

£(0.6)m 
(2023–24: £151m surplus)

With reduced impact from 
pension adjustments compared 
to prior periods, the statutory 
result is consistent with 
underlying performance, 
benefitting from gains on 
endowment investments. 

Cash balances1

£190m
(July 24: £190m)

The University continues to 
have strong liquidity with cash 
balances closely managed 
over the course of the year 
despite investment, providing 
a strong foundation for future 
years. 
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Underlying defcit before tax

(unaudited information)

2025
£

2024
£

(Defcit)/surplus before tax (0.4) 150.6

Gain on endowment investments (5.8) (11.4)

Change to staff costs as a result of the USS 

pension provision

- (151.0)

Income from sale of shareholding 3.3 -

Share of surplus on joint venture and associate (0.4) (0.6)

Loss on revaluation of investments 0.2 0.5

Loss on impairment of non-current assets 6.9 2.4

-2.8 -9.5

1 Cash balances include cash and cash equivalents and short-term liquid deposits
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Capital investment
Capital additions during the 

year were £43.5m (2023–24: 

£45.3m), across a range of 

areas including investment 

into IT network infrastructure, 

completion of the Stephenson 

Building redevelopment, further 

investment in our net-zero carbon 

aims across the estate and 

expenditure on equipment. There 

were no significant disposals of 

assets during the year. At the 

financial year-end, there were 

£13.8m of contracted capital 

commitments (2023–24: £19.0m).

Cash and liquidity
Cash and cash equivalents, 

including short-term deposits, 

ended the year at £189.7m (2023–

24: £189.7m). We operate a robust 

treasury management policy, 

which assesses security, liquidity 

and return. We continue to monitor 

opportunities to maximise our 

return and, assisted by continued 

higher rates, our interest income 

in the year has been maintained at 

£8.6m (2023–24: £9.0m).

Our net cash position, which 

includes the impact of borrowing 

and leases, increased from £76.2m 

to £79.4m, impacted by voluntary 

severance, student compensation 

and increased research 

collaborator payments during the 

year. The University retains an 

undrawn £75m Revolving Credit 

Facility which provides unsecured 

committed funding and offers 

additional liquidity and flexibility.

Our endowment-related 

investments have ended the year 

with a value of £100.2m, a £1.7m 

increase compared to the prior 

year. We receive monthly 

performance reports from all 

our fund managers and Finance 

Committee meets formally with 

our active managers at least 

annually to review progress. 

Our year-end statutory result also 

reflects a £3.3m benefit from sale 

of shares in Fibrofind Ltd (note 6).

Pensions
The University participates in 

two main pension schemes: 

the University Superannuation 

Scheme (USS), a multi-employer 

scheme operating across the 

Higher Education sector; and the 

Newcastle Retirement Benefits 

Plan (RBP), a local scheme for 

colleagues of the University. 

The USS scheme actuarial 

valuation last year concluded with 

the scheme in an actuarial surplus 

position. As a result, the deficit 

recovery payments ceased. 

The year-end accounting position 

for the RBP scheme has improved 

during 2024–25 moving from an 

actuarial deficit position of £38.6m 

to an actuarial deficit position of 

£28.0m. 

Outlook and financial 
sustainability
Despite the financial challenges 

experienced in 2024–25 and 

ongoing difficulties across the 

sector, steps have been taken to 

ensure the University closes the 

year in good financial health, with 

strong cash balances, and having 

also delivered recurring cost 

savings of £30m, made up of £20m 

staff cost saving and £10m non-

staff cost saving, against previous 

future plans to ensure we begin 

2025–26 with a lower cost base. 

Home student fees remain a 

significant proportion of University 

income, and for the first time 

in several years we have seen 

an inflation-linked rise to the 

home undergraduate fee for 

the 2025–26 academic year. 

The annual financial benefit 

realised, while welcome, is lower 

than the increase to employer’s 

national insurance implemented 

from April 2025. International 

student recruitment therefore 

remains key for both Newcastle 

University and the wider sector 

to continue to deliver financial 

sustainability, however carries 

increased risk of delivery due to 

global geo-political instability and 

government policy. 

Student recruitment plans for 

2025–26 have had to reflect these 

uncertain conditions, with the 

resulting risk to tuition fee income 

being mitigated by recurring cost-

saving adjustments. The current 

view of student recruitment 

suggests we will deliver tuition fee 

income close to Council-approved 

budgets, thus giving confidence 

in delivering the financial plan for 

the year.

The generation of sustainable 

financial surpluses remain 

crucial in supporting ongoing 

reinvestment into our core 

operations and student services 

and plans remain aligned to 

delivering such results in the 

medium-term and a strong 

closing cash position allowing us 

to prepare for the next few years 

with confidence. The University 

recognises the need for further 

actions to improve recurring 

underlying financial performance 

as a foundation for our future 

financial sustainability.

Going concern
The University’s Council has 

determined that the University has 

adequate resources to continue 

in operation for the foreseeable 

future. 

To support the Council in making 

this assessment, a thorough 

review has been carried out 

including stress testing of 

assumptions and reverse 

stress testing in order to ensure 

appropriate headroom in the 

event of a plausible downside 

scenario. For this reason, these 

financial statements have been 

prepared on a going concern 

basis. Further detail is set out 

in the Statement of Principal 

Accounting Policies on page 54.

Financial review (continued)
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Underlying staff cost (unaudited information) 2025
£

2024
£

Total staff costs 374.1 214.2

(Increase)/decrease in accrued holiday pay (0.5) 0.7

Charge to staff costs as a result of USS pension provision – 151.0

RBP pension service cost adjustment (1.6) 3.1

372.0 369.0
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Staff costs Other operating costs Interest and other finance costsDepreciation and amortisation

Consolidated expenditure (unadjusted for pension adjustments)Expenditure
On a statutory basis, total 

expenditure increased by £146.4m 

to £639.7m. This total includes the 

impact of a pension accounting 

adjustment, which was a £151.0m  

credit in 2023–24, but excludes 

asset impairments and other 

movements in investments, 

associates and joint ventures. 

Expenditure, excluding only USS 

pension adjustments decreased by 

£4.6m or 1% to £639.7m (2023–24: 

£644.3m).

Staff costs have increased on 

an underlying basis by £3.0m 

to £372.0m once adjusted for 

movements in pension scheme and 

holiday pay accruals. A recruitment 

freeze was introduced in October 

2024 in reaction to the student 

recruitment outturn, limiting 

recruitment to only business critical 

posts, which has been influential 

in controlling costs despite annual 

cost increases from the annual 

sector-wide pay award and a higher 

starting position for staff FTE at the 

commencement of the financial 

year. Average staff numbers (FTE) 

have decreased by 89 colleagues 

(1%) to a year-end position of 5,917 

employees (July 2024: 6,190). In 

addition, a voluntary severance 

scheme opportunity was offered to 

colleagues throughout 2024–25, 

which will see further FTE reductions 

from August 2025, thus reducing 

recurring staff costs for the 2025–26 

financial year. The underlying staff 

cost for 2024–25 represents 57% of 

our underlying income for the year, 

consistent with the prior year but in 

excess of our long-term target. 

Other operating costs of £222.7m 

are £13.0m (5%) lower than the prior 

year (2023–24: £235.7m), despite 

increases to research costs and 

compensation paid to students 

for teaching disruption caused by 

industrial action. Once the student 

recruitment position for 2024–25 

became clear, controls to restrict 

University operating budgets were 

introduced, these controls have 

delivered the reduction in spend. 

A £4.2m fall in utility costs, that had 

grown significantly in prior periods, 

was also a contributory factor. 

Depreciation has increased to 

£37.6m (2023–24: £34.7m) in the 

year, reflecting completion of the 

Stephenson Building redevelopment 

and an increase in research 

equipment spend. In addition, a 

dilapidation provision of £5.8m has 

been made following a review of 

leased properties and a further 

impairment charge of £6.9m has 

been recognised in 2024–25 to 

reduce net book value on buildings 

held at above current market value. 
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This section, covering the period from 1 August 2024 up to the date of 11 December 2025, 

provides an overview of the governance of the University, processes for ensuring the 

student voice is heard and for management of risk, Council’s responsibilities and the 

arrangements to ensure sound internal controls are in place. As Chair of Council, I take 

a lead role in ensuring good governance is exercised by the University. 

Pat Ritchie, Chair of Council and Pro-Chancellor 

Newcastle University conducts 

its business in accordance with 

the seven principles identified by 

the Committee on Standards in 

Public Life (selflessness, integrity, 

objectivity, accountability, openness, 

honesty and leadership), and with 

the guidance to universities from 

the Committee of University Chairs. 

The University is an independent 

corporation whose legal status 

derives from the Universities of 

Durham and Newcastle upon Tyne 

Act 1963 which, with its supporting 

statutes and schedules, sets out the 

University’s objectives, powers and 

framework of governance. 

The statutes require the University 

to have a number of separate 

bodies, each with clearly defined 

functions and responsibilities, to 

oversee and manage its activities. 

Academic Board is a meeting of all 

academic and Professional Services 

colleagues on Grade E and above 

and receives an annual report from 

the Vice-Chancellor and President. 

Convocation is a meeting of the 

alumni and is the body that appoints 

the Chancellor. The Registrar acts as 

secretary of Council and Senate. Any 

enquiries about the constitution and 

governance of the University should 

be addressed to the Registrar. The 

University maintains a Register of 

Interests of Members of Council, 

which is available online. 

Senate  

Senate is the academic authority 

of the University and draws its 

membership predominantly from 

academic colleagues and students. 

Its role is to direct and regulate the 

teaching and research work of the 

University. Senate met seven times 

during 2024–25. 

Court  

Court is not part of the University’s 

day-to-day decision-making 

processes, but plays an important 

and influential role on behalf of 

the University’s stakeholders. Its 

membership is representative of the 

University, the local community and 

other organisations with an interest 

in the work of the University. It meets 

twice a year to receive a report from 

the Vice-Chancellor and President 

and to discuss any matters relevant 

to the interests and wellbeing of the 

University. 

Council  

Council is the supreme governing 

body, responsible for the finance, 

property, investments and general 

business of the University, and 

for setting the general strategic 

direction of the institution. It is also 

responsible for the University’s 

system of internal control and 

for reviewing its effectiveness, 

including the appropriateness of its 

arrangements for risk management 

and value for money. It keeps under 

regular review the performance of 

the University and makes use of key 

performance indicators to assist in 

this task. A statement of Council’s 

primary responsibilities is provided 

on pages 42-52. Council undertakes 

regular reviews of its effectiveness 

using guidance given in The Higher 

Education Code of Governance. 

Members of Council subscribe 

to the Office for Students’ Public 

Interest Governance Principles. 

Council has a majority of members 

from outside the University (lay 

members) including three lay 

officers: Chair, a Deputy Chair, and 

Honorary Treasurer. Other members 

include staff of the University and 

two Students’ Union sabbatical 

officers. Council also has a Senior 

Independent Governor, Claire 

Morgan. The Senior Independent 

Governor helps to support good 

governance by advising the Chair 

and acting as an intermediary for 

other Board members. None of the 

lay members receive any payment, 

apart from reimbursed expenses, for 

the work they do for the University. 

Council met six times during 

2024–25, including a joint away-day 

with Executive Board. Amongst other 

matters, and in consultation with 

Senate, Council agreed to: 

◼ approve a business case for 

workforce resizing

◼ endorse plans for longer-term 

financial sustainability linked to the 

Strategic Vision

◼ approve an updated Freedom of 

Speech Code of Practice

Council also considered and held 

discussions on: 

◼ performance in student surveys, 

degree outcomes, and assurance of 

quality and standards 

◼ the integrated annual equality, 

diversity and inclusion (EDI) and 

gender pay gap report 

◼ biannual strategy performance 

updates 

◼ budget and medium-term 

financial plan

◼ risk appetite 

Much of the detailed work is routed through committees of Council. The following four committees are 

formally constituted as committees of Council with written terms of reference and specified membership, 

including a significant proportion of lay members. The decisions of these committees are reported to Council 

and, where relevant, Senate. The membership of Council and its sub-committees is set out below.
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Council Member

Pat Ritchie CBE Lay member and Chair of Council  M C M 

Mags Scott Lay member and Deputy Chair of Council  M  M

Jasmine Banks Student

Derek Bell OBE Lay member

Linda Conlon MBE DL Lay member  M

Leo David Student  M

Professor Chris Day CBE DL Vice-Chancellor  M  M

Will Garton Lay member  M

Dr Arun Harish Lay member

Professor Nigel Harkness Deputy Vice Chancellor  M M 

Lisa Hunter Lay member

Anjam Khan Staff

Alex Lamb Lay member  M

Bill MacLeod Lay member C

Professor Rhiannon Mason Staff

Claire Morgan Lay member A C

Dr Meiko O'Halloran Staff

Marta Phillips OBE CA Lay member  M

Emma Reay Staff

Professor Colin Riordan CBE Lay member  M

Angela Russell Lay member C  M

Adam Serfontein DL Lay member

Nitin Shukla DL Lay member  M

Non-Council Members

Hilary Florek M

Mike Goodwin (until 31 March 2025) M

Vikas Kumar M

Professor Ian Postlethwaite M

Professor Jane Robinson M

Tony Taylor (from 1 April 2025) M

Dean White M

Tom Wooldridge M

* Further details of the membership of governance committees are available at 

www.ncl.ac.uk/executive/governance/committees/

C–Chair | M–Member | A–In attendance
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Audit, Risk and Assurance 

Committee 

Audit, Risk and Assurance 

Committee is a committee of 

Council, comprising a minimum 

of three lay members of Council 

and additional lay members. The 

Committee met five times during 

2024–25 with the University’s 

internal auditors and external 

auditors in attendance. The 

committee reviews the University’s 

strategic risk management and 

the effectiveness of internal 

control systems by considering 

detailed reports together with 

recommendations for improvement, 

management responses and 

implementation plans. As part of 

its annual opinion, it also gives 

assurance about the University’s 

arrangements for value for money. 

Finance Committee 

Finance Committee considers and 

recommends to Council the fnancial

strategy for the University and 

advises on investments, determines 

the level of funding to be made 

available to support the annual 

budget allocations, approves the 

accounting policies and considers 

the fnancial statements. It also has

overall responsibility for ensuring the 

appropriate management of taxation 

within the University. 

Nominations Committee

Nominations Committee makes 

recommendations to Council in 

respect of the appointment of lay 

members of Council, the offices 

of Chair and Vice-Chair of Council, 

Honorary Treasurer and members of 

the committees of Council. 

In appointing new members, the 

intention is to appoint high-calibre 

individuals with specific skills that 

are of value to the University and a 

commitment to the principles and 

future success of the University. Prior 

engagement with the University 

via a committee or similar is an 

advantage before an individual joins 

the governing body, but we actively 

seek to make appointments to 

improve our diversity and expertise 

using search agents where it is 

judged to be appropriate. Council 

benefits from a diversity of members 

and actively seeks to promote 

equality and diversity throughout the 

institution.

Remuneration Committee 

Remuneration Committee considers 

the remuneration and terms and 

conditions of senior colleagues. 

More detail on the work of this 

committee is provided on pages  

45-49. 

University/Students’ Union 

Partnership Committee 

The University and the Students’ 

Union have a joint Partnership 

Committee, constituted as a sub-

committee of Council, chaired by 

a member of Council. It meets 

regularly to discuss matters of 

common interest. This committee 

also discharges the University’s 

obligations with regard to the 

Students’ Union under the terms of 

the Education Act 1994 on behalf of 

Council. 

Executive Board

Executive Board is the senior 

management team of the 

University. It keeps under review 

the University’s strategy and 

makes recommendations on the 

development of the strategy to 

Senate and Council. It develops 

and regularly reviews the activities, 

assesses the risks related to the 

delivery of these and ensures that 

appropriate measures are in place 

to assure the financial sustainability 

of the University. Executive Board 

reports on these matters regularly 

to Council. Through the monitoring 

undertaken by its Financial 

Monitoring and Budget Scrutiny 

Group and Budget Setting Group, 

Executive Board is also responsible 

for the use of resources and financial 

performance of all budgetary units. 

It has particular responsibility for 

value for money. The principal 

academic and administrative 

officer of the University is the 

Vice-Chancellor and President 

who has general responsibility for 

maintaining and promoting the 

efficiency and good order of the 

University. Under OfS registration 

conditions, the Vice-Chancellor 

and President is the accountable 

officer of the University. The 

Vice-Chancellor and President is 

also responsible for assuring the 

quality and accuracy of University 

data provided to the OfS and to 

its Designated Data Body (DDB) 

and other public bodies. As chief 

executive of the University, the 

Vice-Chancellor and President 

exercises considerable influence 

upon development of University 

strategy, the identification and 

planning of new developments, 

and shaping of the institutional 

ethos. The Deputy Vice-

Chancellor, Pro-Vice-Chancellors 

and senior administrative officers 

all contribute in various ways to 

these aspects of the work, but the 

ultimate responsibility for what is 

done rests with Council. 

Occupational Health and Safety 

Reporting to Executive Board, 

University Health and Safety 

Committee oversees and 

manages the coordination of 

health and safety strategy and 

policy. The Committee includes 

a lay member appointed by 

Council (Derek Bell), a member 

of Executive Board (Executive 

Director of People Services) and 

Trade Union Representatives. 

Progress in implementing the 

University’s Health and Safety 

Strategic Plan is reported to 

Executive Board on a quarterly 

basis, and to Council on an annual 

basis. Routine health and safety 

work, accident/incident trends 

and any significant risks are 

reported to Executive Board each 

week.

2024–25 saw a reduction in 

accidents reported for students 

and colleagues including RIDDOR 

(Reporting of Injuries, Diseases 

and Dangerous Occurrences 

Regulations) accidents. We will 

continue to raise awareness of, 

and encourage, incident reporting 

through the Health and Safety 

Committee structure. We have 

completed all ten actions in the 

second year of the five-year 

Health and Safety Strategic Plan. 

The 10 actions for next academic 

year have been planned. All of our 

internal Health and Safety audits 

were completed with actions 

plans developed for tracking. 

An improvement in audit scores 

has been observed for a second 

year, increasing from 78% to 

86% gaining substantial or better 

assurance.

Sickness absence rates decreased 

from 2.8% in 2023–24 to 2.5% in 

2024–25. 

Slavery and human trafficking 

The University has a responsibility 

to ensure that slavery and 

human trafficking are not taking 

place in our business or in our 

supply chains. Our Slavery and 

Human Trafficking Statement 

can be accessed on our external 

website at www.ncl.ac.uk/foi/

publication-scheme/policies

Relevant union officials: Total number of employees who 

were relevant union officials during the relevant period 

1 April 2024 to 31 March 2025

Number of employees who were 

relevant union officials during the 

relevant period

Full-time equivalent employee 

number

36 32.36

Percentage of time spent on facility time: Employees who were 

relevant union officials employed during the relevant period spent 

0%, 1%-50%, 51%-99% or 100% of their working hours on facility time

Percentage Number of employees

0% 7

1-50% 29

51-99% –

100% –

The percentage of pay bill spent on facility time

Cost of facility time £109,198

Total pay bill £362,811,960

Percentage of pay bill spent 

on facility time
0.03%

Paid trade union activities: Hours spent by employees who were 

relevant union officials during the relevant period on paid trade 

union activities as a percentage of total paid facility time hours

(total hours spent on paid trade union activities by relevant union 

officials during the relevant period ÷ total paid facility time hours) x 100

44.79%

Trade union facility time

The trade union (Facility Time 

Publication Requirements) 

Regulations 2017 came into 

force on 1 April 2017 and place a 

legislative requirement on relevant 

public sector employers including 

HEIs in England and Scotland to ‘to 

collate and publish, on an annual 

basis, a range of data on amount 

and cost of facility time within 

their organisation’. Facility time is 

defined in the Regulation as ‘the 

provision of paid or unpaid time 

from an employee’s normal role 

to undertake trade union duties 

and activities as a trade union 

representative’. We are required to 

collect and publish a range of data 

in relation to the amount and cost 

of trade union facility time within 

the University which is shown in 

the tables below. 

Integrated Annual Report 2024–2025

Executive Board membership 2024–25

Professor Chris Day (Vice-Chancellor and President – Chair) 

Professor Nigel Harkness (Deputy Vice-Chancellor)

Professor David Burn (Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Medical Sciences)

Dr Colin Campbell (Registrar)

Justin Cole (Executive Director of External Relations – until June 2025)

Nick Collins (ChiefFinancial Ofcer)

Professor Jo Fox (Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Humanities and Social Sciences – 

from June 2025)

Professor Stephanie Glendinning (Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Science, Agriculture 

and Engineering) 

Professor Matthew Grenby (Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Research and Innovation) 

Professor Jo Robinson (Acting Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Humanities and Social 

Sciences – until June 2025)  

Professor Jane Robinson (Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Engagement and Place) 

Jacqueline Scott (Executive Director of People Services)

Professor Ruth Valentine (Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Education) 

Professor Chris Whitehead (Acting Pro-Vice-Chancellor – Global)
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Council is the supreme governing body of the University, subject to the provisions 

of the University’s statutes. The primary responsibilities of Council are aligned with 

the statement of primary responsibilities taken from the Higher Education Code of 

Governance published in September 2020 and are:   

◼ to set and agree the mission, 

strategic vision and values of the 

institution with the Executive 

◼ to agree long-term academic and 

business plans and key performance 

indicators and ensure that these 

meet the interests of stakeholders, 

especially colleagues, students and 

alumni 

◼ to ensure that processes are in 

place to monitor and evaluate the 

performance and effectiveness 

of the institution against the 

strategy, plans and approved key 

performance indicators, which 

should be, where possible and 

appropriate, benchmarked against 

other comparable institutions

◼ to delegate authority to the Head 

of Institution for the academic, 

corporate, financial, estate and 

human resource management of the 

institution, and to establish and keep 

under regular review the policies, 

procedures and limits within such 

management functions as shall 

be undertaken by and under the 

authority of the Head of Institution 

◼ to ensure the establishment and 

monitoring of systems of control 

and accountability, including 

financial and operational controls, 

risk assessment, value-for-money 

arrangements and procedures for 

handling internal grievances and 

managing conflicts of interest 

◼ to establish processes to monitor 

and evaluate the performance and 

effectiveness of the governing body 

itself 

◼ to conduct its business in 

accordance with best practice in HE 

corporate governance and with the 

principles of public life drawn up 

by the Committee on Standards in 

Public Life 

◼ to safeguard the good name and 

values of the institution 

◼ to appoint the Head of Institution 

as Chief Executive and to put in 

place suitable arrangements for 

monitoring their performance 

◼ to appoint a Secretary to the 

governing body and to ensure 

that, if the person appointed 

has managerial responsibilities 

in the institution, there is an 

appropriate separation in the lines of 

accountability 

◼ to be the employing authority for 

all colleagues in the institution and 

to be accountable for ensuring that 

an appropriate human resources 

strategy is established 

◼ to be the principal financial and 

business authority of the institution, 

to ensure that proper books of 

account are kept, to approve 

the annual budget and financial 

statements, and to have overall 

accountability for the institution’s 

assets, property and estate 

◼ to be the institution’s legal 

authority and, as such, to 

ensure systems are in place for 

meeting all the institution’s legal 

obligations, including those 

arising from contracts and other 

legal commitments made in the 

institution’s name. This includes 

accountability for health, safety and 

security and for equality, diversity 

and inclusion 

◼ to receive assurance that 

adequate provision has been made 

for the general welfare of students 

◼ to act as trustee for any property, 

legacy, endowment, bequest or gift 

in support of the work and welfare of 

the institution 

◼ to ensure that the institution’s 

constitution is always followed, and 

that appropriate advice is available 

to enable this to happen 

◼ to promote a culture which 

supports inclusivity and diversity 

across the institution 

◼ to maintain and protect the 

principles of academic freedom and 

freedom of speech legislation 

◼ to ensure that all students and 

colleagues have opportunities to 

engage with the governance and 

management of the institution 

Responsibilities of Council in 

the Preparation of the Financial 

Statements 

In accordance with the 

University’s statutes, Council is 

responsible for the administration 

and management of the affairs 

of the University and is required 

to present audited financial 

statements for each financial year. 

Council is responsible for keeping 

proper accounting records, which 

disclose with reasonable accuracy 

at any time, the financial position 

of the University and to enable 

it to ensure that the financial 

statements are prepared in 

accordance with the University’s 

statutes, the Statement of 

Recommended Practice – 

Accounting for Further and 

Higher Education Institutions and 

accounting instructions prepared 

by the OfS. The University 

prepares financial statements for 

each financial year, which give 

a true and fair view of the state 

of affairs of the University and of 

the surplus or deficit and cash 

flows for that year. In causing 

the financial statements to be 

prepared, Council has ensured 

that:  

◼ suitable accounting policies are 

selected and applied consistently 

◼ judgements and estimates are 

made that are reasonable and 

prudent 

◼ applicable accounting standards 

have been followed, subject to 

any material departures disclosed 

and explained in the financial 

statements 

◼ financial statements are 

prepared on the going concern 

basis 

Council has taken reasonable 

steps to: 

◼ ensure that funds from the OfS 

and Research England are used 

only for the purposes for which 

they have been given and in 

accordance with the OfS Terms 

and conditions of funding 2024–

25 and any other conditions which 

the OfS or Research England may 

from time to time prescribe 

◼ ensure that there are 

appropriate financial and 

management controls in place to 

safeguard public funds and funds 

from other sources 

◼ safeguard the assets of the 

University and prevent and detect 

fraud 

◼ secure the economical, efficient 

and effective management of 

the University’s resources and 

expenditure
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Council is responsible for ensuring the establishment and monitoring of systems of 

control and accountability. The internal control environment is not limited to financial 

control and includes governance structures, delegations, policies, planning and 

budgetary processes, system controls and management reporting.

Council is accountable for 

determining and monitoring the 

adequacy and effectiveness of 

the Internal Control Framework. It 

delegates responsibility to the Audit, 

Risk and Assurance Committee and 

receives regular updates on risk and 

internal control throughout the year. 

The Risk Management Framework 

is designed to support the delivery 

of the strategy. The systems of 

internal control are designed in line 

with the University’s risk appetite; 

further detail is provided in the 

Understanding our risks section 

(pages 12–13). The University’s 

arrangements are designed to 

manage, rather than eliminate, risks. 

Risk identification, evaluation and 

assessment is an ongoing process, 

and risks are considered in the short, 

medium and longer term with the 

approach to control based upon 

expected impact and likelihood.

Audit, Risk and Assurance 

Committee provides assurance 

to Council that risk management 

is robust and that risk owners can 

identify and effectively managing 

risks. The Audit, Risk and Assurance 

Committee also carries out ‘deep 

dives’ into different risks speaking 

directly to risk owners about how 

they are identifying and mitigating 

risk.

The University requires colleagues 

and lay members to act honestly 

and with integrity and to safeguard 

the public resources for which 

they are responsible; expectations 

are outlined in various policies 

available on the intranet, including 

the University’s Code of Ethics and 

Standards of Behaviour documents. 

Issues can be raised through line 

management structures, People 

Services or through the Public 

Interest Disclosure (Whistleblowing) 

process which provides protection 

for those making such disclosures 

who act in good faith.  

The Audit, Risk and Assurance 

Committee supports Council to 

discharge its duties, by providing 

an annual opinion on the adequacy 

and effectiveness of the University’s 

arrangements for risk management, 

control and governance. Senior 

management and Audit, Risk 

and Assurance Committee 

receive regular reports from the 

Internal Audit team, including 

recommendations and agreed 

actions for improvement.  

In terms of compliance with OfS 

conditions of registration, the 

University has an OfS Internal 

Assurance Framework that is 

updated throughout the year and 

reported to Council on an annual 

basis. Each condition has a named 

senior management lead. A broader 

assurance framework setting out our 

compliance with highly risk-rated 

areas of relevant legal obligations is 

in development.  

Overall, in respect of the year ended 

31 July 2025, Council is satisfied 

that the University’s internal control 

arrangements are effective.  

Public disclosure 

Council membership, agenda, 

unreserved papers, and minutes are 

all made publicly available on the 

University website.    

Major incidents during the year 

On 14 February 2025, the local 

branch of the University and 

College Union (UCU), which 

represents academics, lecturers, 

researchers and administrators at 

Newcastle University, gave notice 

of their intention to take 14 days of 

discontinuous strike action between 

4–28 March 2025. The action was 

in response to the cost-saving 

measures the University was 

implementing to address the current 

financial situation. Mitigations for 

teaching and learning were put 

in place by the academic schools 

impacted and the impact was 

considered to be minimal. On 11 

April 2025, the UCU announced 

a further 21 days of strike action. 

This second, longer period of 

disruption was judged to have the 

potential to materially affect the 

education of students. A number 

of proactive measures were put in 

place designed to ensure students 

were supported appropriately. The 

relatively small number of staff 

involved and planned mitigations 

meant that students in the affected 

areas were able to successfully 

progress and graduate with awards 

to the timetable students expect.

The University reported this to the 

Office for Students as a reportable 

event in May 2025.

We have continued to pay 

particular attention to safety, mental 

health and wellbeing, academic 

delivery, student experience, 

student recruitment (in particular, 

international student recruitment), 

finances, IT and cybersecurity. This 

approach was discussed with and 

agreed by Council who paid special 

attention to issues of financial 

sustainability and cybersecurity.  

Our annual Remuneration report provides an overview of our approach to senior 

staff remuneration at Newcastle University. It is written to comply with the 

Committee of University Chairs’ Higher Education Senior Staff Remuneration Code 

and the Office for Students’ Accounts Direction.  

Unaudited information (pages 45–47)

Remuneration Committee is 

a committee of Council, the 

University’s governing body. It is 

responsible for determining and 

reviewing the salaries, terms and 

conditions, and any severance 

payments, for senior members of 

staff of the University. Information 

about Remuneration Committee 

and its work is published on 

the University’s website and 

the Committee’s full terms 

of reference are available at:  

https://www.ncl.ac.uk/media/

wwwnclacuk/whoweare/files/

Remuneration-Committee-Terms-

of-Reference.pdf 

Remuneration Committee met 

on 3 November 2024 and 30 

June 2025, with an additional 

extraordinary meeting taking 

place on 19 June 2025. The topics 

of discussion were: 

◼ pensions alternative allowance 

and the closure of the scheme to 

new applicants

◼ application of reward restrictions 

in light of the financial situation

◼ the Vice-Chancellor and 

President’s performance in 2024–

25 and his remuneration and areas 

of focus for 2025–26

◼ the performance of other 

members of the senior executive 

team in 2024–25 and their 

remuneration and areas of focus 

for 2025–26

◼ reports and action plans on 

gender and ethnicity pay gaps

◼ recommendations for salaries 

that result in remuneration 

exceeding £120,000 per year

◼ committee effectiveness, terms 

of reference and membership, 

and alignment with the 

Higher Education Senior Staff 

Remuneration Code

◼ application of the 2025–26 pay 

award to colleagues within the 

remit of Remuneration Committee
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Remuneration for the 

Vice-Chancellor and President 

Remuneration Committee agreed 

an overall uplift to Professor 

Day’s salary of 2.5%, in line with 

the University and Colleges 

Employers Association (UCEA) Joint 

Negotiating Committee for Higher 

Education Staff (JNCHES) National 

Pay Bargaining decision for 2024–

25 and as applied to colleagues on 

spine point 38 and above. The first 

part of this (£900) was applied on 

1 August 2024 with the remainder 

applied on 1 March 2025 (total uplift 

2.5%). It was noted that although 

the committee agreed to award the 

Vice-Chancellor and President a 

pay increase, this was subsequently 

declined by Professor Day. Professor 

Day’s basic salary remained at 

£354,718, as of August 2024.   

From 1 January 2018, Professor Day 

ceased active membership of the 

USS pension scheme under their 

enhanced opt-out arrangements. As 

a result, he receives an allowance 

equivalent to the employer’s 

contribution for future accrual 

(subject to the normal deductions of 

income tax and National Insurance).  

The Vice-Chancellor and President’s 

basic salary is 8.8 times the median 

basic salary of colleagues (2023–24: 

9.3) where the median basic salary is 

calculated on a full-time equivalent 

basis for the salaries paid by the 

University to its colleagues.

The Vice-Chancellor and President’s 

total remuneration is 8.6 times 

the median total remuneration of 

colleagues (2023–24: 9.1) where 

the median total remuneration is 

calculated on a full-time equivalent 

basis for the total remuneration by 

the University to its colleagues.   

  

Remuneration of other members of 

Executive Board

Executive Board is responsible for 

the leadership of the University 

having authority and responsibility 

for planning, directing, and 

controlling the activities of the 

University. The Vice-Chancellor and 

President has overall responsibility 

for members of the Executive Board. 

Details of membership can be found 

on page 40.

Members of Executive Board have 

access to the same employer 

pension schemes as other 

employees. By contrast, they do 

not receive national cost of living 

increases agreed through the Joint 

Negotiating Committee for Higher 

Education Staff and are considered 

instead by Remuneration Committee 

for any pay uplifts based on their 

performance and on benchmark 

data on salary levels for similar 

roles internally and at comparable 

institutions. Remuneration 

Committee agreed an overall uplift 

to Executive Board salaries of 2.5%, 

in line with the UCEA JNCHES 

National Pay Bargaining decision 

for 2024–25. The first part of this 

(£900 to each spine point) was 

applied on 1 August 2024 with the 

remainder applied on 1 March 2025 

(total uplift 2.5%). 

The combined emoluments of 

members of the Executive Board 

in 2024–25, including the Vice-

Chancellor and President, are 

detailed above. 

Severance payments  

We pay due regard to the guidance 

on decisions taken about severance 

payments in HEIs published by the 

Committee of University Chairs 

(CUC). This year we paid a total of 

£10.1m (2023–24: £5.7m) to 394 

colleagues (2023–24: 278) of which 

£9.4m (2023–24: £4.4m) was paid 

to 281 colleagues (2023–24: 150) in 

respect of the VSS scheme.

Higher paid colleagues

The number of colleagues with a 

full-time equivalent basic salary of 

over £100,000 per annum, broken 

down into bands of £5,000, is shown 

opposite.

Audited information (pages 48-49)

Salary Band Clinical Non-Clinical 2024-25  

Total

2023-24    

Total

£100,000–£104,999 2 12 14 23 

£105,000–£109,999 19 7 26 24 

£110,000–£114,999 41 15 56 37 

£115,000–£119,999 3 13 16 31 

£120,000–£124,999  – 6 6 13 

£125,000–£129,999 32 2 34 29 

£130,000–£134,999 9 5 14 10 

£135,000–£139,999 70 4 74 10 

£140,000–£144,999 3 – 3 10 

£145,000–£149,999 – 1 1 8 

£150,000–£154,999 1 7 8 6 

£155,000–£159,999 – 2 2 10 

£160,000–£164,999 – – – 12 

£165,000–£169,999 1 2 3 8 

£170,000–£174,999 1 – 1 4 

£175,000–£179,999 – – – 1 

£180,000–£184,999 – – – 3 

£185,000–£189,999 – 1 1 –

£190,000–£194,999 1 2 3 2 

£195,000–£199,999 – – – 1 

£200,000–£204,999 – – – 3 

£215,000–£219,999 – 2 2 –

VC £350,000–£354,999 1 – 1 1 

184 81 265 246 

Remuneration for the Vice-Chancellor 

and President

2024–25  

£’000 

2023–24    

£’000 

Salary 354.7 354.7 

Allowance in lieu of pension contributions 42.3 42.9

Benefts in kind – – 

Total remuneration 397.0 397.6

Employer pension contributions – 9.3

Total staff costs 397.0 406.9 

Remuneration of other members of 

Executive Board

2024–25  

£m 

2023–24    

£m 

Key management personnel compensation: 

Salary and benefts (including employer’s

pension contributions)
2.9 2.9 
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tsReport on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

In our opinion the fnancial

statements of Newcastle University 
(the ‘university’) and its subsidiaries 
(the ‘group’):

◼ give a true and fair view of the 
state of the group and the university’s 
affairs as at 31 July 2025 and of the 
group and the university’s income 
and expenditure, gains and losses 
and changes in reserves and cash 
fows for the year then ended; and

◼ have been properly prepared in 
accordance with United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice, including Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 “The 
Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic 
of Ireland” and the Statement of 
Recommended Practice: Accounting 
for Further and Higher Education.

We have audited the fnancial

statements which comprise:

◼ the group and university income 
and expenditure accounts;

◼ the group and university 
statements of comprehensive 
income;

◼ the group and university balance 
sheets;

◼ the group and university 
statements of changes in reserves;

◼ the group cash fow statement; and

◼ the related Notes 1 to 31; and

◼ the Supplemental Schedule, Note 
32, being required by reference to 
Newcastle University accepting 
students under the US Department 
ofEducation student fnancial

assistance programs.

The fnancial reporting framework

that has been applied in their 
preparation is applicable law 
and United Kingdom Accounting 
Standards, including Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 “The 
Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of 
Ireland” (United Kingdom Generally 
Accepted Accounting Practice) and 
the Statement of Recommended 
Practice: Accounting for Further and 
Higher Education (2019).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in 
accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (UK) 
(ISAs(UK)) and applicable law. 
Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the 
auditor's responsibilities for the audit 
ofthe fnancial statements section of

our report.

We are independent of the group 
and the university in accordance with 
the ethical requirements that are 
relevant to our audit ofthe fnancial

statements in the UK, including 
the Financial Reporting Council’s 
(the ‘FRC’s’) Ethical Standard, and 
we have fulflled our other ethical

responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufcient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going 
concern

In auditing the fnancial statements,

we have concluded that the 
governing body’s use of the going 
concern basis of accounting in 
the preparation ofthe fnancial

statements is appropriate. 

Based on the work we have 
performed, we have not identifed

any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually 
or collectively, may cast signifcant

doubt on the group’s and the 
university’s ability to continue as 
a going concern for a period of at 
least twelve months from when the 
fnancial statements are authorised

for issue. 

Our responsibilities and the 
responsibilities of the governing body 
with respect to going concern are 
described in the relevant sections of 
this report.

Other information

The other information comprises the 
information included in the annual 
report, other than the fnancial

statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. The governing body is 
responsible for the other information 
contained within the annual 
report. Our opinion on the fnancial

statements does not cover the other 
information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion 
thereon.

Our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing 
so, consider whether the other 
information is materially inconsistent 
with the fnancial statements or

our knowledge obtained in the 
course of the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated. 
If we identify such material 
inconsistencies or apparent material 
misstatements, we are required to 
determine whether this gives rise 
to a material misstatement in the 
fnancial statements themselves.

If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report 
that fact.

We have nothing to report in this 
regard.

Responsibilities of the 
governing body

As explained more fully in the 
governing body’s responsibilities 
statement, the governing body is 
responsible for the preparation of 
the fnancial statements that give

a true and fair view, and for such 
internal control as the governing 
body determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation offnancial

statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the fnancial

statements, the governing body 
is responsible for assessing the 
group’s and the university’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless the governing 
body either intends to liquidate the 
group or the university or to cease 
operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit ofthe fnancial
statements

Our objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about 
whether the fnancial statements

as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error, and to issue an 
auditor's report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but 
is not a guarantee that an audit 
conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably 
be expected to infuence the

economic decisions of users taken 
on the basis ofthese fnancial

statements.

A further description of our 
responsibilities for the audit of the 
fnancial statements is located on

the FRC’s website at: www.frc.
org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. 
This description forms part of our 
auditor’s report.

Extent to which the audit 
was considered capable 
of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are 
instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations. We 
design procedures in line with our 
responsibilities, outlined above, to 
detect material misstatements in 
respect of irregularities, including 
fraud. The extent to which our 
procedures are capable of 
detecting irregularities, including 
fraud is detailed below. 

We considered the nature of the 
group’s industry and its control 
environment, and reviewed the 
group’s documentation of their 
policies and procedures relating 
to fraud and compliance with laws 
and regulations. We also enquired 
of management and internal audit, 
about their own identifcation

and assessment of the risks of 
irregularities. 

We obtained an understanding 
of the legal and regulatory 
framework that the group operates 
in, and identifed the key laws and

regulations that: 

◼ had a direct effect on the 
determination of material amounts 
and disclosures in the fnancial

statements. These included the 
Ofce for Students “Regulatory

Advice 9: Accounts Direction”, 
pensions legislation, tax legislation, 
SORP for higher education 
institutions, the relevant provisions 
ofthe code offnancial regulations

relating to the supplemental 
schedule; and

◼ do not have a direct effect 
on the fnancial statements but

compliance with which may be 
fundamental to the group’s ability 
to operate or to avoid a material 
penalty. These included the Terms 
and Conditions of Funding for 
Higher Education issued by the 
Ofce for Students.

We discussed among the audit 
engagement team and relevant 
internal specialists such as 
tax, valuations, pensions and 
IT specialists regarding the 
opportunities and incentives that 
may exist within the organisation 

for fraud and how and where 
fraud might occur in the fnancial

statements.

As a result of performing the 
above, we identifed the greatest

potential for fraud in the following 
areas, and our specifc procedures

performed to address it are 
described below:

◼ deferral of research grant 
income at the year-end is 
subject to potential management 
bias: we tested a sample of 
deferred research grant income 
to supporting documentation 
to assess the adequacy of the 
recorded amount. 

In common with all audits under 
ISAs (UK), we are also required to 
perform specifc procedures to

respond to the risk of management 
override. In addressing the risk 
of fraud through management 
override of controls, we tested the 
appropriateness of journal entries 
and other adjustments; assessed 
whether the judgements made in 
making accounting estimates are 
indicative of a potential bias; and 
evaluated the business rationale 
ofany signifcant transactions that

are unusual or outside the normal 
course of business.

In addition to the above, our 
procedures to respond to the risks 
identifed included the following:

◼ reviewing fnancial statement

disclosures by testing to 
supporting documentation to 
assess compliance with provisions 
of relevant laws and regulations 
described as having a direct effect 
on the fnancial statements;

◼ performing analytical 
procedures to identify any unusual 
or unexpected relationships that 
may indicate risks of material 
misstatement due to fraud; 

◼ enquiring of management and 
internal audit concerning actual 
and potential litigation and claims, 
and instances of non-compliance 
with laws and regulations; and 

◼ reading minutes of meetings of 
those charged with governance, 
reviewing internal audit reports, 
and reviewing correspondence 
with the ofce for students (OfS).
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Council of Newcastle University (continued)

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Opinions on other matters 
prescribed by the Ofce for
Students (OfS) “Regulatory 
Advice 9: Accounts Direction”

In our opinion, in all material respects:

◼ funds from whatever source 
administered by the university for 
specifc purposes have been applied

to those purposes and managed in 
accordance with relevant legislation;

◼ funds provided by the OfS and UK 
Research and Innovation (including 
Research England), the Education 
and Skills Funding Agency and the 
Department for Education have 
been applied in accordance with the 
relevant terms and conditions; and 

◼ the requirements of the OfS’s 
accounts direction have been met.

Matters on which we are 
required to report by exception

Under the OfS Regulatory Advice 9: 
Accounts Direction, we are required 
to report in respect of the following 
matters if, in our opinion:

◼ the provider’s grant and fee 
income, as disclosed in the note 1 to 
the accounts, has been materially 
misstated; or

◼ the provider’s expenditure on 
access and participation activities 
for the fnancial year, as disclosed in

note 30 to the accounts, has been 
materially misstated.

We have nothing to report in respect 
of these matters.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the 
Council in accordance with the 
Accounts Direction issued by 
the Ofce for Students dated 25

October 2019. Our audit work has 
been undertaken so that we might 
state to the governing body those 
matters we are required to state to 
it in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. To the fullest extent 
permitted by law, we do not accept 
or assume responsibility to anyone 
other than the board of governors 
as a body, for our audit work, for this 
report, or for the opinions we have 
formed.

Nicola Wright 
Deloitte LLP
Statutory Auditor
Newcastle upon Tyne
United Kingdom

11 December 2025 
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claims between undertakings 

included in the consolidation 

are also eliminated. Balances 

between the University and its 

associates and joint ventures are 

not eliminated.

Normal trading transactions that 

are not settled by the year-end 

date are included as current 

assets or liabilities. Any gains or 

losses are included in the carrying 

amount of assets of either entity, 

the part relating to the University’s 

share is eliminated.

The consolidated financial 

statements do not include the 

results of Newcastle University 

Students’ Union as the University 

does not exert control or dominant 

influence over policy decisions.

The consolidated financial 

statements do not include 

the results of the University 

of Newcastle upon Tyne 

Development Trust as it is a 

separate charity which manages 

its funds independently of the 

University. Although the University 

nominates some of the trustees, 

it has no control over the Trust’s 

decisions.

Associated companies and joint 

ventures are accounted for using 

the equity method.

5. Income recognition

Income from the sale of goods 

or services is credited to the 

Consolidated Statement of 

Comprehensive Income when the 

goods or services are supplied 

to the external customers or the 

terms of the contract have been 

satisfied.

Tuition fee income is stated 

gross of any expenditure which 

is not a discount and credited 

to the Consolidated Statement 

of Comprehensive Income over 

the period in which students are 

studying. Where the amount of 

the tuition fee is reduced, by a 

discount for prompt payment, 

income receivable is shown net 

of the discount. Bursaries and 

scholarships are accounted for 

gross as expenditure and not 

deducted from income.

Education contracts are 

recognised when the University 

is entitled to the income, which is 

the period in which students are 

studying, or where relevant, when 

performance conditions have 

been met.

Funds the University receives 

and disburses as paying agent 

on behalf of a funding body are 

excluded from the income and 

expenditure of the University 

where the University is exposed 

to minimal risk or enjoys minimal 

economic benefit related to the 

transaction.

Grant funding

Grant funding, including funding 

council block grant, research 

grants from government sources 

and grants (including research 

grants) from non-government 

sources, are recognised as income 

when the University is entitled 

to the income and performance-

related conditions have been met. 

Income received in advance of 

performance-related conditions 

being met is recognised as 

deferred income within creditors 

in the Statement of Financial 

Position and released to income 

as the conditions are met..

Donations and endowments

Non-exchange transactions 

without performance-related 

conditions are donations and 

endowments.

Donations and endowments 

with donor-imposed restrictions 

are recognised in income when 

the University is entitled to the 

funds. Income is retained within 

the restricted reserve until such 

time that it is utilised in line with 

such restrictions at which point 

the income is released to general 

reserves through a reserve 

transfer.

Donations with no restrictions are 

recognised in income when the 

University is entitled to the funds.

Investment income and 

appreciation of endowments 

is recorded in income in the 

year in which it arises and as 

either restricted or unrestricted 

income according to the terms or 

other restrictions applied to the 

individual endowment fund.

There are four main types of 

donations and endowments 

identified within reserves:

◼ restricted donations – the donor 

has specified that the donation 

must be used for a particular 

objective

◼ unrestricted permanent 

endowments – the donor has 

specified that the fund is to be 

permanently invested to generate 

an income stream for the general 

benefit of the University

◼ restricted expendable 

endowments – the donor has 

specified a particular objective 

other than the purchase or 

construction of tangible assets, 

and the University has the power 

to use the capital

◼ restricted permanent 

endowments – the donor has 

specified that the fund is to be 

permanently invested to generate 

an income stream to be applied to 

a particular objective

Donations of tangible assets 

are included within income. 

Paragraph PBE34.73(b) of FRS 102 

requires income from donations 

of tangible assets to be measured 

at the fair value of the tangible 

asset. Donated tangible assets 

are valued and accounted for 

as tangible assets under the 

appropriate asset category.

Income from expendable 

endowments is recognised to the 

extent of the related expenditure 

during the year. Permanent 

endowments are managed on 

a total return basis. The entire 

investment return is included in 

the Statement of Comprehensive 

Income to the extent of the related 

expenditure during the year.

Capital grants

Capital grants are recognised 

in income when the University 

is entitled to the funds subject 

to any performance-related 

conditions being met.

1. Accounting convention

The Consolidated and University 

financial statements have been 

prepared in accordance with United 

Kingdom Accounting Standards, 

including Financial Reporting 

Standard 102 (FRS 102) and the 

Statement of Recommended 

Practice (SORP): Accounting for 

Further and Higher Education 

(2019 edition). They have also been 

prepared in accordance with the 

‘carried forward’ powers and duties 

of previous legislation (Further and 

Higher Education Act 1992 and the 

Higher Education Act 2004) and the 

new powers of the Higher Education 

and Research Act 2017 during the 

transition period to 31 July 2019, 

the Royal Charter, the Accounts 

Direction issued by the OfS, the 

terms and conditions of funding 

for higher education institutions 

issued by the OfS and the terms and 

conditions of the Research England 

grant.

The University is a public benefit 

entity and therefore has applied the 

relevant public benefit requirement 

of the applicable UK laws and 

accounting standards.

2. Basis of preparation

The financial statements are 

prepared under the historical 

cost convention (modified by the 

revaluation of certain financial assets 

and liabilities at fair value).

The University’s principal operations, 

together with the factors likely to 

affect its future development and 

financial position are noted in the 

Vision and Strategy, Strategic and 

Operational review and Financial 

review sections.

The financial statements are 

prepared in sterling which is the 

functional currency of the group and 

rounded to the nearest one hundred 

thousand (£0.1m) except when 

otherwise indicated. 

Going Concern 

At 31 July 2025, the Group held 

cash, cash equivalents and 

short-term deposits of £188.7m 

with robust measures in place 

to monitor and manage cash 

balances. Borrowings, which are all 

unsecured, were £86.6m (Note 19) 

and lease obligations were £23.6m 

(Note 27). We complied with all 

covenant requirements for existing 

borrowing and compliance with 

measures required by OfS at 31 

July 2025. Subsequent to the year 

end, the University held cash, cash 

equivalents and short-term deposits 

of £268.4m at 31 October 2025 and 

no further borrowing had been put 

in place. In addition, the University 

has in place a £75m Revolving Credit 

Facility which provides seven-year 

unsecured committed funding 

to support the University with 

effective utilisation of its funds over 

the medium and long term, whilst 

maintaining target liquidity levels.

Student recruitment in autumn 2025 

is in line with the prudent budget 

set for the year giving confidence in 

current Council approved financial 

plans. Council has considered 

cash flow forecasts from the date 

of approval of these financial 

statements to 31 July 2027, a period 

of 20 months. After reviewing 

these forecasts Council is of the 

opinion, taking account of a base 

case forecast and also severe but 

plausible downsides as well as an 

extreme reverse stress test scenario, 

that the University has sufficient 

funds to meet its liabilities as they 

fall due for the period to 31 July 

2027. 

The scenarios modelled include 

the following key assumptions, for 

the severe but plausible downside 

scenario: 

◼ further international student 

recruitment downside

◼ inability to hold non-pay costs to 

budget or deliver any efficiency 

improvements.

The University also has a number 

of mitigating actions it can take 

to reduce costs should they be 

required, some of which the 

University can implement at 

short notice as it has delivered 

during 2024–25. These scenarios 

show that the University remains 

financially sustainable with 

sufficient available cash balances. 

The scenario modelling has also 

demonstrated that the University 

will still have sufficient headroom 

within the financial covenants in 

place. In addition, universities are 

required to report to the OfS if 

their liquidity falls below 30 days 

operating expenditure. This equates 

to a minimum cash balance of at 

least £50m for the University, as 

supported by the scenario modelling 

it is at no risk of needing to make a 

report to the OfS.

As a consequence of the above, 

Council has a reasonable 

expectation that the University has 

adequate resources to continue 

in operational existence for the 

going concern period. Therefore, 

Council continues to adopt the 

going concern basis of accounting in 

preparing the Financial Statements.

3. Exemptions under FRS 102

The University has taken the 

exemption under Section 3.3 of 

the SORP (1.12(b) of FRS 102) to not 

produce a cash flow statement for 

the University in its separate financial 

statements.

4. Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial 

statements include the financial 

statements of the University and 

all its subsidiaries together with the 

share of the results of joint ventures 

and associates for the financial 

year to 31 July 2025. Intra-group 

transactions are eliminated on 

consolidation.

Gains or losses on any intra-group 

transactions are eliminated in full. 

Amounts in relation to debts and 
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benefits

The two principal pension schemes 

for the University’s colleagues are 

the Universities Superannuation 

Scheme (USS) and the University of 

Newcastle upon Tyne Retirements 

Benefits Plan (1971) (RBP) which 

is an Exempt Approved Scheme 

under the Finance Act 1970. RBP is 

a defined benefit scheme. USS is a 

hybrid pension scheme, providing 

defined benefits (for all members), 

as well as defined contribution 

benefits. The assets of both RBP 

and USS are held in separate 

trustee-administered funds. Each 

fund is valued every three years by 

professionally qualified independent 

actuaries.

A small number of colleagues 

remain in other pension schemes.

USS is a multi-employer scheme. 

The assets of the scheme are held 

in a separate trustee-administered 

fund. Due to the mutual nature of 

the scheme, the assets are not 

attributed to individual institutions 

and a scheme-wide contribution 

rate is set. The University is 

therefore exposed to actuarial risks 

associated with other institutions’ 

employees and is unable to identify 

its share of the underlying assets 

and liabilities of the scheme on a 

consistent and reasonable basis. As 

required by Section 28 of FRS 102 

‘Employee benefits’, the University 

therefore accounts for the scheme 

as if it were a defined contribution 

scheme. As a result, the amount 

charged to expenditure represents 

the contributions payable to the 

scheme. Where there is an overall 

scheme deficit and the University 

enters into an agreement that 

determines how each employer 

within the scheme will fund the 

deficit, the University recognises a 

liability for the contributions payable 

that arise from the agreement (to 

the extent that they relate to the 

deficit), and the resulting expense is 

recognised as expenditure.

The RBP scheme’s assets are 

included at market value and 

scheme liabilities are measured 

on an actuarial basis using the 

projected unit method; these 

liabilities are discounted at the 

current rate of return on AA-rated 

corporate bonds. The post-

retirement benefit surplus or deficit 

is included on the University’s 

Statement of Financial Position, net 

of the related amount of deferred 

tax. Surpluses are only included to 

the extent that they are recoverable 

through reduced contributions in 

the future or through refunds from 

the scheme. The current service 

cost and any past service costs are 

included in expenditure within staff 

costs. The interest income on the 

scheme’s assets, net of the impact 

of the unwinding of the discount on 

scheme liabilities, is included within 

investment income or interest and 

other finance costs. Actuarial gains 

and losses are recognised in Other 

Comprehensive Income. 

7. Employment benefits

Short-term employment benefits 

such as salaries and compensated 

absences are recognised as an 

expense in the year in which the 

employees render service to the 

University. Any unused benefits 

are accrued and measured as the 

additional amount the University 

expects to pay as a result of the 

unused entitlement. 

8. Finance leases

Leases in which the University 

assumes substantially all the risks 

and rewards of ownership of the 

leased asset are classified as finance 

leases. Leased assets acquired 

by way of finance lease and the 

corresponding lease liabilities are 

initially recognised at an amount 

equal to the lower of their fair 

value and the present value of 

the minimum lease payments at 

inception of the lease. 

Minimum lease payments are 

apportioned between the finance 

charge and the reduction of the 

outstanding liability. The finance 

charge is allocated to each period 

during the lease term so as to 

produce a constant periodic rate of 

interest on the remaining balance of 

the liability. 

9. Operating leases

Costs in respect of operating leases 

are charged on a straight-line basis 

over the lease term. Any lease 

premiums or incentives are spread 

over the minimum lease term.

10. Foreign currency

University 

Transactions denominated in foreign 

currencies are recorded at the rate 

of exchange ruling at the dates of 

the transactions. Monetary assets 

and liabilities denominated in 

foreign currencies are translated into 

sterling at year-end rates. Foreign 

exchange differences arising on 

translation are recognised as a 

surplus or deficit. 

Group 

The assets and liabilities of foreign 

subsidiary undertakings are 

translated to sterling at the rate of 

exchange ruling at the year-end 

date. The revenues and expenses of 

foreign subsidiary undertakings are 

translated at an average rate for the 

year where this rate approximates 

to the foreign exchange rates ruling 

at the dates of the transactions. The 

exchange difference arising on the 

retranslation of opening net assets 

is taken to Other Comprehensive 

Income. All other exchange 

differences are recognised as a 

surplus or deficit for the year.  

11. Property, plant and 

equipment

Land and buildings 

Land and buildings are stated 

at cost/deemed cost less 

accumulated depreciation and 

accumulated impairment losses. 

Freehold land was revalued to 

fair value on transition to the 2015 

SORP, and is measured on the 

basis of deemed cost, being the 

revalued amount at the 31 July 

2014 transition date. 

Costs incurred in relation to land 

and buildings after initial purchase 

or construction, are capitalised to 

the extent that they increase the 

expected future benefits to the 

University. 

Freehold land is not depreciated 

as it is considered to have an 

indefinite useful life. Buildings 

and major refurbishments are 

depreciated on a straight-

line basis over their expected 

useful lives to the University, by 

components (where appropriate) 

as follows:

Structure 50 years

Fit-out 20 years

Mechanical/ 15 years

electrical services

Expenditure relating to subsequent 

replacement of components is 

capitalised as incurred.

Short-leasehold buildings are 

depreciated over the shorter of the 

lease term and the expected life of 

the asset.

No depreciation is charged 

on assets in the course of 

construction.

Equipment

Equipment costing less than 

£25,000 per individual item or 

group of related items and all 

software costs are recognised as 

expenditure. All other equipment 

is capitalised.

Capitalised equipment is stated 

at cost and depreciated over its 

expected useful life, as follows:

Research vessel 25 years 

General equipment 4 to 10

years

Equipment acquired project life

for specific research (generally

projects 3 years)

Leases equipment period of 

lease

Depreciation methods, useful lives 

and residual values are reviewed 

at each year end. Fully written 

down assets are reviewed and 

removed from the fixed asset 

register where no longer in use.

Impairment

A review for potential indicators 

of impairment is carried out at 

each reporting date. If events or 

changes in circumstances indicate 

that the carrying amount of the 

property, plant and equipment 

may not be recoverable, a 

calculation of the impact is 

completed and arising impairment 

values charged against the 

asset and to the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure.  

Borrowing costs

Finance costs which are directly 

attributable to the construction 

of land and buildings are not 

capitalised as part of the cost of 

those assets but are recognised 

as expenditure in the period in 

which they are incurred.

Heritage assets 

Heritage assets are individual 

objects, collections, exhibits and 

artefacts of historic, scientific or 

artistic value that are held and 

maintained principally for their 

contribution to knowledge and 

culture. Heritage assets are stated 

at cost or deemed cost. Heritage 

assets valued over £25,000 are 

capitalised and recognised at the 

cost or value of the acquisition.  

Heritage assets without reliable 

estimates of cost or value on a 

cost-benefit basis have not been 

capitalised.  

Capitalised heritage assets are 

not depreciated as their long 

economic life and high residual 

value mean that any depreciation 

would not be material. These 

assets are subject to an annual 

impairment review in accordance 

with applicable accounting 

standards. 

Where heritage assets have not 

been capitalised, details of the 

nature and age of these assets are 

disclosed.

12. Intangible assets

Intangible assets created within 

the business are not capitalised 

and expenditure is charged 

against profits in the year in which 

it is incurred. Intangible assets are 

stated at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and impairment 

losses. Intangible assets are 

amortised on a straight-line 

basis over their estimated useful 

lives. The expected useful life is 

the lesser of the project life or 

seven years. They are subject to 

periodic impairment reviews as 

appropriate.

Amortisation methods, useful lives 

and residual values are reviewed 

annually

13. Investments

Investments are measured in 

accordance with accounting 

policy 16.

Investments in jointly controlled 

entities, associates and 

subsidiaries are carried at cost 

less impairment in the University’s 

separate financial statements

14. Stock

Stock is valued at the lower of 

cost and estimated selling price 

less costs to complete and sell.

15. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash includes cash in hand, 

deposits repayable on demand 

and overdrafts. Deposits are 

repayable on demand if they are 

in practice available within 24 

hours without penalty.

Cash equivalents are short-term, 

highly liquid investments that 

are readily convertible to known 

amounts of cash with insignificant 

risk of change in value.

Integrated Annual Report 2024–2025
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies (continued)
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The University has elected to 

adopt Sections 11 and 12 of FRS 

102 in respect of the recognition 

and measurement of financial 

instruments. Financial assets and 

liabilities are recognised when 

the University becomes party to 

the contractual provision of the 

instrument and they are classified 

according to the substance of the 

contractual arrangements entered 

into. 

A financial asset and a financial 

liability are offset only when there 

is a legally enforceable right to set 

off the recognised amounts and an 

intention either to settle on a net 

basis, or to realise the asset and 

settle the liability simultaneously. 

Financial assets 

Basic financial assets include trade 

and other receivables, cash and 

cash equivalents, and investments 

in commercial paper (ie deposits 

and bonds). These assets are 

initially recognised at transaction 

price unless the arrangement 

constitutes a financing transaction, 

where the transaction is measured 

at the present value of the future 

receipts discounted at a market 

rate of interest. Such assets are 

subsequently carried at amortised 

cost using the effective interest 

rate method. Financial assets 

are assessed for indicators of 

impairment at each reporting date. 

If there is objective evidence of 

impairment, an impairment loss 

is recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income. 

For financial assets carried at 

amortised cost the impairment 

loss is the difference between the 

carrying amount of the asset and 

the present value of the estimated 

future cash flows, discounted at the 

asset’s original effective interest rate. 

Other financial assets, including 

investments in equity instruments 

which are not subsidiaries, 

associates, or joint ventures are 

initially measured at fair value, which 

is typically the transaction price. 

These assets are subsequently 

carried at fair value and changes 

in fair value at the reporting date 

are recognised in the Statement of 

Comprehensive Income. Where the 

investment in equity instruments 

are not publicly traded and where 

the fair value cannot be reliably 

measured, the assets are measured 

at cost less impairment. 

Financial assets are de-recognised 

when the contractual rights to the 

cash flows from the asset expire or 

are settled or substantially all of the 

risks and rewards of the ownership 

of the asset are transferred to 

another party. 

Financial liabilities 

Basic financial liabilities include trade 

and other payables, bank loans, and 

intra-group loans. These liabilities 

are initially recognised at transaction 

price unless the arrangement 

constitutes a financing transaction, 

where the debt instrument is 

measured at the present value of 

the future payments discounted 

at a market rate of interest. Debt 

instruments are subsequently carried 

at amortised cost using the effective 

interest rate method. 

Fees paid on the establishment 

of loan facilities are recognised as 

transaction costs of the loan to the 

extent that it is probable that some or 

all of the facility will be drawn down. 

Trade payables are obligations to 

pay for goods and services that have 

been acquired in the ordinary course 

of business from suppliers. Accounts 

payable are classified as current 

liabilities if payment is due within one 

year or less. If not, they are presented 

as non-current liabilities. Trade 

payables are recognised initially at 

transaction price and subsequently 

measured at amortised cost using 

the effective interest rate method. 

Financial liabilities are de-recognised 

when the liability is discharged, 

cancelled, or expires.

17. Provisions

Provisions are recognised in the 

financial statements when:

◼ the University has a present 

obligation (legal or constructive) as a 

result of a past event

◼ it is probable that an outflow of 

economic benefits will be required 

to settle the obligation

◼ a reliable estimate can be made of 

the amount of the obligation

Where material, the amount 

recognised as a provision is 

determined by discounting the 

expected future cash flows at a pre-

tax rate that reflects risks specific to 

the liability.

18. Accounting for joint operations, 

jointly controlled assets and jointly 

controlled operations

The University accounts for its share 

of joint ventures using the equity 

method.

The University accounts for its share 

of transactions from joint operations 

and jointly controlled assets in 

the Consolidated Statement of 

Comprehensive Income.

19. Taxation

Current tax, including UK corporation 

tax and foreign tax, is provided 

at amounts expected to be paid 

(or recovered) using the tax rates 

and laws that have been enacted 

or substantively enacted by the 

reporting date.

Deferred tax is provided in full on 

timing differences that exist at the 

reporting date and that result in 

an obligation to pay more tax, or a 

right to pay less tax in the future. 

The deferred tax is measured at the 

rate expected to apply in periods 

in which the timing differences are 

expected to reverse, based on the 

tax rates and laws that are enacted 

or substantively enacted at the 

reporting date. Unrelieved tax losses 

and other deferred tax assets shall 

be recognised only to the extent 

that it is probable that they will be 

recovered against the reversal of 

deferred tax liabilities or other 

future taxable profits. Deferred 

tax assets and liabilities are not 

discounted.

The University is an exempt 

charity within the meaning of 

Part 3 of the Charities Act 2011. 

It is therefore a charity within 

the meaning of Paragraph 1 

of Schedule 6 to the Finance 

Act 2010 and accordingly, the 

University is potentially exempt 

from UK corporation tax in 

respect of income or capital 

gains received within categories 

covered by Sections 478–488 

of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 

(CTA 2010) or Section 256 of the 

Taxation of Chargeable Gains 

Act 1992, to the extent that such 

income or gains are applied to 

exclusively charitable purposes.

The University receives no similar 

exemption in respect of Value 

Added Tax (VAT). Irrecoverable 

VAT on expenditure (revenue 

and capital) is included in the 

costs of such expenditure. Any 

irrecoverable VAT allocated to 

fixed assets is included in their 

cost.

The University’s subsidiary 

companies are subject to 

corporation tax and VAT in the 

same way as any commercial 

organisation.

20. Reserves

Reserves are classified as 

restricted or unrestricted. 

Restricted endowment reserves 

include balances which, through 

endowment to the University, are 

held as a permanently restricted 

fund which the University must 

hold in perpetuity. Other restricted 

reserves include balances where 

the donor has designated a 

specific purpose and therefore the 

University is restricted in the use 

of these funds.

21. Critical accounting estimates 

and judgements

The preparation of the University’s 

financial statements requires 

management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions 

that affect the application of 

accounting policies and reported 

amounts of assets and liabilities, 

income and expenses. These 

judgements, estimates and 

associated assumptions are 

based on historical experience 

and other factors, including 

expectations of future events that 

are believed to be reasonable 

under the circumstances. The 

resulting accounting estimates will, 

by definition, seldom equal the 

related actual results. Management 

considers the areas set out 

below to be those where critical 

accounting judgements have been 

applied and the resulting estimates 

and assumptions may lead to 

adjustments to the future carrying 

amounts of assets and liabilities: 

Pension schemes 

FRS 102 requires that certain 

assumptions are made in order 

to determine the amount to be 

recorded for retirement benefit 

obligations and pension plan 

assets for the University’s defined 

benefit plan, RBP. These are 

mainly actuarial assumptions 

such as discount rate, mortality 

rates and expected inflation rates. 

Differences arising from actual 

experience or future changes in 

assumptions will be reflected in 

future years. The key assumptions 

made and sensitivities are 

included in Note 28. 

FRS 102 makes the distinction 

between a group plan and a 

multi-employer scheme. A group 

plan consists of a collection of 

entities under common control 

typically with a sponsoring 

employer. A multi-employer 

scheme is a scheme for entities 

not under common control 

and represents (typically) an 

industry-wide scheme such as 

the Universities Superannuation 

Scheme. The accounting for a 

multi-employer scheme where 

the employer has entered into an 

agreement with the scheme that 

determines how the employer 

will fund a deficit, resulting in 

the recognition of a liability for 

the contributions payable that 

arise from the agreement (to 

the extent that they relate to the 

deficit) with the resulting expense 

recognised as expenditure in 

accordance with Section 28 of 

FRS 102. The University is satisfied 

that USS meets the definition of 

a multi-employer scheme and 

has therefore would recognise 

a provision for the discounted 

fair value of the contractual 

contributions under the recovery 

plan in existence at the year-end 

date. As the fund is in surplus no 

liability exists at the balance sheet 

date. 

Useful economic lives of tangible 

assets  

Intangible and tangible assets 

represent a significant proportion 

of the University’s total assets. 

The estimated useful lives can 

have a significant impact on the 

depreciation charged and the 

University’s reported performance. 

Useful lives are determined at 

the time the asset is acquired 

and reviewed regularly for 

appropriateness. The lives are 

based on historical experience 

with similar assets as well as 

anticipation of future events.  

Impairments  

Management makes judgements 

as to whether any indicators of 

impairment are present for any 

of the University’s assets. Where 

there is change of use, capital 

plans, damage or increased cost 

of development a calculation 

of the recoverable amount is 

undertaken and where required an 

impairment booked. This year the 

University booked an impairment 

as a result of vacant properties; 

this has resulted in a reduction in 

the land and building asset value 

of £6.9m. 
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Consolidated and University Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 July 2025

$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$$$

$ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1

AF;GE=$ F`eV$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

Mg[f[a`$XWWe$S`V$WVgUSf[a`$Ua`fdSUfe$ 1$ 208-1$ 211-3$ 2/3-2$ 2/6-3

?g`V[`Y$TaVk$YdS`fe$ 2$ 77-0$ 77-6$ 77-0$ 77-6

KWeWSdUZ$YdS`fe$S`V$Ua`fdSUfe$ 3$ 022-7$ 015-0$ 022-7$ 015-0

HfZWd$[`Ua_W$ 4$ 66-1$ 7/-2$ 62-0$ 7/-1

B`hWef_W`f$[`Ua_W$ 5$ 8-4$ 8-6$ 8-5$ 8-7

=a`Sf[a`e$S`V$W`Vai_W`fe$ 6$ 8-0$ 6-5$ 8-7$ 6-5

L̀ eR]$Z_T`^V$ $ 525-8$ 523-7$ 507-6$ 508-7

=PH=F<ALMJ=

LfSXX$Uaefe$TWXadW$NLL$bW`e[a`$^[ST[^[fk$ 7$ 263-0$ 254-1$ 255-0$ 245-7

FahW_W`f$[`$NLL$bW`e[a`$^[ST[^[fk$ 7$ q$ (040-/)$ q$ (040-/)

MafS^$efSXX$Uaefe$ $ 263-0$ 103-1$ 255-0$ 1/4-7

HfZWd$abWdSf[`Y$WjbW`eWe$ 8$ $111-6$ 124-6$ 103-8$ 117-2

=WbdWU[Sf[a`$ 02$ 26-5$ 23-6$ 25-5$ 23-0

B`fWdWef$S`V$afZWd$#`S`UW$Uaefe$ 0/$ 4-2$ 7-6$ 2-3$ 5-7

L̀ eR]$ViaV_UZefcV$ 00$ 528-6$ 382-2$ 510-/$ 364-/

'<V#TZe(,Kfca]fd$SVW`cV$`eYVc$XRZ_d,]`ddVd$R_U$dYRcV$`W$$

`aVcReZ_X$dfca]fd,UV#TZe$̀ W$[̀ Z_e$gV_efcVd$R_U$Rdd`TZReV$ $ (1-7)$ 030-4$ (1-2)$ 033-7

Eaee$a`$dWhS^gSf[a`$aX$[`hWef_W`fe$ 03$ (/-1)$ (/-4)$ q$ q

Eaee$a`$[_bS[d_W`f$aX$`a`,UgddW`f$SeeWfe$ 02$ (5-8)$ (1-3)$ (5-8)$ (1-3)

@S[`$a`$[`hWef_W`fe$ 5+$10$ 8-0$ 00-3$ 4-7$ 00-2

LZSdW$aX$egdb^ge$[`$\a[`f$hW`fgdWe$ 04$ /-3$ /-5$ q$ q

LZSdW$aX$egdb^ge$[`$SeeaU[SfW$ 05$ q$ q$ q$ q

'<V#TZe(,Kfca]fd$SVW`cV$eRi$ $ (/-3)$ 04/-5$ (2-3)$ 042-6

MSjSf[a`$ 01$ (/-1)$ (/-0)$ q$ q

'<V#TZe(,Kfca]fd$W`c$eYV$jVRc$ $ (/-5)$ 04/-4$ (2-3)$ 042-6

GL@=J$;GEHJ=@=FKAN=$AF;GE=

:UfgSd[S^$YS[`.(^aee)$[`$dWebWUf$aX$bW`e[a`$eUZW_We$ 17$ 03-/$ (0-4)$ 03-/$ (0-4)

L̀ eR]$T`^acVYV_dZgV$Z_T`^V$W`c$eYV$jVRc$ $ 02-3$ 038-/$ 0/-5$ 041-1

JVacVdV_eVU$Sj7$

>`Vai_W`f$Ua_bdWZW`e[hW$[`Ua_W$Xad$fZW$kWSd$ 10$ 2-4$ 6-6$ 2-4$ 6-6

KWefd[UfWV$Ua_bdWZW`e[hW$[`Ua_W$Xad$fZW$kWSd$ 11$ 0-4$ /-0$ 0-4$ /-0

N`dWefd[UfWV$Ua_bdWZW`e[hW$[`Ua_W$Xad$fZW$kWSd$ $ 7-3$ 030-1$ 4-5$ 033-3

9eecZSfeRS]V$e`$eYV$M_ZgVcdZej$ $ 02-3$ 038-/$ 0/-5$ 041-1

:^^$[fW_e$aX$[`Ua_W$S`V$WjbW`V[fgdW$Sd[eW$Xda_$Ua`f[`g[`Y$abWdSf[a`e-
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Consolidated and University Statement of Changes in Reserves 
for the year ended 31 July 2025

$ $ $ $ L̀ eR]$

$ $ $ $ ViT]fUZ_X$ F`_*$

$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$A_T`^V$R_U$ViaV_UZefcV$RTT`f_e$ $ _`_*T`_ec`]]Z_X$ T`_ec`]]Z_X$

$ =_U`h^V_e$ JVdecZTeVU$ M_cVdecZTeVU$ Z_eVcVde$ Z_eVcVde$ L̀ eR]

;GFKGDA<9L=<$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

:R]R_TV$Re$.$9fXfde$/-/0$ 76-0$ 0-1$ 255-4$ 343-7$ /-0$ 343-8

Lgdb^ge$Xad$fZW$kWSd$ 01-0$ 1-6$ 024-6$ 04/-4$ q$ 04/-4

HfZWd$Ua_bdWZW`e[hW$WjbW`V[fgdW$ q$ q$ (0-4)$ (0-4)$ q$ (0-4)

KW^WSeW$aX$W`Vai_W`f$S`V$ (3-3)$ (1-5)$ 6-/$ q$ q$ q$$

dWefd[UfWV$Xg`Ve$ebW`f

L̀ eR]$T`^acVYV_dZgV$$ 6-6$ /-0$ 030-1$ 038-/$ q$ 038-/$

Z_T`^V$W`c$eYV$jVRc

:R]R_TV$Re$.$9fXfde$/-/1$ 83-7$ 0-2$ 4/6-6$ 5/2-7$ /-0$ 5/2-8

Lgdb^ge.(VW#U[f)$Xad$fZW$kWSd$ 6-6$ 01-8$ (10-1)$ (/-5)$ q$ (/-5)

HfZWd$Ua_bdWZW`e[hW$[`Ua_W$ q$ q$ 03-/$ 03-/$ q$ 03-/

KW^WSeW$aX$W`Vai_W`f$S`V$$ (3-1)$ (00-3)$ 04-5$ q$ q$ q$

dWefd[UfWV$Xg`Ve$ebW`f

L̀ eR]$T`^acVYV_dZgV$Z_T`^V$ 2-4$ 0-4$ 7-3$ 02-3$ q$ 02-3$

W`c$eYV$jVRc

:R]R_TV$Re$0.$Bf]j$/-/2$ 87-2$ 1-7$ 405-0$ 506-1$ /-0$ 506-2

$ $ $ $ L̀ eR]$

$ $ $ $ ViT]fUZ_X$ F`_*$

$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$A_T`^V$R_U$ViaV_UZefcV$RTT`f_e$ $ _`_*T`_ec`]]Z_X$ T`_ec`]]Z_X$

$ =_U`h^V_e$ JVdecZTeVU$ M_cVdecZTeVU$ Z_eVcVde$ Z_eVcVde$ L̀ eR]

MFAN=JKALQ$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

:R]R_TV$Re$.$9fXfde$/-/0$ 76-0$ 0-1$ 275-5$ 363-8$ q$ 363-8

Lgdb^ge$Xad$fZW$kWSd$ 01-0$ 1-6$ 028-/$ 042-7$ q$ 042-7

HfZWd$Ua_bdWZW`e[hW$WjbW`V[fgdW$ q$ q$ (0-4)$ (0-4)$ q$ (0-4)

KW^WSeW$aX$W`Vai_W`f$S`V$$ (3-3)$ (1-5)$ 6-/$ q$ q$ q$

dWefd[UfWV$Xg`Ve$ebW`f

L̀ eR]$T`^acVYV_dZgV$$ 6-6$ /-0$ 033-4$ 041-2$ q$ 041-2$

Z_T`^V$W`c$eYV$jVRc

:R]R_TV$Re$.$9fXfde$/-/1$ 83-7$ 0-2$ 420-0$ 516-1$ q$ 516-1

=W#U[f$Xad$fZW$kWSd$ 6-6$ 01-8$ (12-7)$ (2-1)$ q$ (2-1)

HfZWd$Ua_bdWZW`e[hW$[`Ua_W$ q$ q$ 03-/$ 03-/$ q$ 03-/

KW^WSeW$aX$W`Vai_W`f$S`V$$ (3-1)$ (00-3)$ 04-3$ (/-1)$ q$ (/-1)$

dWefd[UfWV$Xg`Ve$ebW`f

L̀ eR]$T`^acVYV_dZgV$Z_T`^V$ 2-4$ 0-4$ 4-5$ 0/-5$ q$ 0/-5$

W`c$eYV$jVRc

:R]R_TV$Re$0.$Bf]j$/-/2$ 87-2$ 1-7$ 425-6$ 526-7$ q$ 526-7
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$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$$$

$ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ 'JVdeReVU($ $ 'JVdeReVU(

$ F`eV$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

FGF*;MJJ=FL$9KK=LK

MS`Y[T^W$SeeWfe$ 02$ 514-5$ 516-0$ 503-5$ 505-0$

B`hWef_W`fe$ 03$ 0/3-0$ 0//-5$ 0/7-/$ 0/1-4$

B`hWef_W`f$[`$\a[`f$hW`fgdWe$ 04$ /-7$ /-2$ q$ q$

B`hWef_W`f$[`$SeeaU[SfW$ 05$ q$ q$ q$ q

$ $ $ 62/-4$ 617-/$ 611-5$ 607-5

;MJJ=FL$9KK=LK

LfaU]e$[`$ZS`V$ $ 0-2$ 0-2$ 0-3$ 0-2$

MdSVW$S`V$afZWd$dWUW[hST^We$ 06$ 58-6$ 47-6$ 73-4$ 65-0$

LZadf,fWd_$^[cg[V$VWbae[fe$ $ 78-4$ 68-1$ 78-4$ 68-1$

<SeZ$S`V$USeZ$Wcg[hS^W`fe$ 12$ 0//-1$ 00/-4$ 74-5$ 87-6

$ $ $ 15/-6$ 138-6$ 150-/$ 144-2

;J=<ALGJK7$9EGMFLK$>9DDAF?$<M=$

OAL@AF$GF=$Q=9J$ 07$ (100-7)$ (1/2-/)$ (1/4-4)$ (085-7)

F=L$;MJJ=FL$9KK=LK$ $ 37-8$ 35-6$ 44-4$ 47-4

LGL9D$9KK=LK$D=KK$;MJJ=FL$DA9:ADALA=K$ $ 668-3$ 663-6$ 667-0$ 666-0

;J=<ALGJK7$9EGMFLK$>9DDAF?$<M=$

9>L=J$EGJ=$L@9F$GF=$Q=9J$ 08.1/$ (023-0)$ (020-8)$ (001-2)$ (000-2)

H=FKAGF$HJGNAKAGFK$ 1/$ (17-/)$ (27-5)$ (17-/)$ (27-5)

LGL9D$F=L$9KK=LK$ $ 506-2$ 5/3-1$ 526-7$ 516-1

J=KLJA;L=<$J=K=JN=K$

B`Ua_W$S`V$WjbW`V[fgdW$dWeWdhW$q$W`Vai_W`f$dWeWdhW$ 10$ 8/-6$ 76-3$ 8/-6$ 76-3$

B`Ua_W$S`V$WjbW`V[fgdW$dWeWdhW$q$dWefd[UfWV$dWeWdhW$ 11$ 1-7$ 0-2$ 1-7$ 0-2

MFJ=KLJA;L=<$J=K=JN=K$

B`Ua_W$S`V$WjbW`V[fgdW$dWeWdhW$q$W`Vai_W`f$dWeWdhW$ 10$ 6-5$ 6-3$ 6-5$ 6-3$

B`Ua_W$S`V$WjbW`V[fgdW$dWeWdhW$q$g`dWefd[UfWV$dWeWdhW$ $ 405-0$ 4/7-/$ 425-6$ 420-0

$ $ $ 506-1$ 5/3-0$ 526-7$ 516-1

FGFm;GFLJGDDAF?$AFL=J=KL$ $ /-0$ /-0$ q$ q

LGL9D$J=K=JN=K$ $ 506-2$ 5/3-1$ 526-7$ 516-1

MZW$SUUa_bS`k[`Y$efSfW_W`f$aX$bd[`U[bS^$SUUag`f[`Y$ba^[U[We$S`V$GafWe$0$fa$21$Xad_$bSdf$aX$fZWeW$#`S`U[S^$efSfW_W`fe-$

MZW$#`S`U[S^$efSfW_W`fe$iWdW$SbbdahWV$Tk$<ag`U[^$a`$00$=WUW_TWd$1/14$S`V$e[Y`WV$a`$[fe$TWZS^X$Tk9

%"+"&/="

.502#%4/7026689"/71"+92:5127;

$"(",<::266"

-92/:<929

)"("%86657:"

%4523"'57/705/6"*3!029

Consolidated and University Statement of Financial Position
as at 31 July 2025

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ $ 'JVdeReVU($

$ $ F`eV$ o^$ o^

;9K@$>DGO$>JGE$GH=J9LAF?$9;LANALA=K

(=W#U[f).Lgdb^ge$TWXadW$fSjSf[a`$ $ (/-3)$ 04/-5$

MSjSf[a`$ $ (/-1)$ (/-0)

(=W#U[f).Lgdb^ge$SXfWd$fSjSf[a`$ $ (/-5)$ 04/-4

9U[fde^V_e$W`c$_`_mTRdY$ZeV^d$

=WbdWU[Sf[a`$ 02$ 26-5$ 23-6$

@S[`$a`$[`hWef_W`fe$ $ (7-7)$ (0/-7)$

B`UdWSeW$[`$efaU]$ $ q$ /-0$

(B`UdWSeW).VWUdWSeW$[`$VWTfade$ $ (00-4)$ 3-/$

B`UdWSeW.(VWUdWSeW)$[`$UdWV[fade$ $ 8-5$ (02-7)$

B`UdWSeW$[`$afZWd$bdah[e[a`e$ 08+$1/$ 4-7$ q$

B`UdWSeW.(VWUdWSeW)$[`$bW`e[a`$bdah[e[a`$ 1/$ 2-3$ (036-6)$

LZSdW$aX$egdb^ge$[`$\a[`f$hW`fgdWe$ 04$ (/-3)$ (/-5)

9U[fde^V_e$W`c$Z_gVdeZ_X$`c$#_R_TZ_X$RTeZgZeZVd$

B`hWef_W`f$[`Ua_W$ $ (8-4)$ (8-6)$

B`fWdWef$bSkST^W$ $ 2-4$ 2-5$

>`Vai_W`f$[`Ua_W$ $ (0-/)$ q$

B_bS[d_W`f$aX$`a`,UgddW`f$SeeWfe$ $ 5-8$ 1-3$

<Sb[fS^$YdS`f$[`Ua_W$ $ (1-8)$ (7-7)

F=L$;9K@$AF>DGO$>JGE$GH=J9LAF?$9;LANALA=K$ $ 21-0$ 2-8

;9K@$>DGOK$>JGE$AFN=KLAF?$9;LANALA=K$

<Sb[fS^$YdS`fe$dWUW[bfe$ $ 1-8$ 7-7$

IdaUWWVe$Xda_$eS^W$aX$W`Vai_W`f$SeeWfe$$ $ 3-0$ 1-7$

ISk_W`fe$_SVW$fa$SUcg[dW$W`Vai_W`f$[`hWef_W`fe$$ $ 8-7$ q$

B`hWef_W`f$[`Ua_W$ $ q$ 8-8$

ISk_W`fe$_SVW$fa$SUcg[dW$fS`Y[T^W$SeeWfe$ $ (32-4)$ (34-2)$

GWi$[`hWef_W`f$[`$\a[`f$hW`fgdWe$S`V$SeeaU[SfW$$ $ (/-0)$ q$

(B`UdWSeW)$[`$eZadf,fWd_$^[cg[V$VWbae[fe$ $ (7-3)$ (23-8)

$ $ (24-1)$ (47-6)

;9K@$>DGOK$>JGE$>AF9F;AF?$9;LANALA=K$

B`fWdWef$bS[V$ 0/$ (0-5)$ (0-6)$

B`fWdWef$W^W_W`f$aX$#`S`UW$^WSeW$ $ (1-/)$ (0-7)$

>`Vai_W`f$USeZ$dWUW[hWV$ 10$ 0-/$ q$

KWbSk_W`fe$aX$S_ag`fe$TaddaiWV$ $ (3-0)$ (3-0)$

<Sb[fS^$W^W_W`f$aX$#`S`UW$^WSeW$ $ (/-4)$ (/-2)

$ $ (6-1)$ (6-8)

<=;J=9K=$AF$;9K@$9F<$;9K@$=IMAN9D=FLK$AF$L@=$Q=9J$ $ (0/-2)$ (51-6)

<SeZ$S`V$USeZ$Wcg[hS^W`fe$Sf$TWY[``[`Y$aX$fZW$kWSd$ 12$ 00/-4$ 062-1$

<SeZ$S`V$USeZ$Wcg[hS^W`fe$Sf$W`V$aX$fZW$kWSd$ 12$ 0//-1$ 00/-4
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 July 2025
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Notes to the Financial Statements

.$ KGMJ;=$G>$?J9FL$9F<$>==$AF;GE=$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ $MZW$eagdUW$aX$YdS`f$S`V$XWW$[`Ua_W+$$

[`U^gVWV$[`$GafWe$1$fa$2+$[e$Se$Xa^^aie9

$ @dS`f$[`Ua_W$Xda_$fZW$HX#UW$Xad$LfgVW`fe$ 21-8$ 18-6$ 21-8$ 18-6$

$ @dS`f$[`Ua_W$Xda_$afZWd$TaV[We$ 44-1$ 48-0$ 44-1$ 48-0$

$ ?WW$[`Ua_W$Xad$fSgYZf$SiSdVe$ 186-2$ 170-4$ 171-1$ 155-4$

$ ?WW$[`Ua_W$Xad$dWeWSdUZ$SiSdVe$ 07-/$ 21-1$ 06-8$ 21-1$

$ ?WW$[`Ua_W$Xda_$`a`,cgS^[Xk[`Y$UagdeWe$ 3-0$ 7-5$ 3-0$ 7-5

$ $ $ 3/6-4$ 300-0$ 281-2$ 285-0

/$ LMALAGF$>==K$9F<$=<M;9LAGF$;GFLJ9;LK$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ ?g^^,f[_W$efgVW`fe$ 060-8$ 060-1$ 060-8$ 060-1$

$ ?g^^,f[_W$efgVW`fe$UZSdYWV$ahWdeWSe$XWWe+$ND$fSgYZf$ 011-6$ 013-8$ 011-6$ 013-8$

$ ?g^^,f[_W$efgVW`fe$UZSdYWV$ahWdeWSe$XWWe+$ahWdeWSe$fSgYZf$ 03-8$ 03-8$ q$ q$

$ ISdf,f[_W$XWWe$ 1-2$ 1-7$ 1-2$ 1-7$

$ KWeWSdUZ$fdS[`[`Y$egbbadf$YdS`fe$ 2-3$ 3-6$ 2-3$ 3-6$

$ LZadf$UagdeWe$ 3-/$ 2-8$ 3-/$ 2-7

$ $ 208-1$ 211-3$ 2/3-2$ 2/6-3

0$ >MF<AF?$:G<Q$?J9FLK$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ KWUgddW`f$YdS`f$ 6/-7$ 60-2$ 6/-7$ 60-2$

$ LbWU[#U$YdS`fe$ 8-5$ 0/-4$ 8-5$ 0/-4$

$ <Sb[fS^$B`hWef_W`f$?dS_Wiad]$(<B?)$YdS`fe$ 6-6$ 5-8$ 6-6$ 5-8

$ $ 77-0$ 77-6$ 77-0$ 77-6

$ $?g`V[`Y$iSe$bdah[VWV$Tk$fZW$HX#UW$Xad$LfgVW`fe$S`V$KWeWSdUZ$>`Y^S`V-

1$ J=K=9J;@$?J9FLK$9F<$;GFLJ9;LK$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ KWeWSdUZ$Uag`U[^e$ 35-2$ 32-1$ 35-2$ 32-1$

$ ND$UZSd[f[We$ 15-0$ 16-1$ 15-0$ 16-1$

$ ND$YahWd`_W`f$ 28-0$ 22-0$ 28-0$ 22-0$

$ >gdabWS`$<a__[ee[a`$ 1-4$ 4-2$ 1-4$ 4-2$

$ HfZWd$YdS`fe$S`V$Ua`fdSUfe$ 08-7$ 06-2$ 08-7$ 06-2

$ $ 022-7$ 015-0$ 022-7$ 015-0
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2$ GL@=J$GH=J9LAF?$AF;GE=$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ KWe[VW`UWe+$USfWd[`Y$S`V$Ua`XWdW`UWe$ 08-/$ 11-8$ 08-/$ 11-8$

$ HfZWd$eWdh[UWe$dW`VWdWV$ 11-2$ 12-3$ 11-2$ 12-3$

$ AWS^fZ$SgfZad[f[We$ 8-4$ 0/-/$ 8-4$ 0/-/$

$ HfZWd$USb[fS^$YdS`fe$ 2-4$ /-0$ q$ q$

$ HfZWd$[`Ua_W$ 11-8$ 12-8$ 10-8$ 12-0$

$ B`Ua_W$Xda_$egTe[V[Sdk$Ua_bS`[We$ q$ q$ /-3$ /-7

$ $ 66-1$ 7/-2$ 62-0$ 7/-1

3$ AFN=KLE=FL$AF;GE=$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ B`hWef_W`f$[`Ua_W$a`$W`Vai_W`fe$(GafW$10)$ /-8$ /-6$ /-8$ /-6$

$ HfZWd$[`hWef_W`f$[`Ua_W$ 7-5$ 8-/$ 7-6$ 8-0

$ $ 8-4$ 8-6$ 8-5$ 8-7

$ @S[`$a`$eS^W$aX$[`hWef_W`fe$$ 2-2$ q$ q$ q

$ $ 01-7$ 8-6$ 8-5$ 8-7

4$ <GF9LAGFK$9F<$=F<GOE=FLK$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ GWi$W`Vai_W`fe$`Wf$aX$fdS`eXWde$agf$Xda_$WjbW`VST^W$$

$ W`Vai_W`fe$(GafW$10)$ 0-/$ q$ 0-/$ q$

$ =a`Sf[a`e$i[fZ$dWefd[Uf[a`e$ 7-/$ 6-5$ 7-/$ 6-5$

$ N`dWefd[UfWV$Va`Sf[a`e$ /-0$ q$ /-7$ q

$ $ 8-0$ 6-5$ 8-7$ 6-5

5$ KL9>>$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ KeRWW$T`ded o^ £m £m £m

$ LS^Sd[We$ 177-0$ 165-4$ 170-/$ 158-/$

$ LaU[S^$eWUgd[fk$Uaefe$ 20-8$ 18-3$ 20-5$ 17-4$

$ HfZWd$bW`e[a`$Uaefe$(GafW$17)$ 41-4$ 50-0$ 40-8$ 50-0$

$ K;I$bW`e[a`$eWdh[UW$Uaef$SV\gef_W`f$(GafW$1/)$ 0-5$ (0-7)$ 0-5$ (0-7)

$ L̀ eR]$SVW`cV$MKK$aV_dZ`_$RU[fde^V_ed$ 263-0$ 254-1$ 255-0$ 245-7$

$ <dWV[f$fa$efSXX$Uaefe$Se$S$dWeg^f$aX$NLL$bW`e[a`$bdah[e[a`$(GafW$1/)$ q$ (040-/)$ q$ (040-/)

$ $ $ 263-0$ 103-1$ 255-0$ 1/4-7

$ $PW$bS[V$S$fafS^$aX$s0/-0_$fa$283$Ua^^WSYgWe$[`$dWebWUf$aX$^aee$aX$aX#UW$(1/12q139$s4-6_$fa$167$Ua^^WSYgWe)-$?gdfZWd$SgV[fWV$

[`Xad_Sf[a`$S`V$V[eU^aegdWe$Se$dWcg[dWV$Tk$fZW$HXL$:UUag`fe$V[dWUf[a`$SdW$[`U^gVWV$[`$fZW$KW_g`WdSf[a`$KWbadf$a`$bSYWe$34q38-

$ KeRWW$_f^SVcd$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ $$$$$$$$$$$9gVcRXV$>L=d$ 9gVcRXV$>L=d

$ :USVW_[U$ $ $0+728$$ $0+744$$

$ Lgbbadf$ $ $2+166$$ $2+242$$

$ KWeWSdUZ$ $ $826$$ $823$

$ $ $ $5+/42$$ $5+031$
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

6$ GL@=J$GH=J9LAF?$=PH=FK=K$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ IdaXWee[a`S^$XWWe$S`V$TagYZf,[`$eWdh[UWe$ 47-5$ 52-1$ 46-3$ 48-8$

$ LfSXX,dW^SfWV$WjbW`V[fgdW$ 08-7$ 16-2$ 08-/$ 15-5$

$ LfgVW`f$eUZa^SdeZ[be+$TgdeSd[We$S`V$bd[lWe$ 20-/$ 16-5$ 2/-8$ 16-4$

$ <a`eg_ST^We$S`V$^STadSfadk$WjbW`V[fgdW$ 07-3$ 10-7$ 07-1$ 10-4$

$ Ga`,USb[fS^[eWV$Wcg[b_W`f$bgdUZSeWe$S`V$_S[`fW`S`UW$ 05-8$ 06-4$ 05-4$ 06-0$

$ HbWdSf[`Y$^WSeW$dW`fS^e$q$^S`V$S`V$Tg[^V[`Ye$$ 4-8$ 5-6$ 4-8$ 5-5$

$ KW`fe+$dSfWe$S`V$[`egdS`UW$ 03-8$ 4-5$ 03-/$ 3-7$

$ AWSf+$^[YZf+$iSfWd$S`V$baiWd$ 04-1$ 08-3$ 03-7$ 08-0$

$ ;g[^V[`Y$_S[`fW`S`UW$ 01-/$ 03-6$ 00-8$ 03-5$

$ ;aa]e$S`V$bWd[aV[US^e$ 6-4$ 6-3$ 6-4$ 6-2$

$ GAL$S`V$SYW`Uk$efSXX$ 5-6$ 5-5$ 5-6$ 5-5$

$ <a__g`[USf[a`e+$SVhWdf[e[`Y$S`V$bgT^[U[fk$ 2-/$ 2-3$ 1-6$ 2-1$

$ LfgVW`fen$N`[a`$S``gS^$egThW`f[a`$$ 1-7$ 2-5$ 1-7$ 2-5$

$ HfZWd$WjbW`V[fgdW$ 0/-/$ 0/-8$ 5-5$ 8-8

$ $ $ 111-6$ 124-6$ 103-8$ 117-2

$ $IdaXWee[a`S^$XWWe$S`V$TagYZf,[`$eWdh[UWe$[`U^gVW$SgV[fadne$dW_g`WdSf[a`$[`$dWebWUf$aX$SgV[f$eWdh[UWe$Xad$fZW$@dagb$aX$s270+401$

fa$=W^a[ffW$EEI$(1/13$dWefSfWV9$s478+453$fa$>d`ef$'$Rag`Y$EEI)$S`V$Xad$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$aX$s250+401$(1/13$dWefSfWV9$s427+773$fa$

>d`ef$'$Rag`Y$EEI)$Se$iW^^$Se$s63+36/$(1/139$s42+35/)$Xad$@dagb$Ua_ba`W`f$SgV[fe$fa$:lWfe$:gV[f$LWdh[UWe$S`V$@dS`f$MZad`fa`-$

B`$dWebWUf$aX$`a`,SgV[f$eWdh[UWe+$dW_g`WdSf[a`$bdah[VWV$fa$=W^a[ffW$S_ag`fWV$fa$s13+///$(1/13$dWefSfWV9$s1/+/3/$fa$>d`ef$'$

Rag`Y$EEI)$S`V$fa$:lWfe$:gV[f$LWdh[UWe$S_ag`fWV$fa$s4+115$(1/139$s1+445)$Xad$fZW$@dagb$S`V$N`[hWde[fk-

.-$ AFL=J=KL$9F<$GL@=J$>AF9F;=$;GKLK$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ EaS`$[`fWdWef$ 0-5$ 0-6$ 0-5$ 0-6$

$ ?[`S`UW$^WSeW$[`fWdWef$ 0-8$ 0-8$ q$ q$

$ GWf$UZSdYW$a`$bW`e[a`$eUZW_We$(GafW$17)$ 0-7$ 4-0$ 0-7$ 4-0

$ $ 4-2$ 7-6$ 2-3$ 5-7

1.$ 9F9DQKAK$G>$=PH=F<ALMJ=$:Q$9;LANALQ$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<

$ $ $ GeYVc$ $ A_eVcVde$R_U$

$ $ KeRWW$ GaVcReZ_X$ $ GeYVc$>Z_R_TV$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ ;`ded$ =iaV_dVd$ <VacVTZReZ`_$ ;`ded$ L̀ eR]$ L̀ eR]$

$ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ :USVW_[U$eUZaa^e$ 1/1-/$ 22-0$ 3-2$ q$ 128-3$ 138-7$

$ :USVW_[U$eWdh[UWe$ 2/-/$ 22-4$ /-4$ q$ 53-/$ 58-0$

$ :V_[`[efdSf[a`$S`V$UW`fdS^$eWdh[UWe$ 31-4$ 45-0$ /-0$ q$ 87-6$ 0/0-8$

$ IdW_[eWe$ 02-3$ 40-4$ 11-6$ 0-8$ 78-4$ 71-0$

$ KWe[VW`UWe+$USfWd[`Y$S`V$Ua`XWdW`UWe$ 2-6$ 6-5$ 2-6$ q$ 04-/$ 07-6$

$ KWeWSdUZ$YdS`fe$S`V$Ua`fdSUfe$ 52-7$ 30-7$ q$ q$ 0/4-5$ 86-0$

$ HfZWd$WjbW`V[fgdW$ 07-6$ (/-8)$ 5-2$ 2-3$ 16-4$ (014-3)

$ MafS^$ 263-0$ 111-6$ 26-5$ 4-2$ 528-6$ 382-2

$ $:V_[`[efdSf[a`$S`V$UW`fdS^$eWdh[UWe$S`V$dWeWSdUZ$YdS`fe$S`V$Ua`fdSUfe$[`U^gVW$s13-6_$(1/139$s14-0_)$S`V$s2-1_$(1/139$s1-3_)$

dWebWUf[hW^k$Xad$bSk_W`fe$aX$TgdeSd[We+$bd[lWe+$eUZa^SdeZ[be$ad$afZWd$e[_[^Sd$SiSdVe-

$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ

$ $ $ GeYVc$ $ A_eVcVde$R_U$

$ $ KeRWW$ GaVcReZ_X$ $ GeYVc$>Z_R_TV$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ ;`ded$ =iaV_dVd$ <VacVTZReZ`_$ ;`ded$ L̀ eR]$ L̀ eR]$

$ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ :USVW_[U$eUZaa^e$ 083-/$ 18-1$ 2-2$ q$ 115-4$ 124-/$

$ :USVW_[U$eWdh[UWe$ 2/-/$ 22-4$ /-4$ q$ 53-/$ 58-0$

$ :V_[`[efdSf[a`$S`V$UW`fdS^$eWdh[UWe$ 31-4$ 45-/$ /-0$ q$ 87-5$ 0/0-8$

$ IdW_[eWe$ 02-3$ 36-4$ 11-6$ q$ 72-5$ 67-7$

$ KWe[VW`UWe+$USfWd[`Y$S`V$Ua`XWdW`UWe$ 2-6$ 6-5$ 2-6$ q$ 04-/$ 07-6$

$ KWeWSdUZ$YdS`fe$S`V$Ua`fdSUfe$ 52-7$ 30-7$ q$ q$ 0/4-5$ 86-0$

$ HfZWd$WjbW`V[fgdW$ 07-6$ (/-6)$ 5-2$ 2-3$ 16-6$ (014-5)

$ MafS^$ 255-0$ 103-8$ 25-5$ 2-3$ 510-/$ 364-/

$ $:V_[`[efdSf[a`$S`V$UW`fdS^$eWdh[UWe$S`V$dWeWSdUZ$YdS`fe$S`V$Ua`fdSUfe$[`U^gVW$s13-6_$(1/139$s14-0_)$S`V$s2-1_$(1/139$s1-3_)$

dWebWUf[hW^k$Xad$bSk_W`fe$aX$TgdeSd[We+$bd[lWe+$eUZa^SdeZ[be$ad$afZWd$e[_[^Sd$SiSdVe-

12 L9PATION                                                                                             CONSOLIDATED                       UNIVERSITY

2025 2024 2025 2024

£m £m £m £m

$ FS^Ske[S`$UadbadSf[a`$fSj$Sf$13&$ /-1$ /-0$ q$ q$

$ FS^Ske[S`$i[fZZa^V[`Y$fSj$Sf$7&$ q$ /-0$ q$ /-0

$ $ /-1$ /-0$ q$ /-0

ncl.ac.uk 67

N
o

te
s

 to
 th

e
 F

in
a

n
c

ia
l S

ta
te

m
e

n
ts



Integrated Annual Report 2024–2025

O
U

R
 V

IS
IO

N
 A

N
D

 S
T

R
A

T
E

G
Y

Integrated Annual Report 2024–2025

68

13 TANGIBLE ASK=TS                                                                                CONSOLIDATED 

Land and Buildings

      Leasehold Assets under

Freehold Long Short Construction Equipment Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

$ ;`de

$ ;S^S`UW$Sf$0$:gYgef$1/13$ 542-5$ 047-8$ 10-4$ 80-0$ 0/6-/$ 0+/21-0$

$ :VV[f[a`e$ q$ q$ q$ 26-0$ 5-3$ 32-4$

$ ?adW[Y`$WjUZS`YW$dWfdS`e^Sf[a`$ q$ (/-1)$ q$ q$ q$ (/-1)$

$ MdS`eXWde$Xda_$SeeWfe$g`VWd$Ua`efdgUf[a`$ 75-1$ q$ q$ (75-1)$ q$ q$

$ =[ebaeS^e$ q$ q$ q$ q$ (01-8)$ (01-8)

$ ;S^S`UW$Sf$20$Cg^k$1/14$ 628-7$ 047-6$ 10-4$ 31-/$ 0//-4$ 0+/51-4

$ <VacVTZReZ`_$

$ ;S^S`UW$Sf$0$:gYgef$1/13$ 1/1-2$ 84-6$ 04-1$ q$ 80-7$ 3/4-/$

$ <ZSdYW$Xad$kWSd$ 11-4$ 3-0$ /-6$ q$ 0/-2$ 26-5$

$ >^[_[`SfWV$a`$V[ebaeS^e$ q$ q$ q$ q$ (01-5)$ (01-5)$

$ B_bS[d_W`f$ 5-8$ q$ q$ q$ q$ 5-8

$ ;S^S`UW$Sf$20$Cg^k$1/14$ 120-6$ 88-7$ 04-8$ q$ 78-4$ 325-8

$ FVe$:``\$NR]fV$

$ :f$20$Cg^k$1/14$ 4/7-0$ 47-8$ 4-5$ 31-/$ 00-/$ 514-5

$ :f$0$:gYgef$1/13$ 340-2$ 52-1$ 5-2$ 80-0$ 04-1$ 516-0

$ $:f$20$Cg^k$1/14+$XdWWZa^V$^S`V$S`V$Tg[^V[`Ye$[`U^gVWV$s63-7_$(1/139$s66-3_)$[`$dWebWUf$aX$XdWWZa^V$^S`V$iZ[UZ$[e$`af$

VWbdWU[SfWV-$MZW$`Wf$Taa]$hS^gW$aX$SeeWfe$ZW^V$g`VWd$#`S`UW$^WSeWe$Sf$20$Cg^k$1/14$[e$s02-0_$(1/139$s02-1_)$S`V$fZW$dW^SfWV$

VWbdWU[Sf[a`$UZSdYW$Xad$fZW$kWSd$iSe$s/-7_$(1/139$s/-6_)-$B_bS[d_W`fe$SdW$dWUaY`[eWV$[`$afZWd$abWdSf[`Y$WjbW`V[fgdW-$s0_$aX$

Ydagb$:eeWfe$g`VWd$<a`efdgUf[a`$SdW$[`hWef_W`f$bdabWdfk-

                                                                                                                        UNIVERSITY 

Land and Buildings

       Leasehold Assets under

Freehold Long Short Construction Equipment Total

£m £m £m £m £m £m

$ ;`de$

$ ;S^S`UW$Sf$0$:gYgef$1/13$ 541-4$ 026-2$ 08-3$ 80-/$ 0/4-/$ 0+//4-1$

$ :VV[f[a`e$ q$ q$ q$ 25-0$ 5-1$ 31-2$

$ ?adW[Y`$WjUZS`YW$dWfdS`e^Sf[a`$ q$ q$ q$ q$ q$ q$

$ MdS`eXWde$Xda_$SeeWfe$g`VWd$Ua`efdgUf[a`$ 75-1$ q$ q$ (75-1)$ q$ q$

$ =[ebaeS^e$ q$ q$ q$ q$ (01-8)$ (01-8)

$ ;S^S`UW$Sf$20$Cg^k$1/14$ 627-6$ 026-2$ 08-3$ 3/-8$ 87-2$ 0+/23-5

$ <VacVTZReZ`_$

$ ;S^S`UW$Sf$0$:gYgef$1/13$ 087-5$ 76-3$ 02-5$ q$ 78-4$ 278-0$

$ <ZSdYW$Xad$kWSd$ 11-3$ 2-2$ /-6$ q$ 0/-1$ 25-5$

$ >^[_[`SfWV$a`$V[ebaeS^e$ q$ q$ q$ q$ (01-5)$ (01-5)$

$ B_bS[d_W`f$ 5-8$ q$ q$ q$ q$ 5-8

$ ;S^S`UW$Sf$20$Cg^k$1/14$ 116-8$ 8/-6$ 03-2$ q$ 76-0$ 31/-/

$ FVe$:``\$NR]fV$

$ :f$20$Cg^k$1/14$ 40/-7$ 35-5$ 4-0$ 3/-8$ 00-1$ 503-5

$ :f$0$:gYgef$1/13$ 342-8$ 38-8$ 4-7$ 80-/$ 04-4$ 505-0

$ $MZW$N`[hWde[fk$Za^Ve$S$`g_TWd$aX$Ua^^WUf[a`e+$WjZ[T[fe$S`V$SdfWXSUfe$VWW_WV$fa$TW$ZWd[fSYW$SeeWfe$fZSf$SdW$`af$USb[fS^[eWV$Se+$VgW$

fa$fZW[d$g`[cgW$`SfgdW+$dW^[ST^W$[`Xad_Sf[a`$a`$Uaef$ad$hS^gSf[a`$[e$`af$dWSV[^k$ShS[^ST^W$a`$S$Uaef,TW`W#f$TSe[e-$MZ[e$[e$ai[`Y$fa$fZW$

^SU]$aX$[`Xad_Sf[a`$a`$ad[Y[`S^$bgdUZSeW$Uaef$S`V$fZW$XSUf$fZSf$fZWeW$SeeWfe$SdW$`af$dWSV[^k$dWS^[eST^W-$:^^$Uaefe$[`UgddWV$[`$dW^Sf[a`$

fa$bdWeWdhSf[a`$S`V$Ua`eWdhSf[a`$SdW$WjbW`eWV$Se$[`UgddWV-$DWk$ZWd[fSYW$SeeWfe$ZW^V$Tk$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$XS^^$[`fa$fZW$USfWYad[We$

VWfS[^WV$TW^ai-$MZW[d$fafS^$hS^gW$Xad$[`egdS`UW$bgdbaeWe$a`^k$[e$s02_+$fZ[e$[e$TSeWV$a`$[`Xad_S^$hS^gSf[a`e$Tk$UgdSfade$iZa$ZShW$

dWeba`e[T[^[fk$ahWd$ebWU[S^[eWV$SdWSe$aX$fZW$Ua^^WUf[a`e-

$ $ASffa`$@S^^Wdk$ZageWe$S$V[hWdeW$Sdfe$Ua^^WUf[a`$aX$ahWd$2+///$iad]e$Xda_$fZW$03fZq1/fZ$UW`fgd[We$i[fZ$WjfW`e[hW$SdUZ[hW$_SfWd[S^$

[`U^gV[`Y$bS[`f[`Ye+$eUg^bfgdW+$bd[`fe+$VdSi[`Ye$S`V$fWjf[^We+$S`V$_SfWd[S^$Ua``WUfWV$fa$fZW$Z[efadk$aX$fZW$@S^^Wdk-

$ ?ad$_adW$VWfS[^e$eWW$hhh+_`ceYVRde^fdVf^d+`cX+f\,YRee`_

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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13 TANGIBLE ASK=TS$'T`_eZ_fVU(

$ $@dWSf$GadfZ$FgeWg_9$AS`UaU]$ZageWe$S`V$V[eb^Ske$S$i[VW$dS`YW$aX$Ua^^WUf[a`e$UahWd[`Y$`SfgdS^$Z[efadk+$SdUZSWa^aYk+$S`V$iad^V$

Ug^fgdWe-$Bf$[`U^gVWe$WjfW`e[hW$`SfgdS^$eU[W`UW$ebWU[_W`e$egUZ$Se$Xaee[^e+$S`[_S^e$S`V$_[`WdS^e+$Se$iW^^$Se$`afST^W$SdUZSWa^aYk$

Ua^^WUf[a`e$XWSfgd[`Y$SdfWXSUfe$Xda_$:`U[W`f$>Ykbf+$@dWWUW$S`V$Ka_S`$;d[fS[`+$[`U^gV[`Y$V[eb^Ske$a`$ASVd[S`ne$PS^^-$La_W$aX$fZW$

Ua^^WUf[a`e$[`$fZW$_geWg_$TW^a`Y$fa$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk+$afZWde$TW^a`Y$fa$fZW$GSfgdS^$A[efadk$LaU[Wfk$aX$GadfZg_Td[S$S`V$fZW$

LaU[Wfk$aX$:`f[cgSd[We$aX$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W-

$ ?ad$_adW$VWfS[^e$eWW$hhh+_`ceYVRde^fdVf^d+`cX+f\,XcVRe_`ceY^fdVf^

$ GadfZ$>Sef$FgeWg_e$_S`SYWe$S`V$abWdSfWe$fZW$YS^^Wdk$S`V$_geWg_$a`$TWZS^X$aX$fZW$N`[hWde[fk-

14 NON–CURRENT INVESTMENTS                                                       CONSOLIDATED                       UNIVERSITY

2025 2024 2025 2024

£m £m £m £m
$ LZSdWe$[`$egTe[V[Sdk$g`VWdfS][`Ye$Sf$Uaef$^Wee$S_ag`fe$id[ffW`$aXX

$ :e$Sf$0$:gYgef$ q$ q$ 2-6$ 2-6$

$ :VV[f[a`e$[`$fZW$kWSd$ q$ q$ 0-7$ q

$ :e$Sf$20$Cg^k$ q$ q$ 4-4$ 2-6

$ HfZWd$[`hWef_W`fe$afZWd$fZS`$^aS`e$Sf$Uaef$

$ :f$0$:gYgef$$ 1-0$ 1-1$ /-2$ /-2$

$ :VV[f[a`e$[`$fZW$kWSd$ 1-/$ q$ 1-/$ q$

$ Eaee$a`$dWhS^gSf[a`$aX$[`hWef_W`fe$ (/-1)$ (/-4)$ q$ q$

$ HfZWd$_ahW_W`fe$[`$kWSd$ q$ /-3$ q$ q

$ :e$Sf$20$Cg^k$ 2-8$ 1-0$ 1-2$ /-2

$ >cg[f[We$S`V$`a`,Wcg[fk$[`hWef_W`fe$dW^Sf[`Y$fa$W`Vai_W`fe$ 0//-1$ 87-4$ 0//-1$ 87-4

$ MafS^$#jWV$SeeWf$[`hWef_W`fe$ 0/3-0$ 0//-5$ 0/7-/$ 0/1-4

$ KYRcVd$Z_$dfSdZUZRcj$f_UVceR\Z_Xd$

$ $=WfS[^e$aX$fZW$Ua_bS`[We$[`$iZ[UZ$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$Za^Ve$S`$[`fWdWef$SdW$Se$Xa^^aie9

$ $ $$ @`]UZ_X$`W$

$ $ ;`f_ecj$`W$$ GcUZ_Rcj$

$ FR^V$`W$;`^aR_j$ JVXZdecReZ`_$ KYRcVd$%$$ FRefcV$`W$:fdZ_Vdd

$ GNFWV$FS^Ske[S$LV`$;ZV$ FS^Ske[S$ 0//$ $Idah[e[a`$aX$fWdf[Sdk$UagdeWe$XaUge[`Y$a`$_WV[US^$

WVgUSf[a`$[`$FS^Ske[S-

$ GWiUSef^W$Id[_Sdk$S`V$LbWU[S^[ef$<SdW$$ FS^Ske[S$ q$ :$Ua_bS`k$bdah[V[`Y$_WV[US^$eWdh[UWe-$

$ <^[`[U$LV`$;ZV

$ GNB`fWd`Sf[a`S^$L[`YSbadW$bfW$E[_[fWV$ L[`YSbadW$ 0//$ <a^^STadSf[hW$fWSUZ[`Y$S`V$dWeWSdUZ$[`$L[`YSbadW-

$ $GWiUSef^W$KWeWSdUZ$'$B``ahSf[a`$ L[`YSbadW$ 0//$ IaefYdSVgSfW$fWSUZ[`Y$S`V$dWeWSdUZ$[`$L[`YSbadW-$

B`ef[fgfW$bfW$E[_[fWV

$ GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$Aa^V[`Ye$E[_[fWV$ >`Y^S`V$S`V$PS^We$ 0//$ HbWdSfWe$Se$S$Za^V[`Y$Ua_bS`k$a`^k-

$ GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$OW`fgdWe$E[_[fWV$ >`Y^S`V$S`V$PS^We$ 0//$ $Idah[VWe$egbbadf$Xad$fZW$Ua__WdU[S^$VWhW^ab_W`f$

aX$dWeWSdUZ$S`V$Ua`eg^fS`Uk-

$ GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$=WhW^ab_W`fe$E[_[fWV$ >`Y^S`V$S`V$PS^We$ 0//$ Idah[VWe$Ua`efdgUf[a`$eWdh[UWe$fa$fZW$N`[hWde[fk-

$ $GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$IW`e[a`$MdgefWW$$ >`Y^S`V$S`V$PS^We$ 0//$ Idah[VWe$S$UadbadSfW$fdgefWWeZ[b$Xad$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$$

(0860)$E[_[fWV$$ $ $ KWf[dW_W`f$;W`W#fe$I^S`-

$ GWiUSef^W$BL<$E[_[fWV$$ >`Y^S`V$S`V$PS^We$ 0//$ $:Ufe$Se$S$Za^V[`Y$Ua_bS`k$Xad$BGMH$GWiUSef^W$

N`[hWde[fk$EEI$S`V$BGMH"GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$

Ea`Va`$EEI-

$ GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$<a`efdgUf[a`$ >`Y^S`V$S`V$PS^We$ 0//$ Idah[VWe$Ua`efdgUf[a`$eWdh[UWe$fa$fZW$N`[hWde[fk-$$

$ <a_bS`k$E[_[fWV

$ GNBGMH$E[_[fWV$$ >`Y^S`V$S`V$PS^We$ 40$ Idah[VWe$fZW$fWSUZ[`Y$aX$>`Y^[eZ$^S`YgSYW$e][^^e-

$ OHB<>$BfS^[S$L-K-E-$B_bdWeS$LaU[S^W$ BfS^k$ 6/$ $Idah[VWe$Ua__g`[fk$W`YSYW_W`f$fa$fZW$SYW[`Y$

babg^Sf[a`$[`$BfS^k-

$ MZW$dWY[efWdWV$SVVdWee$Xad$S^^$egTe[V[Sd[We$dWY[efWdWV$[e9

$ >`Y^S`V$S`V$PS^We9$D[`Yne$@SfW+$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W+$N`[fWV$D[`YVa_$G>0$6KN

$ $L[`YSbadW9$061:$:`Y$Fa$D[a$:hW`gW$7$%/4q/0+$LBM$;g[^V[`Y$Sf$GS`kS`Y$Ia^kfWUZ`[U+$L[`YSbadW$456628

$ $FS^Ske[S9$Lg[fW$02/0+$02fZ$?^aad+$<[fk$I^SlS+$CS^S`$MWTdSg+$7/2//$CaZad$;SZdg+$CaZad$=Sdg^$MS]l[_+$FS^Ske[S

$ BfS^k9$F[^S`a$O[S$Fa`fW$KaeS+$08.;$<Sb$1/038+$BfS^k
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

.1$ FGFm;MJJ=FL$AFN=KLE=FLK$'T`_eZ_fVU($

$ M_ZgVcdZej$^V^SVcdYZa$Z_$T`^aR_ZVd$]Z^ZeVU$Sj$XfRcR_eVV7

$ MZW$KgeeW^^$@dagb

$ N`[hWde[f[We$ND

$ GadfZ$>Sef$N`[hWde[f[We$IgdUZSe[`Y$<a`eadf[g_$(G>NI<)

$ <W`fdW$Xad$B``ahSf[a`$>jUW^^W`UW$[`$E[hWefaU]

$ <W`fdW$Xad$<dab$AWS^fZ$S`V$IdafWUf[a`

$ AWS^fZ$B``ahSf[a`$GadfZ$>Sef$:`V$GadfZ$<g_Td[S$E[_[fWV

$ GWiUSef^W$G>0$E[_[fWV

Other investments other than loans

 Voting Rights                    CONSOLIDATED                       UNIVERSITY

% 2025 2024 2025 2024

£m £m £m £m

$ <O<I$IdabWdf[We$IE<$ 0-1$ /-2$ /-2$ /-2$ /-2$

$ HfZWd$Wcg[fk$[`hWef_W`fe$ OSdk[`Y$ 1-/$ q$ 1-/$ q

$ $ $ 1-2$ /-2$ 1-2$ /-2

$ FR^V$`W$;`^aR_j,JVXZdeVcVU$GW#TV$ FRefcV$`W$:fdZ_Vdd$

$ <O<I$IdabWdf[We$IE<$ HbWdSf[a`$PaTgd`$AageW+$<W`fdS^$Ea`Va`$gf[^[eWV$Tk$$

$ PaTgd`$AageW+$1/$MSh[efaU]$LcgSdW+$Ea`Va`$P<0A$8AJ$$ A[YZWd$>VgUSf[a`$LWUfad$adYS`[eSf[a`e-

$ $MZW$N`[hWde[fk$ZSe$V[dWUf$_[`ad$eZSdWZa^V[`Ye$[`$S$`g_TWd$aX$afZWd$Ua_bS`[We-$MZW$N`[hWde[fk$[`hWefe$s1-/_$[`$S`$Wcg[fk$Xg`V$

_S`SYWV$Tk$S`$WjfWd`S^$[`hWef_W`f$_S`SYWd$S`V$V[dWUf^k$Za^Ve$fia$^[efWV$eb[`,agf$[`hWef_W`fe$iZ[UZ$SdW$V[eU^aeWV-$MZW$

N`[hWde[fk$S^ea$Za^Ve$[`fWdWefe$[`$g`^[efWV$eb[`,agfe+$iZ[UZ$SdW$`af$_SfWd[S^$fa$fZWeW$#`S`U[S^$efSfW_W`fe--$$

.2$ AFN=KLE=FL$AF$BOINL$N=FLMJ=K

$ $ $@`]UZ_X$`W$

$ ;`^aR_j,JVXZdeVcVU$GW#TV$ GcUZ_Rcj$KYRcVd$%$$ FRefcV$`W$:fdZ_Vdd

$ BGMH$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$EEI$ 38$ :$\a[`f$hW`fgdW$TWfiWW`$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$S`V$BGMH$N`[hWde[fk$$

$ H`W$@^agUWefWd$I^SUW+$;d[YZfa`+$ $ ISdf`WdeZ[be$E[_[fWV-$MZW$Ua_bS`kne$bd[`U[bS^$SUf[h[fk$[e$fZW$bdah[e[a`$$

$ N`[fWV$D[`YVa_$;G0$3::$ $ $aX$bdW,N`[hWde[fk$WVgUSf[a`$S`V$dWe[VW`f[S^$SUUa__aVSf[a`$Xad$

[`fWd`Sf[a`S^$efgVW`fe-

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$EEI$ 4/$ :$\a[`f$hW`fgdW$TWfiWW`$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$S`V$GWiUSef^W$<[fk$<ag`U[^-$$

$ D[`Yne$@SfW+$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W+$ $ MZW$Ua_bS`kne$bd[`U[bS^$SUf[h[fk$[e$fZW$eS^W$S`V$^WSeW$aX$^S`V$Xad$fZW$

$ N`[fWV$D[`YVa_$G>0$6KN$ $ VWhW^ab_W`f$aX$fZW$GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$e[fW$[`$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W-

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$FS`SYW_W`f$EEI$ 4/$ :$\a[`f$hW`fgdW$TWfiWW`$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$S`V$GWiUSef^W$<[fk$<ag`U[^-$$

$ D[`Yne$@SfW+$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W+$$ $ MZW$Ua_bS`kne$bd[`U[bS^$SUf[h[fk$[e$fZW$eS^W$S`V$^WSeW$aX$^S`V$Xad$fZW$

$ N`[fWV$D[`YVa_$G>0$6KN$ $ VWhW^ab_W`f$aX$fZW$GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$e[fW$[`$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W-

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$=WhW^ab_W`fe$EEI$ 22$ :$\a[`f$hW`fgdW$TWfiWW`$fZW$N`[hWde[fk+$GWiUSef^W$<[fk$<ag`U[^$S`V$

$ D[`Yne$@SfW+$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W+$$ $ EWYS^$'$@W`WdS^$iZ[UZ$S[_e$fa$_Sd]Wf$fZW$GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$e[fW$fa$

$ N`[fWV$D[`YVa_$G>0$6KN$ $ UdWSfW$S$Y^aTS^$UW`fdW$Xad$gdTS`$[``ahSf[a`$[`$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W-

$ GWiUSef^W$@W`d7$DS\[_S$EEI$ 4/$ :$\a[`f$hW`fgdW$TWfiWW`$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$S`V$@W`d7$DS\[_S$KWYW`WdSf[a`$$

$ N`[fWV$D[`YVa_$P<1A$7:I$ $ (GWiUSef^W)$E[_[fWV-$MZW$Ua_bS`kne$bd[`U[bS^$SUf[h[fk$[e$fZW$VWhW^ab_W`f$$

$ $ $ aX$fZW$AWS^fZ$B``ahSf[a`$GW[YZTagdZaaV$[`$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W-$

$ N`[fW$GWiUSef^W$Ida\WUf$EI$ 4/$ :$Ua_bS`k$eWf$gb$Se$bSdf$aX$fZW$bdabaeWV$\a[`f$hW`fgdW$TWfiWW`$$

$ LagfZ$JgSk+$MW_b^W$;SU]+$;d[efa^+$ $ fZW$N`[hWde[fk$S`V$N`[fW$LfgVW`fe$E[_[fWV-$MZW$Ua_bS`k$[e$UgddW`f^k$$

$ N`[fWV$D[`YVa_$;L0$5?E$ $ Vad_S`f-$

71

.2$ AFN=KLE=FL$AF$BOINL$N=FLMJ=K$'T`_eZ_fVU(

$ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ o^$ o^

$ KYRcV$`W$`aVcReZ_X$dfca]fd,'UV#TZe(7$

$ BGMH$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$EEI$ $ /-4$ /-6$

$ GWiUSef^W$@W`d7$DS\[_S$EEI$ $ q$ q$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$EEI$ $ q$ q$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$FS`SYW_W`f$EEI$ $ q$ q$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$=WhW^ab_W`fe$EEI$ $ (/-0)$ (/-0)

$ $ $ /-3$ /-5

$ KYRcV$`W$Xc`dd$RddVed7$

$ BGMH$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$EEI$ $ 6-5$ 7-0$

$ GWiUSef^W$@W`d7$DS\[_S$EEI$ $ q$ q$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$EEI$ $ 1-4$ 1-4$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$FS`SYW_W`f$EEI$ $ 4-6$ 4-5$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$=WhW^ab_W`fe$EEI$ $ 0-0$ /-8

$ $ $ 05-8$ 06-0

$ KYRcV$`W$Xc`dd$]ZRSZ]ZeZVd7$

$ BGMH$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$EEI$ $ (6-/)$ (7-/)$

$ GWiUSef^W$@W`d7$DS\[_S$EEI$ $ (/-0)$ (/-0)$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$EEI$ $ (1-3)$ (1-3)$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$FS`SYW_W`f$EEI$ $ (4-3)$ (4-3)$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$=WhW^ab_W`fe$EEI$ $ (0-0)$ (/-8)

$ $ $ (05-/)$ (05-7)

$ KYRcV$`W$_Ve$RddVed,']ZRSZ]ZeZVd(7$

$ BGMH$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$EEI$ $ /-5$ /-0$

$ GWiUSef^W$@W`d7$DS\[_S$EEI$ $ (/-0)$ (/-0)$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$EEI$ $ /-0$ /-0$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$FS`SYW_W`f$EEI$ $ /-2$ /-1$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$=WhW^ab_W`fe$EEI$ $ (/-0)$ q

$ $ $ /-7$ /-2

.3$ $AFN=KLE=FL$AF$9KKG;A9L=

$ $ $@`]UZ_X$

$ $ `W$GcUZ_Rcj$

$ ;`^aR_j,JVXZdeVcVU$GW#TV$ KYRcVd$%$$ FRefcV$`W$:fdZ_Vdd

$ Mk`W$IdWeegdW$MWef[`Y$E[_[fWV$ 38$ Id[`U[bS^$SUf[h[fk$[e$fZW$UdWSf[a`$aX$S$<W`fdW$aX$>jUW^^W`UW$Xad$$

$ 00$@^SeeZageW$Lf+$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W+$$ $ AkbWdTSd[U$MWef[`Y$[`$fZW$GWiUSef^W$SdWS-$

$ Mk`W$S`V$PWSd$G>5$0;L

$ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ o^$ o^

$ LZSdW$aX$abWdSf[`Y$VW#U[f$ $ q$ q

$ LZSdW$aX$Ydaee$SeeWfe$ $ 1-3$ 1-3$

$ LZSdW$aX$Ydaee$^[ST[^[f[We$ $ (1-3)$ (1-3)

$ LZSdW$aX$`Wf$SeeWfe$ $ q$ q
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

.4$ LJ9<=$9F<$GL@=J$J=;=AN9:D=K$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

£m £m £m £m

$ KWeWSdUZ$YdS`fe$dWUW[hST^We$ 16-6$ 14-/$ 16-6$ 14-/$

$ HfZWd$fdSVW$dWUW[hST^We$ 07-5$ 07-2$ 06-4$ 08-8$

$ :_ag`fe$aiWV$Tk$egTe[V[Sdk$g`VWdfS][`Ye$ q$ q$ 06-/$ 05-8$

$ IdWbSk_W`fe$S`V$SUUdgWV$[`Ua_W$ 11-4$ 02-7$ 10-3$ 02-5$

$ HfZWd$VWTfade$ /-8$ 0-5$ /-8$ /-6

$ $ 58-6$ 47-6$ 73-4$ 65-0

.5$ ;J=<ALGJK7$9EGMFLK$>9DDAF?$<M=$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ OAL@AF$GF=$Q=9J$ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ HT^[YSf[a`e$g`VWd$#`S`UW$^WSeWe$(GafW$16)$ 0-7$ 1-0$ q$ q$

$ ?[jWV,fWd_+$g`eWUgdWV$^aS`e$ 3-0$ 3-2$ 3-0$ 3-2$

$ KWeWSdUZ$Ua^^STadSfad$UdWV[fade$ 26-4$ 36-/$ 26-4$ 36-/$

$ HfZWd$UdWV[fade$ 01-5$ 00-6$ 00-1$ 8-2$

$ LaU[S^$eWUgd[fk$S`V$afZWd$fSjSf[a`$bSkST^W$ 0/-2$ 8-4$ 0/-3$ 8-3$

$ :UUdgS^e$S`V$VWXWddWV$[`Ua_W$ 034-4$ 017-3$ 031-2$ 015-7

$ $ 100-7$ 1/2-/$ 1/4-4$ 085-7

$ <VWVccVU$Z_T`^V$

$ $B`U^gVWV$i[fZ[`$SUUdgS^e$S`V$VWXWddWV$[`Ua_W$SdW$fZW$Xa^^ai[`Y$[fW_e$aX$[`Ua_W$iZ[UZ$ZShW$TWW`$VWXWddWV$g`f[^$ebWU[#U$

bWdXad_S`UW,dW^SfWV$Ua`V[f[a`e$ZShW$TWW`$_Wf-

$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ KWeWSdUZ$YdS`fe$dWUW[hWV$a`$SUUag`f$ 54-/$ 44-5$ 54-/$ 44-5$

$ Mg[f[a`$XWWe$S`V$WVgUSf[a`$Ua`fdSUfe$ 6-/$ 5-1$ 6-/$ 5-1$

$ ?g`V[`Y$TaVk$YdS`fe$ 0-6$ /-7$ 0-6$ /-7$

$ HfZWd$[`Ua_W$ 08-2$ 00-5$ 08-2$ 00-5$

$ =a`Sf[a`e$ q$ /-5$ q$ /-5

$ $ 82-/$ 63-7$ 82-/$ 63-7

.6$ ;J=<ALGJK7$9EGMFLK$>9DDAF?$<M=$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ 9>L=J$EGJ=$L@9F$GF=$Q=9J$ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ ?[jWV,fWd_+$g`eWUgdWV$^aS`e$ 71-4$ 75-5$ 71-4$ 75-5$

$ :UUdgS^e$S`V$VWXWddWV$[`Ua_W$ 13-/$ 13-6$ 13-/$ 13-6$

$ =[^Sb[VSf[a`$bdah[e[a`$(GafW$1/)$ 4-7$ q$ 4-7$ q$

$ HT^[YSf[a`e$g`VWd$#`S`UW$^WSeWe$(GafW$16)$ 10-7$ 1/-5$ q$ q

$ $ 023-0$ 020-8$ 001-2$ 000-2

$ $<VWVccVU$Z_T`^V$

B`U^gVWV$i[fZ[`$SUUdgS^e$S`V$VWXWddWV$[`Ua_W$SdW$fia$[fW_e$aX$VWXWddWV$[`Ua_W-$MZW$#def$TW[`Y$s01-1_$(1/139$s01-8_)$aX$

[`Ua_W$[`$dW^Sf[a`$fa$fZW$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$;ge[`Wee$LUZaa^$^WSeW+$iZ[UZ$ZSe$TWW`$VWXWddWV$ahWd$fZW$VgdSf[a`$aX$fZW$^WSeW-$MZW$

eWUa`V$TW[`Y$s7-5_$(1/139$s8-/_)$dW^Sf[`Y$fa$S$15,kWSd$YgSdS`fWW$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$bdah[VWV$fa$a`W$aX$fZW$N`[hWde[fkne$\a[`f$hW`fgdW$

g`VWdfS][`Ye$ahWd$XgfgdW$[`Ua_W$efdWS_e-$B`$WjUZS`YW$Xad$fZ[e$YgSdS`fWW$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$dWUW[hWV$S$USeZ$bdW_[g_$aX$s0/-4_$

iZ[UZ$ZSe$TWW`$VWXWddWV$ahWd$fZW$^[XW$aX$fZW$YgSdS`fWW-

ncl.ac.uk 73

$ $ $ $$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$

$ $ $ $ $=WWVTeZgV$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$9F<$MFAN=JKALQ$

.6$ ;J=<ALGJK7$9EGMFLK$>9DDAF?$<M=$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$A_eVcVde$JReV$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ 9>L=J$EGJ=$L@9F$GF=$Q=9J$'T`_eZ_fVU($ $ $ %$ o^$ o^

$ MZW$#jWV,fWd_$g`eWUgdWV$^aS`e$SdW$dWbSkST^W$

$ [`$SUUadVS`UW$i[fZ$fZW$Xa^^ai[`Y$bda#^W9

$ B`XdSefdgUfgdW$S`V$dWXgdT[eZ_W`f$^aS`$VgW$i[fZ[`$a`W$kWSd$ $ 0-8$ 3-/$ 3-/$

$ AWSf$GWfiad]e$B`hWef_W`f$Ida\WUf$^aS`$VgW$i[fZ[`$a`W$kWSd$$ $ /-1$ /-0$ /-0

$ >ZiVU*eVc^)$f_dVTfcVU$]`R_d$cVaRjRS]V$hZeYZ_$`_V$jVRc$'F`eV$.5($ $ $ 3-0$ 3-0$

$ B`XdSefdgUfgdW$S`V$dWXgdT[eZ_W`f$^aS`$VgW$SXfWd$a`W$kWSd$$

$ Tgf$`af$_adW$fZS`$#hW$kWSde$ $ 0-8$ 05-/$ 05-/$

$ AWSf$GWfiad]e$B`hWef_W`f$Ida\WUf$^aS`$VgW$SXfWd$a`W$kWSd$$

$ Tgf$`af$_adW$fZS`$#hW$kWSde$ $ /-1$ /-3$ /-3$

$ B`XdSefdgUfgdW$S`V$dWXgdT[eZ_W`f$^aS`$VgW$SXfWd$_adW$fZS`$#hW$kWSde$ $ 0-8$ 53-/$ 57-/$

$ AWSf$GWfiad]e$B`hWef_W`f$Ida\WUf$^aS`$VgW$SXfWd$_adW$fZS`$#hW$kWSde$ $ /-1$ 1-0$ 1-1

$ >ZiVU*eVc^)$f_dVTfcVU$]`R_d$cVaRjRS]V$RWeVc$^`cV$eYR_$`_V$jVRc$ $ $ 71-4$ 75-5

$ $ $ $ $75-5$ 8/-6$

/-$ HJGNAKAGFK$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$9F<$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ $ $ J:H$UV#_VU$

$ $ $ $ $ SV_V#e$

$ $ $ $ $ `S]ZXReZ`_$

$ $ $ $ $ 'F`eV"/5($

$ HV_dZ`_$ac`gZdZ`_$ $ $ $ o^

$ :f$0$:gYgef$1/13$ $ $ 27-5$

$ B`UdWSeW$[`$efSXX$Uaefe$ $ $ 0-5$

$ IW`e[a`$#`S`UW$[`fWdWef$UZSdYW$ $ $ 0-7$

$ :UfgSd[S^$YS[`$ $ $ (03-/)

$ HT^[YSf[a`$Sf$20$Cg^k$1/14$(GafW$17)$ $ $ 17-/

$ $ $ $ $ DVRdVY`]U$

$ $ $ $ $ $UZ]RaZUReZ`_$

$ $ $ $ $ 'F`eV".6($

$ <Z]RaZUReZ`_$ac`gZdZ`_$ $ $ $ o^

$ :f$0$:gYgef$1/13$ $ $ q$

$ Nf[^[eWV$[`$kWSd$ $ $ q$

$ :VV[f[a`e$[`$kWSd$ $ $ 4-7

$ Idah[e[a`$Sf$20$Cg^k$1/14$(GafW$08)$ $ $ 4-7

$ =[^Sb[VSf[a`$bdah[e[a`e$dW^SfW$fa$Uaefe$fa$dWefadW$Tg[^V[`Ye$ZW^V$g`VWd$^a`Y,fWd_$^WSeWe$TSU]$fa$fZW[d$ad[Y[`S^$efSfW-

N
o

te
s

 to
 th

e
 F

in
a

n
c

ia
l S

ta
te

m
e

n
ts



Integrated Annual Report 2024–2025

O
U

R
 V

IS
IO

N
 A

N
D

 S
T

R
A

T
E

G
Y

74

/.$ =F<GOE=FL$J=K=JN=K$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$9F<$MFAN=JKALQ

$ $ M_cVdecZTeVU$ JVdecZTeVU$ JVdecZTeVU$ JVdecZTeVU$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ aVc^R_V_e$ aVc^R_V_e$ ViaV_URS]V$ L̀ eR]$ L̀ eR]$ L̀ eR]$

$ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ :f$0$:gYgef$$

$ <Sb[fS^$ 1-5$ 07-/$ 06-/$ 24-/$ 26-5$ 26-5$

$ N`Sbb^[WV$dWfgd`$ 3-7$ 22-7$ 07-5$ 41-3$ 46-1$ 38-4

$ $ 6-3$ 40-7$ 24-5$ 76-3$ 83-7$ 76-0

$ GWi$W`Vai_W`fe$ q$ /-5$ /-3$ 0-/$ 0-/$ q$

$ MdS`eXWd$agf$Xda_$WjbW`VST^W$W`Vai_W`fe$ q$ q$ q$ q$ q$ q$

$ B`UdWSeW.(VWUdWSeW)$[`$_Sd]Wf$hS^gW$aX$[`hWef_W`fe$ /-3$ 2-1$ 1-1$ 4-3$ 4-7$ 00-3$

$ B`Ua_W$ /-0$ /-4$ /-2$ /-7$ /-8$ /-6$

$ >jbW`V[fgdW$ (/-2)$ (1-/)$ (0-8)$ (2-8)$ (3-1)$ (3-3)

$ $ /-1$ 1-2$ 0-/$ 2-2$ 2-4$ 6-6

$ $ 6-5$ 43-0$ 25-5$ 8/-6$ 87-2$ 83-7

$ :f$20$Cg^k$

$ <Sb[fS^$$ 1-5$ 07-5$ 06-3$ 25-/$ 27-5$ 26-6$

$ N`Sbb^[WV$dWfgd`$ 4-/$ 24-4$ 08-1$ 43-6$ 48-6$ 46-0

$ $ 6-5$ 43-0$ 25-5$ 8/-6$ 87-2$ 83-7

$ 9_R]jdZd$Sj$ejaV$`W$afca`dV$

$ :USVW_[U$q$<ZS[de+$?W^^aieZ[be+$EWUfgdWeZ[b$$

$ S`V$EWUfgdWe$ q$ 21-8$ 2-7$ 25-6$ 25-6$ 24-7$

$ <Sb[fS^$$ q$ q$ /-0$ /-0$ /-0$ /-0$

$ HfZWd$ 6-5$ 3-2$ 4-/$ 8-2$ 05-8$ 05-2$

$ I@$SiSdVe$ q$ 6-7$ 5-8$ 03-6$ 03-6$ 03-4$

$ N@$SiSdVe$q$LUZa^SdeZ[be$S`V$TgdeSd[We$ q$ 2-7$ 8-7$ 02-5$ 02-5$ 01-5$

$ KWeWSdUZ$ q$ 4-/$ 8-/$ 03-/$ 03-/$ 02-2$

$ MdShW^$SiSdVe$ q$ /-2$ 1-/$ 1-2$ 1-2$ 1-1

$ $ 6-5$ 43-0$ 25-5$ 8/-6$ 87-2$ 83-7

$

$ 9_R]jdZd$Sj$RddVe$

$ >cg[f[We$ $ $ $ $ 73-3$ 71-1$

$ Ga`,Wcg[fk$[`hWef_W`fe$ $ $ $ $ 04-6$ 05-1$

$ HfZWd$UgddW`f$TS^S`UWe$ $ $ $ $ (0-7)$ (2-5)

$ $ $ $ $ $ 87-2$ 83-7

22 RESTRICL=< RESERVES$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$9F<$MFAN=JKALQ

$ $ $ ;RaZeR]$ GeYVc$

$ $ $XcR_ed$R_U$ XcR_ed$R_U$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $U`_ReZ`_d$ U`_ReZ`_d$ L̀ eR]$ L̀ eR]$

$ KWeWdhWe$i[fZ$dWefd[Uf[a`e$SdW$Se$Xa^^aie9$ $ £m £m £m £m

$ ;S^S`UWe$Sf$0$:gYgef$1/13$ $ q$ 0-2$ 0-2$ 0-1

$ GWi$YdS`fe$ $ 2-0$ 0-6$ 3-7$ q$

$ GWi$Va`Sf[a`e$ $ q$ 7-0$ 7-0$ 1-6$

$ <Sb[fS^$YdS`fe$gf[^[eWV$ $ (2-0)$ q$ (2-0)$ q$

$ >jbW`V[fgdW$ $ q$ (7-2)$ (7-2)$ (1-5)

$ MafS^$dWefd[UfWV$Ua_bdWZW`e[hW$[`Ua_W$Xad$fZW$kWSd$ $ q$ 0-4$ 0-4$ /-0

$ :f$20$Cg^k$1/14$ $ q$ 1-7$ 1-7$ 0-2
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/0$ ;9K@$9F<$;9K@$=IMAN9D=FLK$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ $ 'JVdeReVU($ $ 'JVdeReVU($

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ <SeZ$Sf$TS`]$S`V$[`$ZS`V$ 71-1$ 56-1$ 56-5$ 44-3$

$ <SeZ$Wcg[hS^W`fe$ 07-/$ 32-2$ 07-/$ 32-2

$ $ 0//-1$ 00/-4$ 74-5$ 87-6

$ $MZW$N`[hWde[fk$Za^Ve$e[Y`[#US`f$eZadf,fWd_$^[cg[V$VWbae[fe+$s78-4_$(1/139$s68-1_$(dWefSfWV))$fZSf$SdW$WSe[^k$dWUahWdST^W$[`$USeZ$

Tgf$Va$`af$_WWf$fZW$Ud[fWd[S$aX$USeZ$Wcg[hS^W`fe-$MZW$N`[hWde[fk$S^ea$ZSe$SUUWee$fa$S$s64_$dWha^h[`Y$UdWV[f$XSU[^[fk$i[fZ$E^akVe$

;S`]-$MZW$N`[hWde[fk$ZSe$`af$SUUWeeWV$fZ[e$XSU[^[fk$Vgd[`Y$fZW$dWbadf[`Y$bWd[aV-$B`$kWSd$iW$ZShW$dWh[WiWV$S`V$gbVSfWV$agd$fdWSegdk$

ba^[U[We$S`V$S^[Y`WV$agd$U^See[#USf[a`$aX$USeZ+$USeZ$Wcg[hS^W`fe$S`V$eZadf$fWd_$[`hWef_W`fe$fa$dW!WUf$fZW$fWUZ`[US^$dWcg[dW_W`fe$

aX$?KL0/1$dSfZWd$fZS`$_S[`^k$dW!WUf[`Y$fZW$bgdbaeW$Xad$iZ[UZ$fZW$Xg`Ve$iWdW$ZW^V-$:e$S$dWeg^f+$fZW$bd[ad$bWd[aV$ZSe$TWW`$dWefSfWV-$

MZW$WXXWUf$aX$fZW$dWefSfW_W`f$iSe$fa$dWU^See[Xk$s13-5_$aX$eZadf$fWd_$^[cg[V$VWbae[fe$Se$USeZ$S`V$s32-2_$Se$USeZ$Wcg[hS^W`fe-$MZW$

dWh[eWV$[`fWdbdWfSf[a`$[e$Ua`e[VWdWV$fa$TW$_adW$dW!WUf[hW$aX$agd$d[e]$_S`SYW_W`f$ba^[U[We-

$$ $B`U^gVWV$i[fZ[`$fZW$efSfW_W`f$aX$USeZ$!aie+$fZW$dWefSfW_W`f$VWUdWSeWe$fZW$_ahW_W`f$[`$USeZ$S`V$USeZ$Wcg[hS^W`fe$Tk$s56-8_+$

[`UdWSe[`Y$fZW$U^ae[`Y$TS^S`UW$aX$USeZ$S`V$USeZ$Wcg[hS^W`fe$Tk$s32-2$_$S`V$_ahW_W`f$[`$eZadf$fWd_$^[cg[V$VWbae[fe$Tk$s51-5_-$

B`U^gVWV$i[fZ[`$`afW$12+$fZW$dWefSfW_W`f$[`UdWSeWe$USeZ$Sf$TS`]$S`V$[`$ZS`V$Tk$s13-5_$S`V$[`UdWSeWe$USeZ$Wcg[hS^W`fe$Tk$

s32-2_-$B`U^gVWV$i[fZ[`$`afW$13+$fZW$dWefSfW_W`f$[`UdWSeWe$USeZ$S`V$USeZ$Wcg[hS^W`fe$Tk$s56-8_$S`V$dWVgUWe$eZadf$fWd_$

[`hWef_W`fe$Tk$s56-8_-$MZW$[_bSUfe$`afWV$SdW$fZW$eS_W$TWfiWW`$N`[hWde[fk$S`V$Ua`ea^[VSfWV$bae[f[a`e-

/1$ ;GFKGDA<9L=<$J=;GF;ADA9LAGF$G>$F=L$;9K@$ $$ 9e$.$9fXfde$ ;RdY$ GeYVc$9e$0.$Bf]j$

$ $ $ /-/1$'JVdeReVU($$$ !`hd$ ;YR_XVd$ /-/2$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ <SeZ$S`V$USeZ$Wcg[hS^W`fe$ 00/-4$ (0/-2)$ q$ 0//-1$

$ LZadf,fWd_$[`hWef_W`fe$ 68-1$ 0/-2$ q$ 78-4$

$ =WTf$VgW$i[fZ[`$a`W$kWSd$ (3-0)$ 3-0$ (3-0)$ (3-0)$

$ =WTf$VgW$SXfWd$a`W$kWSd$ (75-5)$ q$ 3-0$ (71-4)$

$ ?[`S`UW$^WSeWe$VgW$i[fZ[`$a`W$kWSd$ (1-0)$ q$ /-2$ (0-7)$

$ ?[`S`UW$^WSeWe$VgW$SXfWd$a`W$kWSd$ (1/-6)$ q$ (0-1)$ (10-8)

$ $ 65-1$ 3-0$ (/-8)$ 68-3

/2$ ;9HAL9D$;GEEALE=FLK$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$9F<$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ $ $ o^$ o^

$ <a__[f_W`fe$Ua`fdSUfWV$Sf$20$Cg^k$$ $ $ 02-7$ 08-/

/3$ ;GFLAF?=FL$DA9:ADALA=K

$ $B`$1/13+$iW$W`fWdWV$[`fa$S$Ua`fdSUf$i[fZ$N`[fW$efgVW`fe$fa$dWVWhW^ab$fZW$<Sef^W$EWSlWe$efgVW`f$SUUa__aVSf[a`-$LgT\WUf$fa$

_WWf[`Y$bda\WUf$_[^Wefa`We+$S$\a[`f$hW`fgdW$TWfiWW`$fZW$fia$bSdf[We$i[^^$TW$Xad_WV$fa$VWhW^ab$S`V$egTeWcgW`f^k$_S`SYW$fZW$

SUUa__aVSf[a`-$BX$fZW$_[^Wefa`We$SdW$`af$_Wf+$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$i[^^$TW$^[ST^W$Xad$fZW$VW_a^[f[a`+$VWe[Y`$S`V$W`ST^[`Y$Uaefe$

[`UgddWV$a`$fZW$<Sef^W$EWSlWe$e[fW$fa$VSfW-$MZW$Uaefe$Sffd[TgfST^W$fa$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$Sf$fZW$TS^S`UW$eZWWf$VSfS$SdW$Wef[_SfWV$

fa$TW$s07_-$:f$fZW$dWbadf[`Y$VSfW$fZW$bda\WUf$Ua`f[`gWV$S`V$[f$[e$WjbWUfWV$fZSf$fZW$\a[`f$hW`fgdW$i[^^$Xad_$[`$adVWd$fa$VWhW^ab$S`V$

egTeWcgW`f^k$_S`SYW$fZW$SUUa__aVSf[a`-
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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/4$D=9K=$G:DA?9LAGFK$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$ $$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$

$ $ $ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ :_ag`fe$VgW$g`VWd$#`S`UW$^WSeWe9$ $ $ $ o^$ o^

$ :_ag`fe$bSkST^W9$

$ P[fZ[`$a`W$kWSd$ $ $ 0-7$ 1-0$

$ B`$fia$fa$#hW$kWSde$ $ $ 8-3$ 8-1$

$ B`$_adW$fZS`$#hW$kWSde$ $ $ 21-/$ 20-5

$ $ $ $ 32-1$ 31-8$

$ EWee9$#`S`UW$UZSdYWe$S^^aUSfWV$fa$XgfgdW$bWd[aVe$$$ $ $ (08-4)$ (1/-1)

$ $ $ $ 12-6$ 11-6

$ MZW$fafS^$aX$XgfgdW$_[`[_g_$^WSeW$bSk_W`fe$g`VWd$`a`,US`UW^^ST^W$abWdSf[`Y$^WSeWe$[e$Se$Xa^^aie9

$ $ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ EWSeW$bSkST^W9$ $ $ o^$ o^

$ B`$a`W$kWSd$ $ $ 4-7$ 4-4$

$ B`$fia$fa$#hW$kWSde$ $ $ 14-2$ 13-0$

$ HhWd$#hW$kWSde$ $ $ 0/3-1$ 0/7-/

$ $ $ $ 024-2$ 026-5

/5$ H=FKAGF$9JJ9F?=E=FLK

$ $MZW$N`[hWde[fk$bSdf[U[bSfWe$[`$fia$_S[`$bW`e[a`$eUZW_We+$fZW$KWf[dW_W`fe$;W`W#fe$I^S`$(0860)$(K;I)$S`V$N`[hWde[f[We$

LgbWdS``gSf[a`$LUZW_W$E[_[fWV$(NLL)-$

$ $MZW$N`[hWde[fk$S^ea$ZSe$S$e_S^^$`g_TWd$aX$efSXX$[`$fZW$GSf[a`S^$AWS^fZ$LWdh[UW$IW`e[a`$LUZW_W$(GALIL)$S`V$[`$GWef$

(fZW"@ahWd`_W`fne$Sgfa$W`da^_W`f$eUZW_W)-$MZW$fafS^$Uaef$aX$GALIL$iSe$$s2-3_$(1/139$s1-4_)-$$

MZW$fafS^$Uaef$aX$GWef$iSe$s/-2_$(1/139$s/-2_)-

$ MZW$fafS^$bW`e[a`$Uaef$Xad$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$iSe9$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^

$ <a`fd[Tgf[a`e$fa$NLL$ $ 32-0$ 38-3$

$ <a`fd[Tgf[a`e$fa$K;I$$ $ 5-/$ 7-8$

$ <a`fd[Tgf[a`e$fa$afZWd$bW`e[a`$eUZW_We$ $ 2-3$ 1-7

$ HfZWd$bW`e[a`e$Uaef$(GafW$7)$ $ 41-4$ 50-0$

$ <dWV[f$fa$efSXX$Uaefe$Se$S$dWeg^f$aX$NLL$bW`e[a`$bdah[e[a`$ $ q$ (040-/)$

$ K;I$bW`e[a`$eWdh[UW$Uaef$SV\gef_W`f$ $ 0-5$ (2-0)

$ :V_[`[efdSf[a`$Uaefe$ $ 0-7$ 0-3

$ IW`e[a`e$Uaefe$[`U^gVWV$[`$efSXX$(UdWV[f).Uaef$$ $ 44-8$ (80-5)$

$ IW`e[a`$#`S`UW$[`fWdWef$[`Ua_W$(GafW$5)$ $ q$ q$

$ IW`e[a`$#`S`UW$[`fWdWef$Uaef$(GafW$0/)$ $ 0-7$ 4-0

$ IW`e[a`$Uaef$[`U^gV[`Y$bW`e[a`$#`S`UW$[`fWdWef$ $ 46-6$ (75-4)$

$ :UfgSd[S^$^aee.(YS[`)$dW^Sf[`Y$fa$fZW$K;I$bW`e[a`$eUZW_W$$ $ (03-/)$ 0-4

$ MafS^$bW`e[a`$(UdWV[f).Uaef$$ $ 32-6$ (74-/)

$ J:H

$ $K;I$[e$S`$>jW_bf$:bbdahWV$LUZW_W$g`VWd$fZW$?[`S`UW$:Uf$086/-$Bf$[e$WefST^[eZWV$g`VWd$[ddWhaUST^W$fdgefe$S`V$[fe$SeeWfe$SdW$

]Wbf$efd[Uf^k$eWbSdSfW$Xda_$fZaeW$aX$fZW$N`[hWde[fk-

$ $MZW$fafS^$bW`e[a`$Uaef$(WjU^gV[`Y$[`fWdWef)$fa$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$iSe$s6-5_$(1/12q139$s0/-/_)-$MZW$Ua`fd[Tgf[a`$bSkST^W$Tk$fZW$

N`[hWde[fk$[e$06-3&$aX$bW`e[a`ST^W$eS^Sd[We$g`f[^$20$Cg^k$1/13+$0/-/&$Xda_$0$:gYgef$1/13$fa$20$Cg^k$1/16$S`V$01-6&$Xda_$

0":gYgef$1/16$a`iSdVe-$MZWdW$iWdW$`a$agfefS`V[`Y$Ua`fd[Tgf[a`e$Sf$fZW$TS^S`UW$eZWWf$VSfW-$:Uf[hW$_W_TWde$bSk$S$Ua`fd[Tgf[a`$

aX$5-64&$aX$bW`e[a`ST^W$eS^Sd[We-$MZW$WjbWUfWV$W_b^akWd$Ua`fd[Tgf[a`$fa$fZW$I^S`$Vgd[`Y$fZW$`Wjf$SUUag`f[`Y$kWSd$[e$s5-/_$S`V$

fZW$WjbWUfWV$UgddW`f$eWdh[UW$Uaef$[e$s3-5_-
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/5$ H=FKAGF$9JJ9F?=E=FLK$'T`_eZ_fVU($

$ :$Xg^^$SUfgSd[S^$hS^gSf[a`$iSe$USdd[WV$agf$Se$Sf$20$Cg^k$1/12$S`V$gbVSfWV$fa$20$Cg^k$1/14$Tk$S$cgS^[#WV$[`VWbW`VW`f$SUfgSdk-

$ MZW$_S\ad$Seeg_bf[a`e$geWV$Tk$fZW$SUfgSdk$iWdW9

$ $ $0.$Bf]j$/-/2$ 0.$Bf]j$/-/1

$ =[eUag`f$dSfW$Sf$kWSd$W`V$ $ 4-7/&$ 4-//&$

$ ?gfgdW$eS^Sdk$[`UdWSeWe$ $ 1-6/&$ 1-64&$

$ KIB$[`!Sf[a`$ $ 2-//&$ 2-0/&$

$ <IB$[`!Sf[a`$ $ 1-6/&$ 1-64&$

$ MZW$UgddW`f$^[XW$WjbWUfS`Uk$a`$dWf[dW_W`f$Sf$SYW$54$kWSde$SdW9$

$ ?W_S^We$UgddW`f^k$SYWV$54$kWSde$ $ 11-4$ 11-2$

$ FS^We$UgddW`f^k$SYWV$54$kWSde$ $ 08-1$ 07-8$

$ ?W_S^We$UgddW`f^k$SYWV$34$kWSde$ $ 12-5$ 12-4$

$ FS^We$UgddW`f^k$SYWV$34$kWSde$ $ 1/-1$ 08-8

$ $MZW$kWSd,W`V$^[ST[^[fk$[e$US^Ug^SfWV$fa$[`U^gVW$S`$Wef[_SfWV$gbdSf[`Y$aX$UgddW`f$S`V$VWXWddWV$bW`e[a`$TW`W#fe$[`$dW^Sf[a`$fa$fZW$

bW`e[a`$[`UdWSeWe$bdah[VWV$Tk$fZW$eUZW_W-$MZ[e$[e$TSeWV$a`$_Sd]Wf$WjbWUfSf[a`e$Xad$KIB$S`V$<IB$[`!Sf[a`$Sf$20$Cg^k$1/14$S`V$

S^^aie$Xad$fZW$USbe$fZSf$Sbb^k$g`VWd$fZW$eUZW_W$dWYg^Sf[a`e-$MZW$SUfgS^$[`UdWSeWe$i[^^$dW!WUf$SUfgS^$XgfgdW$bgT^[eZWV$dSfWe$aX$

[`!Sf[a`$egT\WUf$fa$fZW$dW^WhS`f$USbe$S`V$_Sk$TW$egT\WUf$fa$UZS`YW$a`$#`S^[eSf[a`-$:`k$UZS`YWe$Xda_$fZW$Seeg_WV$dSfW$i[^^$TW$

SUUag`fWV$Xad$Se$SUfgSd[S^$SV\gef_W`fe$[`$XgfgdW$kWSde-

$ $MZW$Seeg_bf[a`e$geWV$Tk$fZW$SUfgSdk$SdW$fZW$TWef$Wef[_SfWe$UZaeW`$Xda_$S$dS`YW$aX$baee[T^W$SUfgSd[S^$Seeg_bf[a`e$iZ[UZ+$

VgW$fa$fZW$f[_WeUS^We$UahWdWV+$_Sk$`af$`WUWeeSd[^k$TW$Tad`W$agf$[`$bdSUf[UW-$MZW$Seeg_bf[a`e$`afWV$ahWd$dW^SfW$fa$ShWdSYW$

WjbWUfSf[a`e$ahWd$fZW$XgfgdW$^[XWf[_W$aX$fZW$eUZW_W$S`V$fZWdWXadW$SdW$TSeWV$a`$^a`YWd,fWd_$Wef[_Sf[a`e-$LW`e[f[h[f[We$a`$fZW$

bW`e[a`$^[ST[^[fk$US`$TW$Xag`V$a`$bSYWe$58q6/-

$ MZW$SeeWfe$[`$fZW$eUZW_W$iWdW9

$ $ $ NR]fV$Re$ $ NR]fV$Re$

$ $ $ 0.$Bf]j$ 9ddVe$ 0.$Bf]j$

$ $ $ /-/2$ 9]]`TReZ`_$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ %$ o^

$ >cg[f[We$ $ 31-3$ 10$ 31-7$

$ ?[jWV$[`Ua_W$ $ 10-8$ 00$ q$

$ ;a`Ve.E=B$ $ 3/-7$ 1/$ 67-7$

$ IdabWdfk$ $ 00-0$ 4$ 0/-6$

$ :^fWd`Sf[hWe$ $ 8-8$ 4$ 03-4$

$ Fg^f[$SeeWf$UdWV[f$ $ 13-/$ 01$ 41-2$

$ <SeZ$ $ 41-8$ 15$ 1/-1

$ ?S[d$hS^gW$aX$SeeWfe$ $ 1/2-/$ $ 108-2

$ IdWeW`f$hS^gW$aX$aT^[YSf[a`e$ $ (120-/)$ $ (146-8)

$ ?g`VWV$efSfge$ $ (17-/)$ $ (27-5)

$ GWf$bW`e[a`$^[ST[^[fk$ $ (17-/)$ $ (27-5)

$9_R]jdZd$`W$eYV$R^`f_e$dY`h_$Z_$eYV$KeReV^V_e$`W$>Z_R_TZR]$H`dZeZ`_$$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^

$ IdWeW`f$hS^gW$aX$aT^[YSf[a`e$ $ $ (120-/)$ (146-8)$

$ ?S[d$hS^gW$aX$b^S`$SeeWfe$ $ $ 1/2-/$ 108-2

$ ?g`VWV$efSfge$(GafW$1/)$ $ $ (17-/)$ (27-5)
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/5$ H=FKAGF$9JJ9F?=E=FLK$'T`_eZ_fVU($

$9_R]jdZd$`W$eYV$R^`f_e$TYRcXVU$e`$eYV$A_T`^V$KeReV^V_e$ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^

$ GaVcReZ_X$T`de$

$ <gddW`f$eWdh[UW$Uaef$ $ $ 4-7$ 4-7$

$ :V_[`[efdSf[a`$Uaefe$ $ $ 0-7$ 0-3

$ >Z_R_TZ_X$T`de$

$ GWf$[`fWdWef$([`Ua_W).Uaef$a`$`Wf$VW#`WV$TW`W#f$^[ST[^[fk$$ $ $ 0-7$ 0-6

$ MafS^$abWdSf[`Y$UZSdYW.(UdWV[f)$ $ $ 8-3$ 7-8

$9^`f_ed$cVT`X_ZdVU$Z_$GeYVc$;`^acVYV_dZgV$A_T`^V$'G;A($ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^

$ KWfgd`$a`$SeeWfe$Sd[e[`Y$Vgd[`Y$fZW$kWSd$ $ $ (1/-1)$ 0-2$

$ E[ST[^[fk$YS[`e.(^aeeWe)$Sd[e[`Y$Vgd[`Y$fZW$kWSd$$ $$ $ 23-1$ (1-7)$

$ :eeWf$UW[^[`Y$SV\gef_W`f$(SXfWd$S^^ai[`Y$Xad$[`fWdWef)$$ $ $ q$ q

$ :UfgSd[S^$(^aee).YS[`$dWUaY`[eWV$[`$H<B$$ $ $ 03$ (0-4)

;YR_XV$Z_$UV#_VU$SV_V#e$`S]ZXReZ`_$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^

$ HbW`[`Y$VW#`WV$TW`W#f$aT^[YSf[a`$ $ $ 146-8$ 137-3$

$ LWdh[UW$Uaef$$ $ $ 4-7$ 4-7$

$ B`fWdWef$Uaef$ $ $ 01-5$ 01-3$

$ :UfgSd[S^$YS[`e$ $ $ (23-1)$ 1-7$

$ <a`fd[Tgf[a`$Tk$_W_TWde$ $ $ /-5$ /-3$

$ ;W`W#fe$bS[V$ $ $ (00-6)$ (00-8)$

$ :eeWf$UW[^[`Y$SV\gef_W`f$$$$ $ $ q$ q

$ <^ae[`Y$VW#`WV$TW`W#f$aT^[YSf[a`$ $ $ 120-/$ 146-8

;YR_XV$Z_$WRZc$gR]fV$`W$a]R_$RddVed$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^

$ HbW`[`Y$XS[d$hS^gW$aX$b^S`$SeeWfe$ $ $ 108-2$ 100-1$

$ KWfgd`$a`$SeeWfe$ $ $ (1/-1)$ 0-3$

$ B`fWdWef$[`Ua_W$a`$b^S`$SeeWfe$ $ $ 0/-7$ 0/-6$

$ <a`fd[Tgf[a`e$Tk$W_b^akWd$ $ $ 5-/$ 7-8$

$ <a`fd[Tgf[a`e$Tk$W_b^akWWe$ $ $ /-5$ /-3$

$ :V_[`[efdSf[a`$Uaefe$[`UgddWV$ $ $ (0-7)$ (0-3)$

$ ;W`W#fe$bS[V$ $ $ (00-6)$ (00-8)

$ <^ae[`Y$XS[d$hS^gW$aX$b^S`$SeeWfe$ $ $ 1/2-/$ 108-2

$ KV_dZeZgZej$R_R]jdZd$

$ $:e$eWf$agf$[`$fZW$SUUag`f[`Y$ba^[U[We+$fZWdW$SdW$ea_W$Ud[f[US^$\gVYW_W`fe$_SVW$[`$Wef[_Sf[`Y$fZW$K;I$bW`e[a`$^[ST[^[fk-$

MZW"eW`e[f[h[fk$aX$fZW$bd[`U[bS^$Seeg_bf[a`e$geWV$fa$_WSegdW$fZW$eUZW_W$SeeWf.^[ST[^[f[We$SdW$eWf$agf$TW^ai9

;YR_XVd$Z_$Rddf^aeZ`_$Re$0.$Bf]j$/-/2$ $ 9aac`iZ^ReV$Z^aRTe$

$ $A_TcVRdV$Z_$R^`f_e$TYRcXVU$$

$ A_TcVRdV$Z_$]ZRSZ]ZeZVd$ e`$eYV$A_T`^V$KeReV^V_e$

$ o^$ o^

$ /-4&$bS$VWUdWSeW$[`$V[eUag`f$dSfW$ 07-0$ 8-2$

$ /-4&$bS$[`UdWSeW$[`$[`!Sf[a`,^[`]WV$Seeg_bf[a`e$ 7-7$ 7-7$

$ H`W$kWSd$[`UdWSeW$[`$^[XW$WjbWUfS`Uk$ 5-/$ 7-3
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/5$ H=FKAGF$9JJ9F?=E=FLK$'T`_eZ_fVU($$

$ NZcXZ_$EVUZR$,$KVTeZ`_$04$]VXR]$cf]Z_X

$ $B`$Cg`W$1/12+$fZW$ND$A[YZ$<agdf$(O[dY[`$FWV[S$E[_[fWV$h$GME$IW`e[a`$MdgefWWe$BB$E[_[fWV)$dg^WV$fZSf$UWdfS[`$Z[efad[US^$S_W`V_W`fe$

fa$TW`W#fe$_SVW$SXfWd$5$:bd[^$0886$Xad$Ua`fdSUfWV,agf$VW#`WV$TW`W#f$eUZW_We$iWdW$[`hS^[V$[X$fZWk$iWdW$`af$SUUa_bS`[WV$Tk$

fZW$UaddWUf$SUfgSd[S^$Ua`#d_Sf[a`-$LgTeWcgW`f$fa$fZ[e+$[`$Cg`W$1/14+$fZW$N`[fWV$D[`YVa_$@ahWd`_W`f$S``ag`UWV$[fe$[`fW`f[a`$

fa$[`fdaVgUW$^WY[e^Sf[a`$fa$Y[hW$SXXWUfWV$bW`e[a`$eUZW_We$fZW$ST[^[fk$fa$dWfdaebWUf[hW^k$aTfS[`$id[ffW`$SUfgSd[S^$Ua`#d_Sf[a`$fZSf$

Z[efad[U$TW`W#f$UZS`YWe$_Wf$fZW$`WUWeeSdk$efS`VSdVe-

$ $<a`e[VWd[`Y$S^^$UgddW`f$XSUfade+$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$SeeWeeWe$fZW$d[e]$aX$e[Y`[#US`f$[_bSUf$Xda_$fZW$O[dY[`$FWV[S$dg^[`Y$Se$^ai+$S`V$S`k$

bafW`f[S^$WXXWUfe$UgddW`f^k$dW_S[`$g`cgS`f[#ST^W-$<a`eWcgW`f^k+$`a$bdah[e[a`$ZSe$TWW`$_SVW$Xad$fZW$#`S`U[S^$kWSd$W`VWV$20$Cg^k$

1/14$(1/139$s`[^)-$MZW$MdgefWWe$aX$fZW$LUZW_W+$S^a`Ye[VW$fZW$N`[hWde[fk+$Ua`f[`gW$fa$dWh[Wi$fZW$bafW`f[S^$[_bSUf$aX$LWUf[a`$26$

dW^SfWV$_SffWde$Xad$fZW$LUZW_W-

$ MKK

$ $NLL$[e$S$ZkTd[V$bW`e[a`$eUZW_W+$bdah[V[`Y$VW#`WV$TW`W#fe$(Xad$S^^$_W_TWde)+$Se$iW^^$Se$VW#`WV$Ua`fd[Tgf[a`$TW`W#fe-$MZW$SeeWfe$

aX$fZW$eUZW_W$SdW$ZW^V$[`$S$eWbSdSfW$fdgefWW,SV_[`[efWdWV$Xg`V-$

$ $MZW$^SfWef$ShS[^ST^W$Ua_b^WfW$SUfgSd[S^$hS^gSf[a`$aX$fZW$KWf[dW_W`f$B`Ua_W$;g[^VWd$[e$Se$Sf$20$FSdUZ$1/12$(fZW$hS^gSf[a`$VSfW)+$

iZ[UZ$iSe$USdd[WV$agf$ge[`Y$fZW$bda\WUfWV$g`[f$_WfZaV-$

$ $L[`UW$fZW$[`ef[fgf[a`$US``af$[VW`f[Xk$[fe$eZSdW$aX$NLL$KWf[dW_W`f$B`Ua_W$;g[^VWd$(VW#`WV$TW`W#f)$SeeWfe$S`V$^[ST[^[f[We+$fZW$Xa^^ai[`Y$

V[eU^aegdWe$dW!WUf$fZaeW$dW^WhS`f$Xad$fZaeW$SeeWfe$S`V$^[ST[^[f[We$Se$S$iZa^W-

$ $MZW$1/12$hS^gSf[a`$iSe$fZW$eWhW`fZ$hS^gSf[a`$Xad$fZW$eUZW_W$g`VWd$fZW$eUZW_W,ebWU[#U$Xg`V[`Y$dWY[_W$[`fdaVgUWV$Tk$fZW$

IW`e[a`e$:Uf$1//3+$iZ[UZ$dWcg[dWe$eUZW_We$fa$ZShW$egX#U[W`f$S`V$Sbbdabd[SfW$SeeWfe$fa$UahWd$fZW[d$fWUZ`[US^$bdah[e[a`e$(fZW$

efSfgfadk$Xg`V[`Y$aT\WUf[hW)-$:f$fZW$hS^gSf[a`$VSfW+$fZW$hS^gW$aX$fZW$SeeWfe$aX$fZW$eUZW_W$iSe$s62-0T`$S`V$fZW$hS^gW$aX$fZW$

eUZW_Wne$fWUZ`[US^$bdah[e[a`e$iSe$s54-6T`$[`V[USf[`Y$S$egdb^ge$aX$s6-3T`$S`V$S$Xg`V[`Y$dSf[a$aX$000&-$

$ $MZW$]Wk$#`S`U[S^$Seeg_bf[a`e$geWV$[`$fZW$1/12$hS^gSf[a`$SdW$VWeUd[TWV$TW^ai-$FadW$VWfS[^$[e$eWf$agf$[`$fZW$LfSfW_W`f$aX$?g`V[`Y$

Id[`U[b^We$(https://www.uss.co.uk/about-us/valuation-and-funding/statement-of-funding-principles)

$ <IB$:eeg_bf[a`$ $2-/&$b-S-$(TSeWV$a`$S$^a`Y,fWd_$ShWdSYW$WjbWUfWV$^WhW^$aX$<IB+$TdaSV^k$Ua`e[efW`f$

i[fZ$^a`Y,fWd_$_Sd]Wf$WjbWUfSf[a`e)

$ $IW`e[a`$[`UdWSeWe$ ;W`W#fe$i[fZ$`a$USb9$<IB$Seeg_bf[a`$b^ge$2Tbe$$

(egT\WUf$fa$S$!aad$aX$/&)$$ $;W`W#fe$egT\WUf$fa$S$oeaXf$USbp$aX$4&$(bdah[V[`Y$[`!Sf[a`Sdk$[`UdWSeWe$gb$fa$4&+$S`V$ZS^X$aX$

S`k$WjUWee$[`!Sf[a`$ahWd$4&$gb$fa$S$_Sj[_g_$aX$0/&)9$<IB$Seeg_bf[a`$_[`ge$2Tbe

$ =[eUag`f$dSfW$(XadiSdV$dSfW)$ $?[jWV$[`fWdWef$Y[^f$k[W^V$UgdhW$b^ge9$$

IdW,dWf[dW_W`f9$1-4&$b-S-$$

Iaef$dWf[dW_W`f9$/-8&$b-S-

$ $MZW$_S[`$VW_aYdSbZ[U$Seeg_bf[a`$geWV$dW^SfWe$fa$fZW$_adfS^[fk$Seeg_bf[a`e-$MZWeW$Seeg_bf[a`e$SdW$TSeWV$a`$S`S^ke[e$aX$fZW$

eUZW_Wne$WjbWd[W`UW$USdd[WV$agf$Se$bSdf$aX$fZW$1/12$SUfgSd[S^$hS^gSf[a`-$MZW$_adfS^[fk$Seeg_bf[a`e$geWV$[`$fZWeW$#YgdWe$SdW$Se$Xa^^aie9

$ FadfS^[fk$TSeW$fST^We$ $0/0&$aX$L1IF:$m^[YZfn$Xad$_S^We$

84&$aX$L2I?:$Xad$XW_S^We

$ ?gfgdW$[_bdahW_W`fe$fa$_adfS^[fk$ $<FB$1/10$i[fZ$S$e_aafZ[`Y$bSdS_WfWd$aX$6-4$S`$[`[f[S^$Sbb^[USf[a`$aX$/-3&bS+$0/&$i1/1/$

S`V$i1/10$bSdS_WfWde+$S`V$S$^a`Y,fWd_$[_bdahW_W`f$dSfW$aX$0-7&$bS$Xad$_S^We$S`V$0-5&$

Xad$XW_S^We

$ MZW$UgddW`f$^[XW$WjbWUfS`U[We$a`$dWf[dW_W`f$Sf$SYW$54$kWSde$SdW9

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1

$ FS^We$UgddW`f^k$SYWV$54$kWSde$ $ 12-7$ 12-6

$ ?W_S^We$UgddW`f^k$SYWV$54$kWSde$ $ 14-4$ 14-5

$ FS^We$UgddW`f^k$SYWV$34$kWSde$ $ 14-6$ 14-3

$ ?W_S^We$UgddW`f^k$SYWV$34$kWSde$ $ 16-1$ 16-1
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/6$ J=D9L=<$H9JLQ$LJ9FK9;LAGFK

$ $=gW$fa$fZW$`SfgdW$aX$fZW$B`ef[fgf[a`ne$abWdSf[a`e$S`V$fZW$Ua_bae[f[a`$aX$[fe$<ag`U[^$(TW[`Y$VdSi`$Xda_$^aUS^$bgT^[U$S`V$bd[hSfW$eWUfad$

adYS`[eSf[a`e)$S`V$N`[hWde[fk$>jWUgf[hW$;aSdV$(N>;)+$[f$[e$[`Wh[fST^W$fZSf$fdS`eSUf[a`e$i[^^$fS]W$b^SUW$i[fZ$adYS`[eSf[a`e$[`$iZ[UZ$S$

_W_TWd$aX$<ag`U[^$ad$N>;$_Sk$ZShW$S`$[`fWdWef-$:^^$egUZ$fdS`eSUf[a`e$SdW$Ua`VgUfWV$Sf$Sd_ne$^W`YfZ$S`V$[`$SUUadVS`UW$i[fZ$fZW$

B`ef[fgf[a`ne$#`S`U[S^$dWYg^Sf[a`e$S`V$`ad_S^$bdaUgdW_W`f$bdaUWVgdWe-$MZW$B`ef[fgf[a`$ZSe$fS]W`$SVhS`fSYW$aX$fZW$WjW_bf[a`$i[fZ[`$

?KL$0/1$LWUf[a`$22$mKW^SfWV$ISdfk$=[eU^aegdWen$S`V$ZSe$`af$V[eU^aeWV$fdS`eSUf[a`e$i[fZ$afZWd$iZa^^k$ai`WV$Ydagb$W`f[f[We-

$ $MZW$KWf[dW_W`fe$;W`W#fe$I^S`$(0860)$(K;I)$[e$S$baef,W_b^ak_W`f$TW`W#f$aX$W_b^akWWe$aX$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$S`V$Se$egUZ$[e$

VW#`WV$Se$S$dW^SfWV$bSdfk$g`VWd$?KL0/1-$MdS`eSUf[a`e$TWfiWW`$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$S`V$K;I$SdW$V[eU^aeWV$[`$GafW$17-

$ $PZWdW$<ag`U[^$ad$N>;$_W_TWde$ad$fZW[d$dWebWUf[hW$U^aeW$XS_[^k$Va$`af$ZShW$S$Ua`fda^^[`Y$[`fWdWef$[`$W[fZWd$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$ad$fZW$

adYS`[eSf[a`e$[`$iZ[UZ$fZWk$SdW$V[dWUfade+$W_b^akWWe$ad$bSdf`Wde+$fZW$fdS`eSUf[a`$[e$`af$VWW_WV$Se$S$dW^SfWV$bSdfk$fdS`eSUf[a`$S`V$

V[eU^aegdW$[e$`af$dWcg[dWV$g`VWd$?KL$0/1-

$ $ $ $$ :R]R_TV$UfV$$

$ $ A_T`^V$Wc`^$ =iaV_UZefcV$e`$ 'e`(,Wc`^$

$ $ cV]ReVU$aRcej$$ $cV]ReVU$aRcej$ $cV]ReVU$aRcej

$ =_eZeZVd$`gVc$hYZTY$eYV$Z_deZefeZ`_$YRd$ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ T`_ec`])$[`Z_e$T`_ec`]$`c$dZX_Z#TR_e$Z_!fV_TV$ ol---$ ol---$ ol---$ ol---$ ol---$ ol---

$ >BM$AWS^fZ$>O$@Wd_S`k$ 035$ q$$ q$ q$ q$ q$

$ B`V[USfd[j$<dkefS^^aYdSbZk$E[_[fWV*$ 03$ 20$ q$$ q$$ $1$$ $03$$

$ BG>Q$F[UdafWUZ`a^aYk$E[_[fWV*$ 334$ 504$ $048$$ $1/0$$ $33$$ $0/2$$

$ BGMH$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$EEI$ 45/$ 57/$ $1+586$$ $1+670$$ $205$$ $261$$$

$ FSddS;[a$E[_[fWV$ 25$ 3$ q$ q$$ 7$$ q$

$ F>MlWda$MWUZ`a^aY[We$E[_[fWV$ 3$ q$ q$ q$$ q$$ q$

$ F[UdaTd[ff$E[_[fWV*$ 4$ 07$ $5$$ $02$$ q$$ 01$

$ GWiUSef^W$@W`d7$DS\[_S$EEI$ q$ q$ q$$ q$$ $45$$$ q$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$=WhW^ab_W`fe$EEI$ 13$ q$$ q$ q$ $1/$$ $4/$$

$ GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$FS`SYW_W`f$EEI$$ 21$ q$$ q$ q$ 14$$ q$

$ GadfZWd`$AWS^fZ$LU[W`UW$:^^[S`UW$E[_[fWV$ 1$ q$$ q$ q$ q$$ q$

$ L][`$E[XW$:`S^kf[Ue$E[_[fWV*$ 40$ 0$ q$$ $06$$ $7$$$ q$

$ MZW$:USVW_[U$AWS^fZ$LU[W`UW$GWfiad]$Xad$fZW$$

$ GadfZ$>Sef$S`V$GadfZ$<g_Td[S$(:ALG$G>G<)$ 1$ q$$ q$ q$ q$$ q$

$ MP:F$>`fWdbd[eWe$E[_[fWV*$ q$ q$$ $$30$$ $43$$ $(0/)$ (0)$

$ Mk`W$IdWeegdW$MWef[`Y$E[_[fWV*$ 06$ 03$ q$ q$ $(5)$ $330$

$ $ $0+227$$ $0+252$$ $1+8/2$$ $2+/55$$ $352$$ $880$$

$ $>`f[f[We$VW`afWV$i[fZ$S`$SefWd[e]$(*)$SdW$W`f[f[We$fZSf$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$[e$VWW_WV$fa$ZShW$e[Y`[#US`f$[`!gW`UW$ahWd+$Tgf$VaWe$`af$ZShW$

Ua`fda^$ad"\a[`f$Ua`fda^-

$ $=AL$@VR]eY$=N$?Vc^R_j$

>BM$AWS^fZ$[e$S$<daee,>gdabWS`$hW`fgdW$Xad$fZW$obda_af[a`$aX$W`fdWbdW`WgdeZ[b$S`V$fZW$bda_af[a`$aX$VWhW^ab[`Y$[``ahSf[a`e$[`$

ZWS^fZk$^[h[`Y$S`V$SUf[hW$SYW[`Y$[`U^gV[`Y$fZW$[_bdahW_W`f$aX$S$egefS[`ST^W$ZWS^fZUSdW$SUdaee$>gdabW-p$IdaXWeead$G[U]$Pd[YZf$[e$

N`[hWde[fk$`a_[`WW$a`$@W`WdS^$:eeW_T^k-

$ $A_UZTRecZi$;cjdeR]]`XcRaYj$DZ^ZeVU$

B`V[USfd[j$<dkefS^^aYdSbZk$E[_[fWV$bdah[VWe$Z[YZ$fZdagYZbgf$ea^gf[a`,bZSeW$UdkefS^^[eSf[a`$eUdWW`[`Y$fa$egbbadf$_a^WUg^W$V[eUahWdk$

S`V$VWhW^ab_W`f$bda\WUfe-$FW_TWde$aX$fZW$eW`[ad$SUSVW_[U$fWS_+$IdaXWeead$P[^^[S_$<^WYY+$=d$F[UZSW^$AS^^+$=d$F[UZSW^$IdaTWdf+$

=d$MZa_Se$P[`efS`^Wk$S`V$=d$F[UZSW^$IdaTWdf+$SdW$V[dWUfade$aX$fZ[e$adYS`[eSf[a`-

$ $B`Ua_W$dW^SfWe$fa$dWeWSdUZ$S`V$Ua`eg^fS`Uk$eWdh[UWe$bdah[VWV$Tk$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$S^a`Y$i[fZ$bSfW`f$XWW$dWUZSdYWe-$MZW$TS^S`UW$VgW$

fa$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$Sf$fZW$kWSd,W`V$SdW$YW`WdS^$iad][`Y$USb[fS^$TS^S`UWe-

$ $AF=P$EZTc`eVTY_`]`Xj$DZ^ZeVU$

BG>Q$F[UdafWUZ`a^aYk$E[_[fWV$[e$S$_[UdaekefW_e$S`V$ebWU[S^[ef$W^WUfda`[U$VWh[UW$Ua`fdSUf$_S`gXSUfgdWd-

$ $B`Ua_W$dW^SfWe$fa$fZW$dWUZSdYW$aX$gf[^[f[We$S`V$XSU[^[f[We$eWdh[UWe$bdah[VWV$Tk$fZW$N`[hWde[fk-$MZWdW$[e$S$iad][`Y$USb[fS^$^aS`$

SYdWW_W`f$[`$b^SUW$TWfiWW`$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$S`V$BG>Q$F[UdafWUZ`a^aYk$EfV-$;afZ$fZW$WjbW`V[fgdW$S`V$fZW$TS^S`UW$VgW$fa$fZW$

N`[hWde[fk$Sf$fZW$kWSd$W`V$dW^SfW$fa$fZ[e$SYdWW_W`f-$
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/6$ J=D9L=<$H9JLQ$LJ9FK9;LAGFK$'T`_eZ_fVU(

$ $AFLG$FVhTRde]V$M_ZgVcdZej$DDH$

BGMH$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$EEI$egbbadfe$[`fWd`Sf[a`S^$efgVW`fe$efgVk[`Y$[`$fZW$ND-$MZW$W`f[fk$[e$S$\a[`f$hW`fgdW$bSdf`Wd$aX$fZW$N`[hWde[fk-

$ $B`Ua_W$dW^SfWe$fa$USfWd[`Y+$Wcg[b_W`f$Z[dW$S`V$afZWd$YW`WdS^$dWUZSdYWe$[`$fZW$`ad_S^$UagdeW$aX$Tge[`Wee-$>jbW`V[fgdW$dW^SfWe$fa$

fZW$bdah[e[a`$aX$[`,eWee[a`S^$>`Y^[eZ$UagdeWe+$SYW`f$Ua__[ee[a`$bSk_W`fe$S`V$dW`fS^$bSk_W`fe-$

$ ERccR:Z`$DZ^ZeVU$

$ $FSddS;[a$VWhW^abe$W`Y[`WWdWV$_g^f[_Wd[U$bdafW[`e$[`$^[_[f^Wee$cgS`f[fk$Sf$^ai$Uaef-$FSddS;[a$[e$ge[`Y$[fe$UadW$fWUZ`a^aYk$fa$

VWhW^ab$S$b[bW^[`W$aX$Sbb^[USf[a`e$iZ[UZ$dS`YW$Xda_$UW^^$Ug^fgdW$dWSYW`fe$Xad$dWeWSdUZ$bgdbaeWe+$fa$^ai,Uaef$YdaifZ$XSUfade$Xad$

Ug^f[hSfWV$_WSf$bdaVgUf[a`+$fa$_WV[U[`S^$bdaVgUfe-$

$ $E=LkVc`$LVTY_`]`XZVd$DZ^ZeVU$

F>MlWda$aXXWde$S$dWfda#ffST^W$S`V$W`WdYk,eSh[`Y$iSefWiSfWd$fdWSf_W`f$fWUZ`a^aYk$fZSf$dWUahWde$bdaVgUfe$aX$WUa`a_[U$hS^gW$Xda_$

iSefWiSfWd-$Bf$VaWe$fZ[e$fZdagYZ$F[UdaT[S^$>^WUfda^ke[e9$TdWS][`Y$Vai`$adYS`[U$Ua_bag`Ve$fZSf$SdW$ZSd_Xg^$fa$fZW$W`h[da`_W`f$

S`V$bdaVgU[`Y$ZkVdaYW`$Se$S$Tk,bdaVgUf-$=d$ISh^[`S$MZWaVae[ag$[e$<>H$aX$fZW$Ua_bS`k-$MZW$^WSV$SUSVW_[Ue$SdW$=d$>^[lSTWfZ$

AW[Vd[UZ$S`V$=d$ISh^[`S$MZWaVae[ag-

$ $EZTc`ScZee$DZ^ZeVU$

F[UdaTd[ff$E[_[fWV$[e$S$eWdh[UW$Ua_bS`k$[`fW`VWV$fa$SVVdWee$fZW$dSb[V^k$[`UdWSe[`Y$`WWV$Xad$Z[YZ,ebWWV+$Z[YZ,hS^gW$TWeba]W$

_S`gXSUfgd[`Y$i[fZ$_[Uda,eUS^W$bdWU[e[a`-$MZW$^WSV$SUSVW_[U+$IdaXWeead$ISfd[U]$=WYW`SSd+$[e$S$_W_TWd$aX$fZ[e$adYS`[eSf[a`-

$ $B`Ua_W$dW^SfWe$fa$bSfW`f$XWW$dWUZSdYWe$S`V$fZW$TS^S`UW$VgW$fa$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$Sf$fZW$kWSd$W`V$[e$Xad$fZW$_aef$dWUW`f$bSfW`f$

dWUZSdYW-$>jbW`V[fgdW$dW^SfWe$fa$:ddai$SUUW^WdSfad$Xg`V[`Y$_SfUZ-$

$ $FVhTRde]V$?V_c5$CR[Z^R$

:$\a[`f$hW`fgdW$TWfiWW`$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$S`V$@W`d7$DS\[_S$KWYW`WdSf[a`$(GWiUSef^W)$E[_[fWV-$MZW$Ua_bS`kne$bd[`U[bS^$SUf[h[fk$[e$fZW$

VWhW^ab_W`f$aX$fZW$AWS^fZ$B``ahSf[a`$GW[YZTagdZaaV$[`$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W-

$ $FVhTRde]V$@V]Zi$<VgV]`a^V_ed$DDH$

GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$=WhW^ab_W`fe$EEI$iSe$UdWSfWV$fa$_Sd]Wf$b^afe$Xad$fZW$VWhW^ab_W`f$a`$fZW$AW^[j$e[fW-$MZW"W`f[fk$[e$S$22&$\a[`f$

hW`fgdW$aX$fZW$N`[hWde[fk-$KWXWd$fa$GafW$04$Xad$XgdfZWd$VWfS[^e-

$ $B`Ua_W$dW^SfWe$fa$YW`WdS^$UZSdYWe$TWfiWW`$Ua_bS`[We$[`$fZW$`ad_S^$UagdeW$aX$Tge[`Wee-

$ $FVhTRde]V$@V]Zi$ER_RXV^V_e$DDH$

GWiUSef^W$AW^[j$FS`SYW_W`f$EEI$iSe$UdWSfWV$fa$eW^^$ad$^WSeW$^S`V$Xad$fZW$VWhW^ab_W`f$aX$LU[W`UW$<W`fdS^$S`V$_S`SYW$fZW$

[`XdSefdgUfgdW$aX$fZW$e[fW-$MZW$W`f[fk$[e$S$4/&$\a[`f$hW`fgdW$i[fZ$GWiUSef^W$<[fk$<ag`U[^-

$ B`Ua_W$dW^SfWe$fa$YW`WdS^$UZSdYWe$TWfiWW`$Ua_bS`[We$[`$fZW$`ad_S^$UagdeW$aX$Tge[`Wee-

$ $F`ceYVc_$@VR]eY$KTZV_TV$9]]ZR_TV$DZ^ZeVU$

GadfZWd`$AWS^fZ$LU[W`UW$:^^[S`UW$E[_[fWV$[e$S$bSdf`WdeZ[b$TWfiWW`$^WSV[`Y$g`[hWde[f[We$S`V$fZW$GAL$[`$fZW$`adfZ$aX$>`Y^S`V-$

IdaXWeead$=Sh[V$;gd`$[e$UZS[d_S`-

$ $K\Z_$DZWV$9_R]jeZTd$DZ^ZeVU$

L][`$E[XW$:`S^kf[Ue$E[_[fWV$WefST^[eZWV$fZW$`ahW^$geW$aX$_[faUZa`Vd[S^$=G:$(_f=G:)$Se$S$dW^[ST^W$S`V$eW`e[f[hW$T[a_Sd]Wd$aX$

eg`^[YZf$S`V$afZWd$W`h[da`_W`fS^$S`V$efdWee,[`VgUWV$=G:$VS_SYW$[`$e][`-$MZW$^WSV$SUSVW_[U+$IdaXWeead$FSd]$;[dUZ,FSUZ[`+$

[e"S"_W_TWd$aX$fZ[e$adYS`[eSf[a`-

$ $>jbW`V[fgdW$dW^SfWe$fa$dWeWSdUZ$S`V$Ua`eg^fS`Uk$eWdh[UWe$bdah[VWV$fa$fZW$N`[hWde[fk-

$ $LYV$9TRUV^ZT$@VR]eY$KTZV_TV$FVeh`c\$W`c$eYV$F`ceY$=Rde$R_U$F`ceY$;f^ScZR$'9@KF$F=F;($

MZW$GWfiad]$i[^^$Ua`e[ef$aX$<adW$S`V$:X#^[SfW$_W_TWde$iZa_$SdW$Ua^^WUf[hW^k$Ua__[ffWV$fa$[_bdah[`Y$TafZ$fZW$ZWS^fZ$S`V$

WUa`a_[U$bdaebWd[fk$aX$fZW$dWY[a`$fZdagYZ$[``ahSf[a`+$dWeWSdUZ$S`V$fZW$V[eeW_[`Sf[a`$aX$]`ai^WVYW+$Se$iW^^$Se$fZW$SVabf[a`$aX$

`Wi$S`V$[_bdahWV$bdaVgUfe$S`V$eWdh[UWe-

$ $LO9E$=_eVcacZdVd$DZ^ZeVU$

MZW$bgdbaeW$aX$MP:F$>`fWdbd[eWe$EfV$[e$fa$g`VWdfS]W$Ua__WdU[S^$S`V$W`fWdbd[eW$SUf[h[fk$fa$[`UdWSeW$eW^X,YW`WdSfWV$[`Ua_W-$

MZW"W`fWdbd[eW$[e$iZa^^k$ai`WV$Tk$fZW$Xagd$Mk`We[VW$<ag`U[^e$S`V$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk-

$ $>jbW`V[fgdW$dW^SfWe$fa$Z[dW$UZSdYWe$Xad$WhW`fe$S^a`Y$i[fZ$afZWd$YW`WdS^$WhW`f$Uaefe$UZSdYWV$fa$fZW$N`[hWde[fk-

$ $Lj_V$HcVddfcV$LVdeZ_X$DZ^ZeVU$

$MZW$bgdbaeW$aX$Mk`W$IdWeegdW$MWef[`Y$EfV$[e$fa$UdWSfW$S$<W`fdW$aX$>jUW^^W`UW$Xad$AkbWdTSd[U$fWef[`Y$[`$fZW$^aUS^$SdWS-$N`[hWde[fk$

dWbdWeW`fSf[hW$[e$ISg^$Rag`Y-$
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/6$ J=D9L=<$H9JLQ$LJ9FK9;LAGFK$'T`_eZ_fVU(

$ $ $ $$ :R]R_TV$UfV$$

$ $ A_T`^V$Wc`^$ =iaV_UZefcV$e`$ 'e`(,Wc`^$

$ GcXR_ZdReZ`_d$R_U$;`^aR_ZVd$Z_$hYZTY$ cV]ReVU$aRcej$$ $cV]ReVU$aRcej$ $cV]ReVU$aRcej

$ ^V^SVcd$`W$;`f_TZ]$`c$dV_Z`c$$ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ ^R_RXV^V_e$YRgV$R_$Z_eVcVde$ ol---$ ol---$ ol---$ ol---$ ol---$ ol---

$ :eeaU[Sf[a`$aX$IZke[U[S`e$aX$@dWSf$;d[fS[`$S`V$BdW^S`V$$ $10$$ q$ q$ q$ q$ q$

$ AWd[af,PSff$N`[hWde[fk$$ $37$$ $84$$ q$ q$ 11$ q$

$ B`fWd`Sf[a`S^$<W`fdW$Xad$E[XW$ q$ q$$ $2+40/$$ $2+352$$ (3)$$ $q$$

$ B`fWd`Sf[a`S^$ISd][`ea`$'$FahW_W`f$=[eadVWd$LaU[Wfk$ q$ q$$ $$1$$ q$ $(3)$ $q$$

$ FWV[US^$KWeWSdUZ$<ag`U[^$ $06+886$$ $04+608$$ $036$$ $020$$ $075$$ $025$$$

$ GWiUSef^W$@SfWeZWSV$B`[f[Sf[hW$E[_[fWV$ $$0$$ q$ $14$$ q$ q$$ q$$$$$

$ LNFL$<a`eg^f[`Y$ q$ q$ $2/$$ q$ q$$ q$$

$ MZW$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W$Aaeb[fS^e$GAL$Mdgef$ $$04+532$$ $04+2/3$$ $7+246$$ $7+877$$ $1+710$$ $1+520$$$$

$ MZW$KgeeW^^$@dagb$ $q$ $q$$ $85$$ $82$$$ q$$ $q

$ $ $$22+60/$$ $20+007$$ $01+056$$ $01+564$$ $2+/10$$ $1+656$$$

$ 9dd`TZReZ`_$`W$HYjdZTZR_d$`W$?cVRe$:cZeRZ_$R_U$AcV]R_U$

$ $MZW$:eeaU[Sf[a`$aX$IZke[U[S`e$aX$@dWSf$;d[fS[`$S`V$BdW^S`V$[e$fZW$Za_W$aX$B`fWdV[eU[b^[`Sdk$MdS`e^Sf[a`S^$FWV[U[`W$Zaef[`Y$S$h[TdS`f$

Ua__g`[fk$aX$dWeWSdUZWde$Sf$S^^$USdWWd$efSYWe-$MZW$S[_$aX$fZW$adYS`[eSf[a`$[e$fa$bda_afW$Z[YZ,cgS^[fk$[`fWdV[eU[b^[`Sdk$fdS`e^Sf[a`S^$

dWeWSdUZ$fa$[_bdahW$Zg_S`$ZWS^fZ$S`V$iW^^$TW[`Y-$E[`VS$<a`^a`$[e$UZS[d$aX$Y^aTS^$fdW`Ve$Ua__[ffWW-

$ @VcZ`e*ORee$M_ZgVcdZej$

$ $AWd[af,PSff$N`[hWde[fk$[e$S$bgT^[U$dWeWSdUZ$g`[hWde[fk$TSeWV$[`$>V[`TgdYZ-$FSdfS$IZ[^^[be$H;>$[e$S$=[dWUfad$aX$fZ[e$g`[hWde[fk-$B`Ua_W$

dWUW[hWV$dW^SfWe$fa$efgVW`feZ[be-

$ $A_eVc_ReZ`_R]$;V_ecV$W`c$DZWV$

MZW$B`fWd`Sf[a`S^$<W`fdW$Xad$E[XW$[e$S$eU[W`UW$ZgT$[`$fZW$GadfZ$>Sef$iZWdW$WVgUSfade+$dWeWSdUZWde+$U^[`[U[S`e$S`V$Tge[`WeeWe$iad]$

e[VW,Tk,e[VW$a`$a`W$e[fW-$E[`VS$<a`^a`+$S$^Sk$_W_TWd$aX$<ag`U[^+$[e$<Z[WX$>jWUgf[hW$aX$fZ[e$adYS`[eSf[a`-$

$ $>jbW`V[fgdW$fa$fZ[e$adYS`[eSf[a`$dW^SfWe$fa$dW`f$UZS`YWe-

$ $A_eVc_ReZ`_R]$HRc\Z_d`_$&$E`gV^V_e$<Zd`cUVc$K`TZVej$

B`fWd`Sf[a`S^$ISd][`ea`$'$FahW_W`f$=[eadVWd$LaU[Wfk$(F=L)$[e$S$bdaXWee[a`S^$eaU[Wfk$aX$ahWd$00+///$U^[`[U[S`e+$eU[W`f[efe$S`V$

ZWS^fZUSdW$bdaXWee[a`S^e$VWV[USfWV$fa$fZW$USdW$aX$bSf[W`fe$i[fZ$_ahW_W`f$V[eadVWde-$IdaXWeead$=Sh[V$;gd`$[e$V[dWUfad$aX$fZ[e$

adYS`[eSf[a`-

$ $EVUZTR]$JVdVRcTY$;`f_TZ]$

MZW$FWV[US^$KWeWSdUZ$<ag`U[^$egbbadfe$dWeWSdUZ$fa$[_bdahW$Zg_S`$ZWS^fZ$S`V$bdaVgUW$e][^^WV$dWeWSdUZWde-$IdaXWeead$;d[S`$

PS^]Wd$[e$a`$eWUa`V_W`f$[`$fZ[e$adYS`[eSf[a`-$

$ $B`Ua_W$Xda_$fZ[e$adYS`[eSf[a`$dW^SfWe$fa$YdS`f$[`Ua_W$Xad$dWeWSdUZ$bgdbaeWe+$iZ[^ef$WjbW`V[fgdW$dW^SfWe$fa$_WV[US^$fdS[`[`Y$UagdeWe-$

$ $FVhTRde]V$?ReVdYVRU$A_ZeZReZgV$DZ^ZeVU$

GWiUSef^W$@SfWeZWSV$B`[f[Sf[hW$E[_[fWV$[e$S$VWef[`Sf[a`$S`V$[`iSdV$[`hWef_W`f$SYW`Uk$iZaeW$_[ee[a`$[e$fa$[`eb[dW$bWab^W$fa$h[e[f+$

^[hW+$^WSd`+$iad]$S`V$[`hWef$[`$GWiUSef^W+$@SfWeZWSV+$S`V$fZW$i[VWd$dWY[a`-$:$^Sk$_W_TWd$aX$<ag`U[^$S`V$<ZS[d$aX$:gV[f+$K[e]$S`V$

:eegdS`UW$<a__[ffWW+$;[^^$FSUEWaV+$[e$fZW$V[dWUfad$aX$fZW$Ua_bS`k-

$ $KMEK$;`_df]eZ_X$

LNFL$<a`eg^f[`Y$[e$S$_W_TWdeZ[b+$`af,Xad,bda#f$adYS`[eSf[a`$S`V$dWY[efWdWV$UZSd[fk+$ai`WV$Tk$_W_TWd$g`[hWde[f[We-$<a^[`$

<S_bTW^^$[e$V[dWUfad$aX$fZ[e$adYS`[eSf[a`-

$ $LYV$FVhTRde]V$fa`_$Lj_V$@`daZeR]d$F@K$Lcfde$

MZW$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W$Aaeb[fS^e$GAL$Mdgef$[e$S$bdah[VWd$aX$ZWS^fZUSdW$eWdh[UWe-$Bf$iad]e$U^aeW^k$i[fZ$fZW$[`ef[fgf[a`$[`$fZW$

fWSUZ[`Y$aX$_WV[US^$efgVW`fe+$Se$iW^^$Se$dWeWSdUZ-$:$^Sk$_W_TWd$aX$<ag`U[^$S`V$<ZS[d$aX$:gV[f+$K[e]$S`V$:eegdS`UW$<a__[ffWW+$

;[^^$FSUEWaV+$[e$O[UW,<ZS[d$Xad$fZW$Mdgef-

$ $B`Ua_W$S`V$WjbW`V[fgdW$dWbdWeW`fe$dWUZSdYWe$aX$eWdh[UWe$bdah[VWV$fa$S`V$Tk$MZW$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W$Aaeb[fS^e$GAL$Mdgef-$

$ $LYV$JfddV]]$?c`fa$

MZW$KgeeW^^$@dagb$dWbdWeW`fe$13$^WSV[`Y$ND$g`[hWde[f[We-$Bf$bdah[VWe$efdSfWYk+$ba^[Uk$VWhW^ab_W`f+$[`fW^^[YW`UW+$Ua__g`[USf[a`e$

S`V$SVhaUSUk$Xad$agd$_W_TWd$[`ef[fgf[a`e-$O[UW,<ZS`UW^^ad$S`V$IdWe[VW`f+$<Zd[e$=Sk+$[e$fZW$UZS[d$aX$MZW$KgeeW^^$@dagb-

$ $>jbW`V[fgdW$bS[V$fa$MZW$KgeeW^^$@dagb$dWbdWeW`fe$fZW$_W_TWdeZ[b$egTeUd[bf[a`$Xad$fZW$1/13q14$kWSd-
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/6$ J=D9L=<$H9JLQ$LJ9FK9;LAGFK$'T`_eZ_fVU(

$ $ $ $$ :R]R_TV$UfV$$

$ $ A_T`^V$Wc`^$ =iaV_UZefcV$e`$ 'e`(,Wc`^$

$ GeYVc$T`__VTeVU$V_eZeZVd$ cV]ReVU$aRcej$$ $cV]ReVU$aRcej$ $cV]ReVU$aRcej

$ hYZTY$eYV$Z_deZefeZ`_$V_XRXVd$ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ Z_$ecRUZ_X$RTeZgZeZVd$hZeY$ ol---$ ol---$ ol---$ ol---$ ol---$ ol---

$ GWiUSef^W$<[fk$<ag`U[^$ 036$ 040$ $0+432$$ $1+025$$ $(00)$ (260)$

$ GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$LfgVW`fen$N`[a`$ q$ q$$ $2+022$$ $2+717$$ q$$ q

$ $ $036$$ $040$$ $3+565$$ $4+853$$ $(00)$ (260)$

$ $FVhTRde]V$;Zej$;`f_TZ]$

GWiUSef^W$<[fk$<ag`U[^$[e$fZW$^aUS^$YahWd`_W`f$SgfZad[fk$Xad$fZW$U[fk$S`V$_Wfdaba^[fS`$TadagYZ$aX$GWiUSef^W$gba`$Mk`W$S`V$[e$S$

bSdf`Wd$[`$\a[`f$hW`fgdWe$i[fZ$fZW$[`ef[fgf[a`-$

$ $>jbW`V[fgdW$dW^SfWe$fa$YW`WdS^$WjbW`V[fgdW$Vgd[`Y$fZW$`ad_S^$UagdeW$aX$Tge[`Wee+$egUZ$Se$WhW`f$WjbW`V[fgdW-

$ $FVhTRde]V$M_ZgVcdZej$KefUV_edl$M_Z`_$

GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$LfgVW`fen$N`[a`$[e$fZW$dWbdWeW`fSf[hW$TaVk$Xad$efgVW`fe$Sf$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk-$

$ >jbW`V[fgdW$[e$^SdYW^k$fZW$S``gS^$egThW`f[a`$YdS`fe$Xad$fZW$kWSd$1/13q14$bdah[VWV$Tk$fZW$N`[hWde[fk$S`V$^[efWV$[`$GafW$8-

0-$ 9;;=KK$9F<$H9JLA;AH9LAGF$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$;GFKGDA<9L=<$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$$MFAN=JKALQ$

$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ o^$ o^$ o^$ o^

$ :UUWee$[`hWef_W`f$ $2-8$$ 3-0$ 2-8$$ $3-0$$

$ ?[`S`U[S^$egbbadf$ $8-8$$ 7-4$ 8-8$$ $7-4$$

$ =[eST[^[fk$egbbadf$$ $1-6$$ 2-2$ 1-6$$ $2-2$$

$ KWeWSdUZ$S`V$WhS^gSf[a`$ $/-0$$ /-3$ /-0$$ $/-3$

$ $ $05-5$$ 05-2$ 05-5$$ $05-2$

$ $Hgd$:UUWee$S`V$ISdf[U[bSf[a`$I^S`$Xad$1/13q14$[e$ShS[^ST^W$a`$agd$iWTe[fW$

Yeead7,,hhh+_T]+RT+f\,hY`*hV*RcV,decfTefcV,RTTVdd*R_U*aRceZTZaReZ`_,

0.$ =N=FLK$9>L=J$L@=$J=HGJLAF?$H=JAG<$$

$ $MZWdW$ZShW$TWW`$`a$WhW`fe$SXfWd$fZW$dWbadf[`Y$bWd[aV-
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0/$ MK$<=H9JLE=FL$G>$=<M;9LAGF$>AF9F;A9D$J=KHGFKA:ADALQ$KMHHD=E=FL9D$K;@=<MD=

$ $B`$eSf[eXSUf[a`$aX$[fe$aT^[YSf[a`e$fa$XSU[^[fSfW$efgVW`fen$SUUWee$fa$NL$XWVWdS^$#`S`U[S^$S[V+$GWiUSef^W$N`[hWde[fk$[e$dWcg[dWV+$$

Tk$fZW$NL$=WbSdf_W`f$aX$>VgUSf[a`+$fa$bdWeW`f$fZW$Xa^^ai[`Y$Lgbb^W_W`fS^$LUZWVg^W$[`$S$bdWeUd[TWV$Xad_Sf-$

$ MZW$S_ag`fe$bdWeW`fWV$i[fZ[`$fZW$eUZWVg^We$ZShW$TWW`9$

$ "$$bdWbSdWV$g`VWd$fZW$Z[efad[US^$Uaef$Ua`hW`f[a`+$egT\WUf$fa$fZW$dWhS^gSf[a`$aX$UWdfS[`$#jWV$SeeWfe$

$ $"!!!bdWbSdWV$ge[`Y$N`[fWV$D[`YVa_$YW`WdS^^k$SUUWbfWV$SUUag`f[`Y$bdSUf[UW+$[`$SUUadVS`UW$i[fZ$?[`S`U[S^$KWbadf[`Y$

LfS`VSdV$0/1$(?KL$0/1)$S`V$fZW$LfSfW_W`f$aX$KWUa__W`VWV$IdSUf[UW9$:UUag`f[`Y$Xad$?gdfZWd$S`V$A[YZWd$>VgUSf[a`$

(1/08$WV[f[a`)-$P[fZ$fZW$WjUWbf[a`$aX$?KL$0/1$SV\gef_W`fe$_SVW$[`$dWebWUf$aX$bW`e[a`e$S`V$Za^[VSk$SUUdgS^$iZ[UZ$SdW$

WjU^gVWV$Xad$fZWeW$bgdbaeWe$

$ "!!bdWeW`fWV$[`$bag`Ve$efWd^[`Y

$ $MZW$eUZWVg^We$eWf$agf$Zai$WSUZ$S_ag`f$V[eU^aeWV$ZSe$TWW`$WjfdSUfWV$Xda_$fZW$#`S`U[S^$efSfW_W`fe-$:e$eWf$agf$STahW+$

fZW$SUUag`f[`Y$ba^[U[We$geWV$[`$VWfWd_[`[`Y$fZW$S_ag`fe$V[eU^aeWV$SdW$`af$[`fW`VWV$fa$S`V$Va$`af$Ua_b^k$i[fZ$fZW$

dWcg[dW_W`fe$aX$SUUag`f[`Y$bd[`U[b^We$YW`WdS^^k$SUUWbfWV$[`$fZW$N`[fWV$LfSfWe$aX$:_Wd[US-

-

$ $FVe$Z_T`^V$cReZ`$8$;YR_XV$Z_$_Ve$RddVed$hZeY`fe$U`_`c$cVdecZTeZ`_d,L̀ eR]$cVgV_fVd$R_U$XRZ_d$$

hZeY`fe$U`_`c$cVdecZTeZ`_d$ $ $$$$ $ $

$ $ $ $ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1

$ $ $ $ $ F`eV$ o^$ o^

$ ;YR_XV$Z_$_Ve$RddVed$hZeY`fe$U`_`c$cVdecZTeZ`_d$ $ :$ 2-5$ (03-0)

$ MafS^$abWdSf[`Y$dWhW`gW$q$g`dWefd[UfWV$ $ ;$ 517-0$ 515-4

$ Plus gains:$ $ $ $

$ B`hWef_W`f$dWfgd`$Sbbdabd[SfWV$Xad$ebW`V[`Y$(HfZWd$[`hWef_W`f$[`Ua_W)$ 5$ q$ (8-/)

$ LS^W$aX$#jWV$SeeWfe$ $ $ q$ q

$ L̀ eR]$cVgV_fVd$R_U$XRZ_d$hZeY`fe$U`_`c$cVdecZTeZ`_d$ $ $ 517-0$ 506-4

$

$ HcZ^Rcj$cVdVcgV$cReZ`$8$=iaV_URS]V$_Ve$RddVed,L̀ eR]$ViaV_dVd$R_U$]`ddVd$hZeY`fe$U`_`c$cVdecZTeZ`_d

$ $ $ $ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1

$ $ $ $ $ F`eV$ o^$ o^

$ GWf$SeeWfe$i[fZagf$Va`ad$dWefd[Uf[a`$ $ $ 432-1$ 417-3

$ GWf$SeeWfe$i[fZ$Va`ad$dWefd[Uf[a`$ $ $ 8/-1$ 77-6

$ Less:

$ GWf$SeeWfe$i[fZ$Va`ad$dWefd[Uf[a`e9$>`Vai_W`fe$dWefd[UfWV$[`$bWdbWfg[fk$ $ (43-1)$ (41-/)

$ S``g[f[We+$fWd_$W`Vai_W`fe$S`V$^[XW$[`Ua_W$Xg`Ve$i[fZ$Va`ad$dWefd[Uf[a`e$ $ $

$ [`fS`Y[T^W$SeeWfe$ $ $ $

$ GWf$II>$ $ $ (501-8)$ (502-8)

$ EWSeW$q$d[YZf$aX$geW+$`Wf$ $ $ (02-0)$ (02-1)

$ K;I$bW`e[a`$^[ST[^[fk$ $ $ 17-/$ 27-5

$ Ea`Y,fWd_$VWTf$aTfS[`WV$Xad$^a`Y,fWd_$bgdbaeWe$ $ $ 74-/$ 8/-6

$ EWSeW$q$d[YZf$aX$geW$SeeWf$^[ST[^[fk$ $ $ 12-5$ 11-6

$ =iaV_URS]V$_Ve$RddVed$ $ $ 78-7$ 8/-/

$ MafS^$WjbW`eWe$i[fZagf$Va`ad$dWefd[Uf[a`e$q$fS]W`$V[dWUf^k$Xda_$

$ LfSfW_W`f$aX$:Uf[h[f[We$ $ $ 528-8$ 528-4

$ Less:

$ HfZWd$Ua_ba`W`fe$aX$`Wf$K;I$bWd[aV[U$bW`e[a`$Uaefe$ $ $ (17-/)$ (27-5)

$ HfZWd$(YS[`e).^aeeWe$ $ $ 6-6$ (0-3)

$ L̀ eR]$ViaV_dVd$R_U$]`ddVd$hZeY`fe$U`_`c$cVdecZTeZ`_d$ $ $ 508-5$ 488-4
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0/$ MK$<=H9JLE=FL$G>$=<M;9LAGF$>AF9F;A9D$J=KHGFKA:ADALQ$KMHHD=E=FL9D$K;@=<MD=$'T`_eZ_fVU(

$ =bfZej$cReZ`$8$E`UZ#VU$_Ve$RddVed,E`UZ#VU$RddVed

$ $ $ $ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1

$ $ $ $ $ F`eV$ o^$ o^

$ GWf$SeeWfe$i[fZagf$Va`ad$dWefd[Uf[a`$ $ <$ 432-1$ 417-3

$ GWf$SeeWfe$i[fZ$Va`ad$dWefd[Uf[a`$ $ $ 8/-1$ 77-6

$ Less:

$ B`fS`Y[T^W$SeeWfe$ $ $ q$ q

$ N`eWUgdWV$dW^SfWV$bSdfk$dWUW[hST^We$ $ $ q$ q

$ E`UZ#VU$_Ve$RddVed$ $ $ 522-3$ 506-0

$ MafS^$SeeWfe$ $ $ 880-4$ 867-6

$ Less:

$ B`fS`Y[T^W$SeeWfe$ $ $ q$ q

$ N`eWUgdWV$dW^SfWV$bSdfk$dWUW[hST^We$ $ $ q$$ q

$ E`UZ#VU$RddVed$ $ $ 880-4$ 867-6

$ F`eVd$e`$eYV$cReZ`d$ $ $ $

$ $ $ $ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1

$ 9$ ;YR_XV$Z_$_Ve$RddVed$hZeY`fe$U`_`c$cVdecZTeZ`_d$ $ F`eV$ o^$ o^

$ MafS^$Ua_bdWZW`e[hW$[`Ua_W$Xad$fZW$kWSd$ $ ISYW$5/$ 02-3$ 038-/$

$ FahW$a`$NLL$bW`e[a`$^[ST[^[fk$ $ 1/$ q$ (036-5)

$ B`UdWSeW$[`$SUUdgWV$Za^[VSk$bSk$$ $ $ /-4$ (/-6)

$ (@S[`e).^aeeWe$a`$dWefd[UfWV$W`Vai_W`fe$ $ 10$ (4-3)$ (0/-5)

$ KWefd[UfWV$W`Vai_W`f$WjbW`V[fgdW$ $ 10$ 2-8$ 3-/

$ KWefd[UfWV$Va`Sf[a`e$ $ 6$ (7-/)$ (6-5)

$ B`hWef_W`f$[`Ua_W$a`$dWefd[UfWV$W`Vai_W`fe$ $ 10$ (/-7)$ (/-6)

$ $ $ $ $ $ 2-5$ (03-1)

$ $ $ $ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1

$ :$ L̀ eR]$`aVcReZ_X$cVgV_fV$m$f_cVdecZTeVU$ $ $ o^$ o^

$ MafS^$[`Ua_W$ $ ISYW$5/$ 525-8$ 523-7

$ $ $ $ $

$ KWefd[UfWV$Va`Sf[a`e$ $ 6$ (7-/)$ (6-5)

$ B`hWef_W`f$[`Ua_W$a`$dWefd[UfWV$W`Vai_W`fe$ $ 10$ (/-7)$ (/-6)

$ $ $ $ $ $ 517-0$ 515-4

$ $ $ $ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1

$ ;$ FVe$RddVed$hZeY`fe$cVdecZTeZ`_d$ $ $ o^$ o^

$ GWf$SeeWfe$bWd$;S^S`UW$LZWWf$ $ ISYW$51$ 506-2$ 5/3-1

$ EWee$`Wf$SeeWfe$i[fZ$Va`ad$dWefd[Uf[a`e$ $ $

$ KWefd[UfWV$W`Vai_W`fe$ $ 10$ (76-3)$ (76-3)

$ KWefd[UfWV$dWeWdhWe$ $ 11$ q$ (0-2)

$ :VV$?KL$0/1$SV\gef_W`fe$ $ $

$ NLL$bW`e[a`$^[ST[^[fk$ $ 1/$ q$ q

$ Aa^[VSk$bSk$SUUdgS^$$ $ 07$ 02-2$ 01-8

$ $ $ $ $ $ 432-1$ 417-3
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

0/$ MK$<=H9JLE=FL$G>$=<M;9LAGF$>AF9F;A9D$J=KHGFKA:ADALQ$KMHHD=E=FL9D$K;@=<MD=$'T`_eZ_fVU(

$ <$ L̀ eR]$ViaV_dVd$hZeY`fe$U`_`c$cVdecZTeZ`_d$$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1

$ $ $ $ $ $ o^$ o^

$ MafS^$WjbW`V[fgdW$ $ ISYW$5/$ 528-6$ 382-2

$ Less:$

$ K;I$bW`e[a`$eWdh[UW$Uaef$SV\gef_W`f$ $ 7$ (0-5)$ 0-7

$ KWefd[UfWV$W`Vai_W`f$WjbW`V[fgdW$ $ 10$ 2-8$ (3-/)

$ MSjSf[a`$ $ 01$ (/-1)$ /-0

Less FRS 102 adjustments:$ $ $

$ FahW_W`f$a`$NLL$bW`e[a`$^[ST[^[fk$ $ 1/$ q$ 036-5

$ (B`UdWSeW).=WUdWSeW$[`$SUUdgWV$Za^[VSk$bSk$$ $ $ (/-4)$ /-6

$ $ $ $ $ $ 530-2$ 528-4

$ $ $ $ $

$ =$ GeYVc$'XRZ_d(,]`ddVd$ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1$

$ $ $ $ $ $ o^$ o^

$ LZSdW$aX$abWdSf[`Y$(egdb^ge).VW#U[f$$ $ 04$ (/-3)$ (/-6)

$ LZSdW$aX$VW#U[f$[`$SeeaU[SfW$ $ 05$ q$ q

$ Eaee$a`$[_bS[d_W`f$aX$`a`,UgddW`f$SeeWfe$ $ ISYW$5/$ (5-8)$ 1-3

$ (@S[`e).^aee$a`$g`dWefd[UfWV$W`Vai_W`fe$ $ 10$ (/-3)$ (/-7)

$ @S[`e$a`$dWhS^gSf[a`$aX$g`dWefd[UfWV$`a`,UgddW`f$SeeWfe$ $ 03$ q$ /-4

$ @S[`e$a`$V[ebaeS^$aX$fS`Y[T^W$SeeWfe$ $ $ q$ q

$ $ $ $ $ $ (6-6)$ 0-3

$ $ $ $ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1

$ >$ FVe$ac`aVcej)$a]R_e$R_U$VbfZa^V_e$ $ $ o^$ o^

$ IdW,[_b^W_W`fSf[a`$bdabWdfk+$b^S`f$S`V$Wcg[b_W`f$ $ $ 373-7$ 373-7

$ <a`efdgUf[a`$[`$bdaYdWee$ $ 02$ 31-/$ 80-0

$ Iaef,[_b^W_W`fSf[a`$bdabWdfk+$b^S`f$S`V$Wcg[b_W`f$ $ $ 75-0$ 27-/

$ i[fZagf$agfefS`V[`Y$VWTf

$ $ $ $ $ $ 501-8$ 502-8

$ $ $ $ $ $ /-/2$ /-/1

$ ?$ D`_X*eVc^$UVSe$W`c$]`_X*eVc^$afca`dVd$ $ $ o^$ o^

$ IdW,[_b^W_W`fSf[a`$^a`Y,fWd_$VWTf$ $ 08$ 71-4$ 77-/

$ Ea`Y,fWd_$VWTf$`af$Xad$fZW$bgdUZSeW$aX$bdabWdfk+$$ $ 08$ 1-4$ 1-6

$ b^S`f$S`V$Wcg[b_W`f

$ $ $ $ $ $ $$74-/$ 8/-6

$
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